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Corporate Information
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As at 31 December 2023

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Shi Xing (Chairman)

Mr. Liu Xue Heng (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Siu Kin Wai

Mr. Gu Shan Chao

Mr. Hu Shiang Chi (Resigned on 29 February 2024)
Mr. Wang Zheng Chun

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Gary Zhao (Resigned on 29 February 2024)

Mr. Robert Winslow Koepp (Resigned on 29 February 2024)
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Mr. Wu Yong Xin

Mr. Zhang Yun Zhou
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Mr. Lam Ka Tak
Mr. Liu Xue Heng

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Lam Ka Tak

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith (Chairman of the committee)
Mr. Gary Zhao (Resigned on 29 February 2024)

Mr. Wu Yong Xin

Mr. Zhang Yun Zhou (Appointed on 29 February 2024)
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Mr. Gary Zhao (Chairman of the committee)
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Mr. Zhu Shi Xing
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Mr. Gu Shan Chao (Chairman of the committee)
Mr. Liu Xue Heng

Mr. Zhu Shi Xing

Mr. Lam Ka Tak
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Corporate Information ® 2 7] & £
As at 31 December 2023

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young

LEGAL ADVISER
DLA Piper
Guanto Law Firm

STOCK CODE
2389

WEBSITE

www.bjhl.com.hk

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of Beijing

China Citic Bank International
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681, KY1-1111
Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Unit 2704, 27/F

909 Cheung Sha Wan Road
Cheung Sha Wan
Kowloon, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Suntera (Cayman) Limited

Suite 3204, Unit 2A, Block 3

Building D, P.O. Box 1586

Gardenia Court, Camana Bay

Grand Cayman, KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F

Two Chinachem Exchange Square

338 King's Road

North Point

Hong Kong

HE—T-=F+-A=+—H

BB ED
RGN ETPT

SRR
B2 AR AN B A
B R R =B

BRAD SR
2389

44t

www.bjhl.com.hk

FTEARRT
LFRIRTT
hERT(ER)
I RRERRT

EER L

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681, KY1-1111
Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

BIRER R T EEEME,
HAENEE

R EEI095

27182704

R BFETRE

Suntera (Cayman) Limited
Suite 3204, Unit 2A, Block 3
Building D, P.O. Box 1586
Gardenia Court, Camana Bay
Grand Cayman, KY1-1110
Cayman Islands

BEEROBFERDRE

BAEEELARAR

it A

23833858

IR 5 52

33183301-04% o
y

-
)

e

3k ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3




Corporate Structure

ag
:

=

B

BEEE
FEIEI

4 BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED it 2B (I2R) BRD A

R




Financial Summary

MBERE

For the year ended 31 December
BE+=-A=1+—HLEE

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—ET-hF ZE-TF - —F ZEBE--F ZZEB=H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FH&T FAT FA&T FAT FHExT
Revenue WA 200,755 149,887 203,776 166,484 140,346
Loss for the year JNRIEER AEML
attributable to the FEEE
owners of the parent (422,394) (185,324) (39,410) (97,696) (61,882)
At 31 December
R+=—A=+—8
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-hF ZE-TF T —F ZEBE--F ZZEB=H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FAT FAT FET FHExT
Assets and liabilities EEKAE
Total assets BEE 3,064,568 2,808,613 2,837,960 2,415,431 2,178,371
Total liabilities wafE (489,452) (317,573) (341,341) (271,771) (223,823)
2,575,116 2,491,040 2,496,619 2,143,660 1,954,548
Equity attributable to [SUNGIE 2PN
owners of the parent M 2,366,031 2,281,838 2,293,624 2,037,238 1,885,485
Non-controlling interests  FE{EAX#Ea 209,085 209,202 202,995 106,422 69,063
2,575,116 2,491,040 2,496,619 2,143,660 1,954,548
q
>
-
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Chairman’s Statement

e FEHRE

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the results for the year ended 31 December
2023 (the "Year") of Beijing Health (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Group”) to the shareholders (the
“Shareholders”) of the Company.

REVIEW OF RESULTS

In 2023, the Group's loss for the year decreased to HK$61,721,000
(2022: HK$98,805,000), and the consolidated revenue was approximately
HK$140,346,000, decreasing by 15.7% when compared to the
corresponding period in 2022. As at 31 December 2023, cash and cash
equivalents and other rapidly realisable investments (mainly referring to
financial products of banks) amounted to approximately HK$310 million
(31 December 2022: HK$420 million). In line with the Group’s long-
standing prudent practice, there were no interest-bearing liabilities in
2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2023, China’s economy was still under the impacts of the novel
coronavirus pandemic. Benefiting from its comprehensive pandemic
prevention and control measures, the overall economy in China began
to pick up steadily in the second half of the year. The Group has actively
responded to the shocks on the domestic economic operation arising
from the pandemic. With the support of various stakeholders, the Group
continues to staunchly adhere to the strategy of “pursuing progress
while achieving stability”, strives to focus on its principal businesses,
and strictly controls business risks in order to maintain stability in its
performance.

Geriatric Care Business

The Group focused on the development of inclusive geriatric care
institutions in the Yangtze River Delta region in accordance with its
formulated plan and successfully acquired two new projects, Changzhou
Luoxi Geriatric Care Center and Ancient Canal Cultural and Creative
Building, in the middle of the year, which are expected to add 550 beds.
By the end of 2023, the Group operated five geriatric care institutions
with a total of 1,075 beds, which included 749 medical beds provided by
three medical institutions. During the year, revenue related to geriatric
care business amounted to approximately HK$11,726,000, representing
an increase of 35.9% as compared to the corresponding period of
last year. The average occupancy rate of the Group's geriatric care
institutions increased to 79%. Each geriatric care institution has achieved
a break-even position and continued to provide positive cash flow for the
Group. The Group will accelerate the development of its geriatric care
business and expects to increase the number of beds by 1,000 in the
coming year.

BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1t 2B (ZR) BR AT
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Chairman’s Statement ® /& &

Health Industrial Park Business

In respect of the Health Industrial Park, since the development of various
projects requires a considerable amount of resources, after considering
the current operating environment and balancing the risks and benefits
of the projects this year, the Group focused its resources to drive the
government's approval of the projects. Therefore, enhanced the value
of the projects and attracted appropriate partners jointly develop
the project so as to achieve a win-win situation of mutual benefits. At
present, the Group plans to reposition the Hongmei Road Project in
Shanghai as rental apartments and has signed a letter of intent with
interested partners. Once the government approval process for the
project reposition to rental apartments is granted, it will bring substantial
profits to the Group.

Sales Business of Medical and Geriatric Products

During the year, the sales business of the Group's medical and geriatric
products was affected by the economic downturn in China, with the
operating revenue decreasing by 18.5% year-on-year to HK$128,620,000.

PROSPECT

The ageing situation in China is becoming increasingly serious and
shows a growing trend, which brings good market opportunities for the
Group's business development. The Group focuses on the development
of the geriatric care business through integration of medical and geriatric
care with the support of related industries such as geriatric care related
furniture and comprehensive hospitals, so as to actively deploy the
business configuration of the whole aging industrial chain and strive to
become a benchmark enterprise in the geriatric care industry in China.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow Directors, the
management and all staff, and to express my heartfelt gratitude to all
colleagues for their hard work and contribution to the development
of the Group in the past year. Meanwhile, | would also like to express
appreciation to all shareholders, our friends in the banking and
investment sectors, and our business partners for their full confidence in
and strong support of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Bt EIEERREED T

BUSINESS REVIEW

Geriatric Care Business

The growth rate of China’s aging population continues to rise and
is expected to exceed 300 million by 2025 and 420 million by 2035.
According to the Plan for the Development of China’s Old-age Programs
and the Elderly-care Service System during the 14th Five-year Plan
Period published by the State Council, the demand for elderly beds will
increase from 7.5 million at present to 9 million by 2025 and 15 million by
2035 during the 14th Five-year Plan period. In January 2024, the Chinese
government promulgated the Opinions of the General Office of the
State Council on Developing a Silver-Haired Economy to Improve the
Well-being of the Elderly to actively promote the development of the
geriatric care industry.

The Group actively expands inclusive and mid- to high-end institutions
for geriatric care and engages in the investment and operation of nursing
homes by adopting the model of “chain operation with integrated
medical and geriatric care”. It has maintained in-depth deployment in
Yangtze River Delta region, which has stronger economic power and
greater market demand, and gradually expanded to the entire PRC for
the provision of quality geriatric service. The Group has established the
“Beikang Medical and Geriatric Care* (JLEE% )" geriatric service brand
with strong competitive advantages in China and has broad experience
in investment and operation of medical and geriatric care. At present, the
Group operates a number of self-operated nursing institutions through
its own team of professional geriatric care and medical personnel. The
occupancy rate of beds for geriatric care is full throughout the year,
representing full recognition and acknowledgment by customers and
governments.

2023 was a very extraordinary year. At the beginning of the year, the
pandemic prevention and control policy was suddenly lifted, employees
and the elderly in various medical and nursing centers were frequently
infected. We organized and arranged employees at all levels to stick
to their posts, and management staff did their best to take care of the
elderly residents together with all employees at the front line. After
many months of continuous hard work as well as the strong support
of government departments, we finally overcame huge difficulties and
achieved a smooth ride through the pandemic.

As of the end of 2023, the Group operated and managed 5 geriatric care
institutions with a total of 1,075 beds, including 749 beds for medical care
services in 3 medical institutions. The average occupancy rate reached
over 75% and operating cash flow was stable. In 2023, the number of
beds in geriatric care institutions was 545 in Wuxi, 415 in Changzhou
and 115 in Wuhu. The annual revenue reached RMB41.81 million (2022:
RMB38.11 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 9.71%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis ® &2 [E 5 5m R 54T

During the year, the Group's geriatric care business achieved impressive
growth in both revenue and profit. The occupancy rate of existing
projects remained at a high level, with the occupancy rate of newly
opened projects, such as the Changzhou Xuejia Aixin Nursing Home,
surpassing 70%. The project has achieved positive cash flow, and the
sustainable development of the geriatric care projects has achieved
remarkable results. Changzhou Xuejia Aixin Nursing Home also won the
honorary title of Quality Nursing Home in Jiangsu Province.

The strength of the staff team is related to the positive growth of
the business. The Group pays attention to the personal growth of
employees, builds a good learning platform for employees and
encourages employees to continue to learn and improve themselves.
In 2023, its geriatric care institutions provided a total of 232 training
sessions to employees, including nursing training and safety training.

AEE  KENBZEBEREANMBEE R
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% FFMIEE NEMNERE DR R AEE TR
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Brief Description of Geriatric Care Project EFEZIEA B
Rental portfolio
occupancy rate as at the
Revenue” end of the Period
L ONS HR A=
Number
of beds 2023 2022 Changes 2023 2022
Project Name HE B Ky —T-=F —T__F BE —T-=F _—T__F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARETT
Wouxi Liangxi District B\ RERB RS
Guangyi Geriatric TR O KEIR
Care Center and B
Nursing Home 285 20,810 19,360 7.49% 83% 97%
Wouxi Liangxi District 5T AR R 7oA
Wuhe Geriatric Care 2P RER
Center and Nursing B
Home 160 5,930 6,510 (8.91%) 75% 92%
Changzhou Xinbei EMmHILRER
District Xuejia Aixin BFLBZEPLR
Geriatric Care Center IR
and Nursing Home 415 9,640 7,840 22.96% 75% 30%
Wauxi Liangxi District EIH TR R (E B
Huifeng Geriatric HBEHL
Care Center 100 1,220 1,020 19.61% 70% 92%
Wuhu Jinghu District mmENEeX
Golden Sun Geriatric BEEPL
Care Center 115 4,210 3,380 24.56% 100% 92%
Total Vot 1,075 41,810 38,110 9.71% 79% 69%
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHT
Presented in BREB-RARE
accordance with =T ERBIIR
Hong Kong
Generally Accepted
Accounting
Principles 11,726 8,630 35.9%

BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1t 2B (ZR) BR AT
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This revenue included the revenue from the private non-enterprise entities
(the “Private Non-enterprise Entities”) which were founded by the Group's
subsidiaries. As the Group's geriatric care business is mainly operated by
Private Non-enterprise Entities founded by the Group's subsidiaries, the
income presented under Hong Kong Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
represents the fees charged by the Group's subsidiaries to the Private Non-
enterprise Entities in accordance with the market principles.

Wuxi Liangxi District Guangyi Geriatric Care Center and Nursing Home
First established in July 1983, included in Projects Benefiting the
People in 2009 and the total investment made by the local government
for reconstruction amounted to over RMB40 million. The residential
institution has a built-up area of about 20 acres and total gross floor area
of about 10,000 sg.m.. The residential institution has double qualification
of geriatric care center and nursing home. It was honored with provincial
and municipal demonstrative geriatric care institutions and advanced
unit consecutively for many years.

Guangyi Geriatric Care Center and Nursing Home achieved operating
revenue of RMB20.81 million, representing a year-on-year increase of
7.49%, with an occupancy rate of 83%. During the year, the occupancy
rate of Guangyi Geriatric Care Center and Nursing Home declined
slightly due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic but began to
rise gradually since the end of the pandemic and the comprehensive
reopening of the institution. Value-added services such as integrated
medical and geriatric care have boosted operating results.

Wuxi Liangxi District Wuhe Geriatric Care Center and Nursing Home
Established in 2012, the project is situated at Block C, 20 Antou Qjao,
Wouxi. It has a gross floor area of approximately 3,500 sg.m. and has
double qualification of geriatric care center and nursing home. The
center has set up function rooms such as chess room, reading room,
studio, rehabilitation room.

Wuhe Geriatric Care Center and Nursing Home achieved operating
revenue of RMB5.93 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of
8.91%, with an occupancy rate of 75%. During the year, the occupancy
rate of Wuhe Geriatric Care Center and Nursing Home declined
slightly due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic but began to
rise gradually since the end of the pandemic and the comprehensive
reopening of the institution. Value-added services such as integrated
medical and geriatric care have boosted operating results.

Changzhou Xinbei District Xuejia Aixin Geriatric Care Center and Nursing
Home

The institution is situated at the centre of Xuejiazhen, Xinbei District,
Changzhou with a gross floor area of approximately 12,500 sg.m.. It has
a green area of approximately 6,200 sq.m.. There are two buildings,
the southern block has 3 floors and the northern block has 4 floors. The
residential institution has double qualification of geriatric care center and
nursing home.
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e
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Xuejia Aixin Geriatric Care Center and Nursing Home achieved operating
revenue of RMB9.64 million, representing a year-on-year increase of
22.96%, with an occupancy rate of 75%. During the year, the Xuejia
Aixin Geriatric Care Center and Nursing Home were less affected by
the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic due to the new opening of the
center with few residents, and the occupancy rate increased more rapidly
after the pandemic and has surpassed 70%, with an annual income of
nearly RMB10 million.

Wouxi Liangxi District Huifeng Geriatric Care Center

The institution was built in April 2005. The Group took over in 2017 and
carried out renovation and alteration. The gross floor area was 2,400
sq.m.. Green coverage reached 60%. The residential institution has set
up function rooms such as chess room, reading room, studio and gym
room. The outdoor garden provides sufficient space for the elders.

Huifeng Geriatric Care Center achieved operating revenue of RMB1.22
million, representing a year-on-year increase of 19.61%, with an
occupancy rate of 70%. Huifeng Geriatric Care Center started to enhance
the integration of medical and geriatric care during the year and applied
for the opening of a nursing home in accordance with the requirements,
and has obtained the medical qualification for a nursing home.

Wuhu Jinghu District Golden Sun Geriatric Care Center

The institution is situated at 3-1 land parcel, Century City, Jinghu District,
Wuhu city. It was converted from Jinghu District Old-age University with
a gross area of 3,300 sg.m.. The residential institution provides services
such as long term and short term foster care, day care and respite care.
Meanwhile, it provides home health care social services to the nearby
areas.

Wuhu Golden Sun Geriatric Care Center achieved operating revenue of
RMB4.21 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 24.56%, with an
occupancy rate of 100%. Wuhu Golden Sun Geriatric Care Center were
less affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and its performance was stable.
Wuhu Golden Sun Geriatric Care Center commenced internal renovation
work during the year in response to market demand and increased the
number of operating beds by approximately 5.

BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1t Z{2E (328R) 5R A R
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Newly-signed Projects

Changzhou Luoxi Geriatric Care Center

The Group and the People’s Government of Luoxi, Xinbei District,
Changzhou (the “Luoxi Government”) have entered into a cooperative
agreement on the investment and operation of nursing home in
Luoxi on 5 July 2023, and successfully obtained the operating right
of Changzhou Luoxi Geriatric Care Center. Changzhou Luoxi Nursing
Home is located at 997 Zhengtai Road, Luoxi, Xinbei District, Changzhou,
Jiangsu Province, the construction of which was financed by the Luoxi
Government in 2009. Divided into three buildings in the south, central
and north, the project covers a total area of 15,000 sg.m., with a
construction area of 4,800 sg.m., a landscaping area of approximately
5,000 sg.m., and a total of 152 integrated medical and geriatric care
beds.

The Group plans to carry out renovation to the project to create a smart
and garden-like nursing home that integrates medical and geriatric care,
so as to enhance the geriatric and medical and nursing services of the
nursing home in Luoxi.

Ancient Canal Cultural and Creative Building Health Care Project

On 10 November 2023, the Group signed a cooperation agreement
with Jiangsu Ancient Canal Hotel Management Company Limited* (L #k
&)W JE B 12 A R A A)) regarding the health care project of Ancient
Canal Cultural and Creative Building in Liangxi District, Wuxi City, and
successfully obtained the operating right of the Ancient Canal Cultural
and Creative Building Health Care Project. Ancient Canal Cultural and
Creative Building is located in the center of Liangxi District, Wuxi City,
the Wuxi People’s Hospital, with 17 floors and a construction area of
about 18,000 square meters. The project plans to set up about 400
integrated medical and geriatric care beds, mainly double standard
rooms, with beds for high-end users to meet differentiated needs. The
average monthly income per bed is expected to reach RMB7,000.

Health Industrial Park Business

The Group acquired land parcels of high-quality mainly in first-tier cities
such as Beijing and Shanghai based on the policies and directions on
land planning adjustments of central and local governments. Leveraging
on the transformation and upgrading, the Group introduced advanced
industrial construction philosophy to fully satisfy the needs of the
government and market users with the focus being placed on new
modes of business operations such as setting up corporate headquarters
and healthcare industrial parks.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group participated in six projects in total in
Beijing, Shanghai, Dali and Canada with a total site area of over 400,000
sg.m.. The implementation plans of each of the projects have gained
support from the local governments where the projects are located. As
the projects are positioned in line with the market demand, it is expected
that the projects will have considerable potential for appreciation in
commercial value.
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As of 31 December 2023, the progress of the Group's projects under HE-Z-_=F+-A=+—H0 TEBEZHZ%

development as follows: BEERNAT
Shareholding
Location  Project Name Land Area Percentage  Future Planning of the Project Project Status
wH HEEH TER REhELE BERRAE HEER
(m?)
(FAK)

Beijing Inland Port Project 87,607 82.24%  This project is located in the core urban  This year, we completed the transfer of

IR BAEE area of the Fourth Ring Road of Beijing,  green land to the Chaoyang District Garden
with a superior geographical location. The  Bureau and applied to the Chaoyang District
Group intends to bring in quality partners  Development and Reform Commission for
to upgrade and transform the project, and  the extension of key projects.
jointly operate the park after transformation, ~ AFEZRABEHBRERRERFNT
to create a new industrial park project with ~ ERAHBERESZRAERERTANT
the theme of smart warehousing, digital £ ¢
technology and new energy
RERMRLRUEGONE  MEMERE  Quality partners have been reserved for this
B ASERS ABEAESHRERRT  project, which include investors, operators
R wEkARAELER TERAME  andtenants.
SRR BB MR RIEONLE CATEERBEREAEN APRE:R
#EREE B BEHREES -

Shanghai  Sanlu Road Project 20,480 20%  This project has been completed as a new  Properties are recruiting tenants.

k! ZBRER industrial park and is recruiting tenants nERHEERT
TARERRAHNYEXET HIMIES

Shanghai  Hongmei Road Project 39,448 100%  This project is strategically located in the  The Group has signed a letter of intent with

i iE3IER core area of Shanghai. The Group intends to  quality partners to jointly develop landmark

14 BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED it 2B (I2R) BRD A

bring in quality partners to jointly develop
this project as a landmark for leasing projects
in the region
RBRMR DERLES  WENEED A&
SRR \EEAEAAREARE RER
EEERRNE

rental apartments, and plans to complete
the land conversion process in 2024.
AEECEREAFUNEEARERE
HAAEREAMEUNEERE R
“ECMERR I HELNTE -
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mdiiediaibe.

Shareholding
Location  Project Name Land Area Percentage Future Planning of the Project Project Status
B HAER TEE R BRERRRE HRER
(m?)
(FAK)
Dali Haidong New District 215,181 60%  Greater health industrial park complex  As the Yunnan provincial government
N Project including lands for residential, commercial ~ suspended its approval process for the
ARHMEEE and medical purposes development and construction in Haidong
AEREXEGAE  RFELE BERBEE  New District, this project is temporarily
R withheld.
MRERERNERELERNERER
R AERERERELRE -
The Group is discussing with the local
government on the follow-up arrangements.
ARE RSO EERHE -
Canada Royal Tower 10,588 41.47%  Urban health apartments We are preparing the application of
Mex BHRRLE replanning the nature of project land
development, and seeking appropriate
partners.
CHERBAIHERMESHRETE
BBRAEZAER «
Canada Ovation 2425 N/AD Artistic health apartments The pre-sale of this project began in April
JIEYN TERY BRRAS 2019, and approximately 80% of the saleable

area were sold currently. Construction of the
project has been completed and the units
are expected to be delivered to buyers at
the beginning of 2024.
AERE-ET-NEMAREE  BAIEE
AT EATEL80% - FEE CRETHER
B BARENEIRAELTER -

Note™:  This project is engaged in the form of debt investment.

o

AIEB AEREE T A28 -

L

3k ANNUAL REPORT 2023

15




Bhdliben. Vanagement Discussion and Analysis ® & T2 /8 5 5w B2 0 1T

16

Sale of Medical and Geriatric Products

Beijing Vissam Prosperity Furniture Limited* (L R EREEZ R E B R
A 7] ) ("Vissam Prosperity”), a company under the Group engaging in
medical and geriatric product business, has been deeply engaged in
professional furniture for the geriatric care, medical, education and other
industries for many years. On the basis of meeting the requirements of
professional, green and environmental protection, it takes “people’s
health needs” as the core of its products and continues to maintain the

industry leader.

At the beginning of 2023, China fully lifted the pandemic prevention
and control measures, and the market experienced a brief consumption
recovery. However, China’s economy has weakened since the second half
of the year and market demand has begun to reduce while competitive
pressure has been increasing. With its leading position in the industry,
Vissam Prosperity has successfully won many landmark projects. Its
clients include Beijing Technology and Business University, Shanghai
Jiao Tong University, Renmin University, Sichuan University Pittsburgh
College, Zhongshan Hospital of Fudan University, Dajia Insurance,
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Tianjin Branch and other well-
known domestic geriatric care, medical, education institutions.

Meanwhile, Vissam Prosperity successfully completed the annual
inspection of China Environmental Labeling Product Certification, China
Environmental Protection Certification, Safety Product Certification and
Commodity After-sales Service Certification. At the same time, it was
awarded important certificates in the industry such as “2023 Top 10
Brands of Office Furniture”, “2023 Top 10 Brands of Furniture for the
Elderly”, "2023 Top 10 Leading Brands of School Furniture”, and "2023
Top 10 Brands of Hospital Furniture”, etc., which were awarded by China
Procurement and Bidding Network.

Finally, we strive to create and protect health, and actively participate in
social welfare activities. During the year, Vissam Prosperity participated in
a public welfare activity organized by the Shanghai Juequn Culture and
Education Foundation, and donated furniture to the Juequn Children’s
Care Room at the Children’s Hospital of Fudan University.

FUTURE PROSPECT

Over the years, the Group has actively deployed its future development
direction in the greater healthcare industry. After years of penetration
in the geriatric care business, health industrial park and medical and
nursing furniture industry, the Group has gradually established a greater
healthcare industry chain.
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In respect of the geriatric care industry, the Group will focus on building
the “Beikang Medical and Geriatric Care” brand and continue to
leverage on the strengths of the operation model of “chain operation
with integrated medical and geriatric care”, and continue to reinforce
and strengthen its core competitiveness in chain management,
standardization, specialization and integration of medical and geriatric
care, as well as continue its penetration into the Yangtze River Delta
region, which is characterized by its robust economy and strong
consumer demand. At the same time, we will explore plans to expand
our business to the Greater Bay Area and accelerate the expansion
of elderly beds. Following the acquisition of 552 beds by signing two
new projects in 2023, the Group is now actively working with the local
government to secure resources for geriatric care beds, aiming to
increase the number of beds by 500 to 1,000 in the next year.

In respect of health industrial parks, China has stepped up its supervision
of the real estate industry and the pressure of high debts on the domestic
real estate industry has not been alleviated. In the face of uncertainties
in the macro environment, the Group will not increase its investment
in health parks in China for the time being. It is expected that in the
next year, the Group will actively identify suitable partners to dispose
of certain projects in a timely manner. As for the Group's investment
projects in Canada, despite the interest rate hike environment in recent
years, the Ovation project was still able to be successfully completed
in 2023 and the units were delivered to buyers in batches in early 2024.
The hard-won results were all due to the professionalism, efforts and
experience of the staff team, laying a solid foundation for the Group to
expand overseas business. In the future, the Group will expand its real
estate business in Canada and seek projects with quick turnaround.

In respect of the business of medical and geriatric products, we will
continue to focus on the market development and maintenance of
medical and geriatric products, complemented by educational and
office furniture, strengthen the online promotion of our brands, and
further improve our existing stock projects as well as open up new
business orders. Meanwhile, the Group is actively identifying suitable
merger and acquisition target companies to increase the investment and
development of the business, in the hope of creating greater benefits for
shareholders.

In respect of the Group's overall strategy, we will exercise stringent cost
control and optimize cost efficiency by putting resources to good use.
We will manage our own capital prudently and enhance our financial
position by increasing free cash income through appropriate investments
in wealth management products, equity and bonds. At the same time,
we will also seek investment opportunities in the sports industry from
time to time to add new growth drivers to our investment target of the
“greater healthcare industry”.
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MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
The Group had no additional material investment for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The Group is actively identifying and exploring suitable investments with
potential and synergy effect to its existing businesses. The Group will
only consider any potential investments which are in the interests of the
Company and the shareholders as a whole. No agreement for material
investment has been entered into as at the date of this report.

MAJOR ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
The Group did not have any major acquisitions and disposals for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Operating revenue

As of 31 December 2023, the revenue of the Group was approximately
HK$140,346,000 (2022: HK$166,484,000), representing a decrease of
15.7% as compared to 2022, mainly due to the decrease in revenue from
the sales of medical and geriatric products by 18.5% to HK$128,620,000.
The major source markets for the medical and geriatric products segment
are mostly from corporate and institutional tender, with a lead time of
approximately half a year to one year from the winning of the tender to
the delivery of the products. As China was still under semi-closure in the
second half of 2022 under the impact of COVID-19 pandemic, the order
backlog of the Group has relatively decreased, resulting in a decrease in
revenue carried-forward during the year.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales was approximately HK$101,872,000, representing a year-on-
year decrease of 15.1%. Cost of sales mainly includes cost of purchases,
freight, installation fees and wage expenses.

Gross profit margin

During the year, the overall gross profit margin of the Group was 27.4%,
roughly the same as compared to 27.9% for the corresponding period
last year.
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Other income and gains/(losses), net

As of 31 December 2023, other income and gains/(losses), net was
approximately HK$36,084,000, representing a decrease of 2.1% as
compared to HK$36,864,000 for the corresponding period last year.
The decrease in other income and gains/(losses), net was mainly due to
the fact that debt investments, equity investments and financial assets
investments related investment income for the current year decreased
from HK$11,847,000 for the last year to HK$6,936,000 for the current year.
In addition, due to the uncertain macro-environment faced by the real
estate industry in China, the fair value losses on investment properties
further increased to HK$12,153,000 for the current year as compared to
HK$4,879,000 for the corresponding period last year.

The above decreases were diluted by the reversal of impairment in
associates of HK$1,211,000 during the year and the gain on exchange
differences of HK$9,237,000 during the year. The gain on exchange
differences was mainly due to the appreciation of CAD against HK$ by
approximately 3% in 2023, as there was no such gain in 2022.

Excluding the above gains/(losses), other income and gains/(losses), net
mainly included bank interest and other interest income of HK$15,607,000
(2022: HK$14,432,000) and rental income of HK$13,500,000 (2022:
HK$12,439,000).

Selling and distribution expenses

As of 31 December 2023, the selling and distribution expenses of the
Group were approximately HK$13,904,000 (2022: HK$14,555,000),
representing 9.9% of the total sales amount (2022: 8.7%).

The selling and distribution expenses mainly comprise of remuneration
of HK$5,250,000 (2022: HK$5,592,000), travelling expenses of HK$852,000
(2022: HK$628,000), promotion fee of HK$2,752,000 (2022: HK$2,237,000),
office costs of approximately HK$3,618,000 (2022: HK$3,231,000) and
license fees of HK$790,000 (2022: HK$2,740,000).

Administrative expenses

As of 31 December 2023, the administrative expenses were
HK$89,476,000, representing a decrease of 8.1% in expenses as
compared to HK$97,402,000 in 2022.

The administrative expenses mainly included staff costs (including
directors’ remuneration) of HK$36,920,000 (2022: HK$41,512,000),
professional advisory fees of HK$8,702,000 (2022: HK$8,211,000), office
expenses of HK$6,124,000 (2022: HK$3,864,000), depreciation and
amortization costs of HK$22,450,000 (2022: HK$25,073,000), business
entertainment expenses of HK$3,809,000 (2022: HK$3,132,000), travelling
expenses of HK$3,943,000 (2022: HK$2,702,000) and audit expenses of
HK$1,640,000 (2022: HK$2,179,000).
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The decrease in administrative expenses was mainly due to the
implementation of the Group's tightening expense policy which resulted
in an effective reduction of various administrative expenses.

Impairment losses of financial assets, net

Impairment losses of financial assets, net, were mainly attributable
to the provision for impairment of the Group’s trade receivables and
other receivables. During the year, some trade receivables and other
receivables were not repaid on time due to the continued impact of the
pandemic. Taking into account the repayment ability of the defaulters,
the Group has made a provision for impairment of the affected balances.

Other expenses and losses

Other expenses and losses were mainly attributable to the one-
off expenses without cash outflow. As of 31 December 2023, the
other expenses and losses of the Group was HK$1,397,000 (2022:
HK$19,066,000).

Finance cost

As of 31 December 2023, the total finance cost of the Group was
approximately HK$376,000 (2022: HK$1,442,000), representing a decrease
of 73.9% as compared to the corresponding period last year, which was
mainly due to a decrease in the weighted average borrowing balance of
the Group for the year.

Share of losses of joint ventures

Share of losses of joint ventures were mainly the share of 47.47% of
loss attributable to shareholders of 1121695 B.C. Ltd. of approximately
HK$5,728,000 (2022: HK$18,308,000).

Share of losses of associates

Share of losses of associates mainly included the share of 25.07% of loss
attributable to shareholders of Beijing Sports and Entertainment Industry
Group Limited of approximately HK$13,796,000 (2022: HK$16,652,000)
and the share of 20% of loss attributable to shareholders of Shanghai
Junbo Textiles Limited* of approximately HK$2,025,000 (2022:
HK$6,347,000).

Net assets

As at 31 December 2023, the net assets of the Group was approximately
HK$1,954,548,000, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$189,112,000 from approximately HK$2,143,660,000 as at 31
December 2022. Excluding the generation of loss of approximately
HK$61,721,000 during the year, the net assets decreased by
HK$127,391,000 as compared to 31 December 2022, which was mainly
due to the depreciated exchange rate of RMB against Hong Kong dollar
of approximately 1.4% during 2023, the Group recognized exchange
losses of HK$21,057,000 in other comprehensive income and losses, fair
value loss of equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income of HK$70,935,000 and a capital reduction of
HK$198,957,000 in a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group in 2023
leading to a decrease in non-controlling interests of HK$35,342,000.
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Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2023, cash and cash equivalents held by the Group
was approximately HK$153,324,000 (31 December 2022: HK$193,726,000),
and balance of wealth management products from banks was
approximately HK$160,047,000 (31 December 2022: HK$220,172,000).
Cash and cash equivalents decreased by approximately HK$40,402,000,
mainly due to a capital reduction of HK$198,957,000 in a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group in 2023 leading to a capital reduction
payment of HK$35,342,000 to minority shareholders of the company.

As at 31 December 2023, interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group
amounted to HK$nil (31 December 2022: HK$25,747,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the net current assets of the Group amounted
to HK$544,992,000 and the current ratio was 4.7 times. The Group
maintained sufficient bank credit facilities to meet working capital needs
and had sufficient cash resources to finance its capital expenditure in the
foreseeable future.

The Group agreed that meticulous management on cash flow is the key
to success. To ensure that there is sufficient capital to satisfy the need
of the Group's rapid growth, the Group remains good relationships with
each of the banks from time to time, so that the Group gains easy access
to application for loans.

Capital structure

The Group took full advantage of the financing platform as a listed
company by striving for a constant optimisation of the capital and
financing structure, so as to obtain sufficient funds to finance the future
projects of health and geriatric care. During the period, the Group's
operations were mainly financed by internal resources and bank loans.

As at 31 December 2023, the number of issued share of the Company
was 6,058,772,027 shares. Equity attributable to shareholders of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$1,885,485,000 (31 December
2022: approximately HK$2,037,238,000) and net assets per share
attributable to shareholders amounted to approximately HK$0.311.

Capital expenditure

As of 31 December 2023, the Group's capital expenditure was
approximately HK$1,372,000 (2022: HK$16,880,000), which was mainly
due to the purchase of properties, plants and equipment.
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Pledge of assets
As at 31 December 2023, the following assets were pledged to secure
the banking facilities granted to the Group:

EEEA
RZZE-_=ZF+_A=+—H BEEUTE
B EAASEERFITREZER

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

—E-=HF - F

+ZHA=+—H +ZA=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT FAT

Property, plant and equipment Y - BB R = 14,176
Investment properties LAY = 21,269
- 35,445

Contingent liabilities

The Group has contingent liabilities up to RMB28,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$30,898,000) as a guarantor for the bank facility granted
to an associate of the Company (31 December 2022: RMB28,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$31,344,000)).

As at 31 December 2023, the associate has utilized bank loans
of approximately RMB25,003,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$27,591,000) which is guaranteed by the Group (31 December
2022: approximately RMB26,422,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$29,578,000)).

Foreign exchange risk

Majority of the subsidiaries of the Group operate in the PRC with most
of the transactions denominated and settled in RMB. Fluctuations of
RMB exchange rates would impact the Group's net asset value in the
preparation of the Group's consolidated accounts. If RMB appreciates/
depreciates against HK$, the Group would record a(n) increase/decrease
in the Group's net asset value. Also, the Group has exposure to foreign
exchange risks in relation to other receivables and investments in a joint
venture denominated in CAD. As of 31 December 2023, in respect of the
Group's exposure to potential foreign exchange risks arising from the
currency exchange rate fluctuations, it did not make any arrangement
or use any financial instruments to hedge against potential foreign
exchange risks. However, the management will continue to monitor
foreign exchange risks and adopt hedging measures where necessary.
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Relationships with employees, suppliers and customers

The Group endeavours to maintain sustainable development in the long
term, continuously create value for its employees and customers, and
foster good relationships with its suppliers. The Group understands that
employees are its valuable assets, and the realisation and enhancement
of employees’ values will facilitate the achievement of the Group's overall
goals. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group provided
generous social security benefits to its employees to motivate their
proactivity at work while heightening their sense of belonging. The Group
also understands the importance of maintaining good relationships with
its suppliers and customers to the overall development of the Group.
The Group places emphasis on supplier selection and encourages fair
and open competition to foster long-term relationships with quality
suppliers on the basis of mutual trust. To maintain the competitiveness
of its brand and products, the Group abides by the principles of honesty
and trustworthiness and commits itself to consistently providing quality
products to establish a reliable service environment for its customers. For
the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no significant and material
dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or customers.

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately 170 (2022: 166)
employees (73 males and 97 females (2022: 77 males and 89 females)).
Total staff costs (excluding Directors’ remuneration) as of 31 December
2023 amounted to approximately HK$39,994,000 (2022: HK$43,382,000).
The Group made great efforts to enhance the quality of staff. During
the year under review, the Group organised internal training courses for
staff at all levels. Topics of the training courses included accounting and
finance, risk management and PRC's tax laws.

The Group's overall remuneration system is adhered to the principle of
market orientation, offering competitive salary to retain and attract high
calibre persons. The salaries of the Group’s senior management are
determined with reference to market level as well as the Group's overall
operating results.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group strives to offer investors access to updated and accurate
information on the Group's latest major development. The Group
believes that effective communication is built on a twoway basis,
and therefore welcomes feedbacks from investors to the Group. To
facilitate an easy access to information on the Company'’s latest major
development, a number of measures have been taken to ensure all
necessary information and appropriate updates are made available
to investors in a timely manner through the Company’s website at
www.bjhl.com.hk, under the column of the “Investor Relations”.

*  For identification purpose only
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Corporate Governance Report
CEEARE

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group's Annual Report
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The manner in which the principles and code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code") contained in Appendix C1 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) are
applied and implemented is explained below.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group acknowledges the vital importance of good corporate
governance to the Group's success and sustainability. We are committed
to achieving a high standard of corporate governance as an essential
component of quality and have introduced corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of our business.

The Company has applied most of the principles set out in the CG Code.

The Company has adopted different measures to ensure a high standard
of corporate governance and has put in place corporate governance
practices that are considered to be relevant to the Group, to meet the
CG Code.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has
complied with the code provisions as set out in the CG Code.

The Company has reviewed its corporate governance practices and
has taken appropriate actions to comply with the CG Code which are
explained in the relevant paragraphs of the Report.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company'’s mission is to restore health, wishing all stakeholders to
live a healthy life and providing multi-scenario healthy living packages.
Its vision is to become a leader in the geriatric care and health industry
in China as well as the preferred partner for customers and other
stakeholders. To achieve this long-term vision, the Company focuses
its attention on certain strategic areas, including investing in beds of
geriatric care institutions and nurturing professional talents.

The Board of the Company has formulated the following corporate
culture and values to guide the conduct and behavior of employees and
business activities, and to ensure that these values are integrated into
the Company’s vision, mission, policies and business strategies.
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"“Integrity, Innovation, Focus, Win-win"

Keep integrity to promote the virtues of Beijing Health

Dare to innovate to integrate the brand of Beijing Health

Focus on operation to improve the quality of Beijing Health

Collaborate to achieve win-win situation to share the benefits of Beijing
Health

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has regularly
reviewed the Company'’s strategic focus. The Company ensures that its
employees are fully aware of the Company’s vision, corporate culture
and strategy through various means, including holding company-wide
meetings, regular management meetings, individual departmental
meetings and internal communication through the intranet. Our ability to
achieve our vision depends on the effectiveness of our people, and we
strive to ensure that we recruit the people who will best fit into and build
our corporate culture.

In addition, the Company has formulated an employee handbook that
all employees must follow, the purpose of which is to provide employees
with the necessary cultural guidance. All of these initiatives are important
to the adoption of the Company's strategy and the implementation of
the Company'’s values and culture.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING
RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the Company was
informed that:

Mr. Wu Yong Xin, an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company, was retired from Siemens Limited and starts his retirement
since 30 September 2023.

Mr. Siu Kin Wai, an Executive Director of the Company, was resigned as
an independent non-executive director of Golden Century International
Holdings Group Limited (HKEX Stock Code: 91) with effect from 18
March 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises 8 members, consisting of 5 Executive
Directors and 3 Independent Non-executive Directors.

The list of all Directors (by category) is set out under “Corporate
Information” on page 2 and all corporate communications issued by
the Company from time to time pursuant to the Listing Rules. The
Independent Non-executive Directors are expressly identified in all
corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, there have no changes in the
composition of the Board of the Company. Save as Mr. Hu Shiang Chi
resigned as an Executive Director of the Company and both Mr. Robert
Winslow Koepp and Mr. Gary Zhao resigned as the Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 29 February 2024, the Board
currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Shi Xing (Chairman)

Mr. Liu Xue Heng (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Siu Kin Wai

Mr. Gu Shan Chao

Mr. Hu Shiang Chi (Resigned on 29 February 2024)
Mr. Wang Zheng Chun

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Gary Zhao (Resigned on 29 February 2024)

Mr. Robert Winslow Koepp (Resigned on 29 February 2024)
Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith

Mr. Wu Yong Xin

Mr. Zhang Yun Zhou

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has complied
with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules regarding the
appointment of at least three independent non- executive directors
(representing at least one-third of the board) including at least one
independent non-executive director with appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company,
including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant
operational matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the company secretary, with a view to
ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations
are followed. Each Director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company'’s
expenses, upon making request to the Board.

Currently, the Chairman of the Board is Mr. Zhu Shi Xing and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Group is Mr. Liu Xue Heng. The roles of
Chairman on the one hand and the Joint Chief Executive Officers on
the other hand are segregated and their respective responsibilities are
clearly defined and set out in writing.
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The Chairman’s principal role is to provide leadership for the Board on
corporate and strategic planning, ensure proper proceedings of the
Board and encourage all Directors to have active contributions to the
Board's affairs.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and the
senior management. The delegated functions and responsibilities are
periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior
to any significant transactions entered into by the aforesaid officers.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Every Independent Non-executive Director is appointed for a specific
term of 3 years under his letter of appointment. All Directors including
Independent Non-executive Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation and eligible for re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company at least once every three years in accordance with the Articles
of Association of the Company. The Company has issued formal letter
of appointments to its Independent Non-executive Directors setting out
key terms of their appointments.

According to code provision B.2.3 of the CG Code, if an independent
non-executive director has served more than nine years, such director’s
further appointment should be subject to a separate resolution to
be approved by the Shareholders. Two Independent Non-Executive
Directors (being Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith and Mr. We Yong Xin) have
been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Directors for more
than 9 years since 2023, while Mr. Zhang Yun Zhou has been appointed
as Independent Non-Executive Director for 8 years. The Company has
received annual confirmations of independence from each of the existing
Independent Non-Executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. Taking into consideration of three independent
non-executive directors’ independent scope of work in the past years,
the Board considers all of them to be independent under the Listing
Rules despite the fact that two of them have served the Company for
more than 9 years. The three independent non-executive directors
have confirmed that they will continue to devote sufficient time for the
discharge of their functions and responsibilities as Independent Non-
Executive Directors. With their background, the three independent non-
executive directors are fully aware of the responsibilities and expected
amount of time dedicated to the Company. Based on the foregoing,
the Board believes that their positions outside the Company will not
affect them in maintaining their current roles in, and their functions and
responsibilities for the Company. The Board also believes that their
continued tenure will bring considerable stability to the Board and the
Board has benefited greatly from the presence of all of them who have
over time gained valuable insight of the Group.
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a director of the Company
and of the conduct, business activities and development of the
Company.

Every newly appointed Director receives formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory
and regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities. Continuing briefing and professional
development for Directors will be arranged where necessary.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors participated the
trainings as follows:

ESNREEXERE
EEBETREARRAREZTZEERARRRKSE
TE - R RBERIZME

BEHRANEERNENEREG TN - 2@
RESHEROABEN - AERBRLZBSBEBRARD
BIMEBNEE  YAFTORBE LRI LA
EEMER NEFZRERES -

EEREEGEWAE RETHEUREBRA
ZRIAR  DHRSEIRE - DHRE
AR AEERIHTABRRELYR -

EERS2EEEREEERR  BRYFHRS
ZHBL R - NRREENABEEE ALY
BHRRAOEATHESSHRLER -

REBEE-ZT-_=F+_A=+—ALFE E=F
ST :

Topic
Directors Bx HAE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Zhu Shi Xing ML B4 A B, CD
Mr. Liu Xue Heng GEIEP S A B,C D
Mr. Siu Kin Wai AElELE A B CD
Mr. Gu Shan Chao FAERBELE A, B,C D
Mr. Hu Shiang Chi EABE A A, B CD
Mr. Wang Zheng Chun TEHELE A B,C, D
Independent Non-executive Directors BUINTESE
Mr. Gary Zhao I 5% A A, B,C D
Mr. Robert Winslow Koepp FR-2%E4E A B CD
Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith AISRE A B CD
Mr. Wu Yong Xin RAFRFEE A, B CD
Mr. Zhang Yun Zhou SRIEE ST A A, B CD
A Anti-corruption A REF
B: Regulatory Announcements issued by HKEX B: EEXRIMABEMEE®M

C: Listing Rules

D: Corporate culture of the Company
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has reviewed and
monitored the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management. The Board has also reviewed and
ensured compliance of the relevant legal and regulatory requirements,
the code of conducts, the CG Code and the disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report.

Pursuant to the requirements of the code provisions set out in the CG
Code, all Directors are required to provide to the Company with records
of the training they received to ensure that their contributions to the
Board remains informed and relevant.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company has applied the Model Code to the relevant employees
who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the
Model Code by the relevant employees was noted by the Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Investment and Risk Management Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of
the Company are established with defined written terms of reference.
The terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on the
Company's website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available
to shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
Independent Non-executive Directors (except for the Investment and
Risk Management Committee) and the current list of the chairman
and members of each Board committee is set out under “Corporate
Information” on page 2.

Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company'’s
expense.

BE-_Z_=F+_A=+—HILEE g
ERIMEBEEASREEEZHIINEESR
E¥URE - BEQMRNABRETEEEIERE
BERTE 17ATH  PEBTATIRRALEE
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RIBFDEEIETRIFE N TRESGRE - FTEE
ZARAARAERE SRR E 2 B8k - A
REFDHEES LB RBREOER -

EITRFR S WEESTA
AR R R RN LR B SRCIFTI LR AT A
SRTEH R SHEEFR([EFA]) -

RAZBEFFLRETENR  SEFOER
BERBE_T_=F+_A=t—HLFE—
HETIRESTA

ARBEHRAIEEERANR B ERRARESHERE
B2 B REERABRET - RQB LM
FAfE B W B TIRET A2 1B -

EEZET

EFgCRUNERZES  IEZZEE - HMM
ZEg REZEEURKRENEABERZE
€ UERARRETHREZEH - ARRME
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three members, namely, Mr.
Tse Man Kit, Keith (Chairman of the Committee), Mr. Zhang Yun Zhou
and Mr. Wu Yong Xin. All of them are Independent Non-executive
Directors (including one Independent Non-executive Director with the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise). None of the members of the Audit Committee is
a former partner of the Company'’s existing external auditors.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

o To review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the internal auditor or
external auditors before submission to the Board

o To review the relationship with the external auditors by reference
to the work performed by the auditors, their fees and terms of
engagement, and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditors

o To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year to review
the financial results and reports, financial reporting and compliance
procedures, the report of the internal auditor on the Company'’s internal
control and risk management systems and processes, the reappointment
of the external auditors and arrangements for employees to raise
concerns about possible improprieties.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2023
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors three times without
the presence of the Management.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three members,
namely, Mr. Zhang Yun Zhou (Chairman of the Committee), Mr. Tse
Man Kit, Keith and Mr. Wu Yong Xin. All of them are Independent Non-
executive Directors.
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The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations on and approving the remuneration policy and
structure and remuneration packages of the Directors and the senior
management. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for
establishing transparent procedures for developing such remuneration
policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his associates
will participate in deciding his own remuneration, which remuneration
will be determined by reference to the performance of the individual and
the Company as well as market practice and conditions.

The Company adopted Code Provision E.1.2(c)(i) out of the two
models suggested by the CG Code. As a result, the Board as a whole
is responsible for determining the remuneration of Non-executive
Directors whereas the Remuneration Committee has the authority to
approve the remuneration of the individual Executive Directors and
senior management of the Company and its subsidiaries as well as share
options related matters.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee
met once to review the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company, and the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management and other related matters.

The details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management
of the Company are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated audited
financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises four members, namely,
Mr. Wu Yong Xin (Chairman of the Committee), Mr. Zhu Shi Xing, Mr.
Tse Man Kit, Keith and Mr. Zhang Yun Zhou. The majority of them are
Independent Non-executive Directors.

Principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the
Board composition, identifying suitable candidates for appointment
as Directors and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects set out in the Board Diversity Policy,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and ethnicity, in
addition to educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Nomination Committee would
discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on
the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee
met once to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Zhu
Shi Xing, Mr. Wang Zheng Chun and Mr. Zhang Yun Zhou shall retire
by rotation at the Annual General Meeting. All of the above retiring
Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
Annual General Meeting.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of the
Directors standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

The Company's circular dated 22 April 2024 contains detailed information
of the Directors standing for re-election.

Board Diversity Policy
The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.

The Company recognizes the importance of having a diverse team of
Board members, which is an essential element in maintaining an effective
Board and enhancing corporate governance standard. The Nomination
Committee of the Company is delegated the authority (amongst other
things) to review and assess the diversity of the Board, with the objective
of maintaining an appropriate mix and balance of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives on the Board which are
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to skills, knowledge, industry and
professional experience, cultural and educational background, gender,
age and length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
The Nomination Committee shall discuss and where necessary, agree on
the measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and make
recommendation to the Board. The Board may adopt and/or amend
from time to time (as applicable) such diversity perspectives and/or
measurable objectives that are appropriate to the Company’s business
and Board succession planning, as applicable.
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Director Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy”) setting out the procedures and criteria to be
used by the Company in relation to the selection, appointment and
re-appointment of Directors to ensure that the Board maintains an
appropriate mix and balance of skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity of perspectives to the requirements of the Company'’s business.

The Nomination Committee shall make reference to this Director
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy to nominate
suitably qualified candidates to the Board for it to consider and make
recommendations to shareholders for election as Directors at general
meetings or appoint as Directors to fill casual vacancies or as an addition
to the Board.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and the Director Nomination
Policy and considered that they remain effective and appropriate for
the Company. As the Board currently comprises 8 male members, the
Board considers the need to nominate at least 1 female member into
the Board, so as to achieve the board diversity purpose. The Nomination
Committee will conduct the selection of right candidate by the end of
2024.

Investment and Risk Management Committee

The Investment and Risk Management Committee currently comprised
Mr. Gu Shan Chao (Chairman of the Committee), Mr. Liu Xue Heng, Mr.
Zhu Shi Xing (all being Executive Directors) and Mr. Lam Ka Tak (the
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary).

Principal duties of the Investment and Risk Management Committee
include overseeing the risk management and evaluating the major
investment and funding projects of the Group.

There is one meeting held by the Investment and Risk Management
Committee during the year.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company's corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of
the Model Code and the Company'’s staff handbook, and the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report.
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Company Secretary

Mr. Lam Ka Tak has been the company secretary of the Company since
30 September 2010. Mr. Lam Ka Tak is the Chief Financial Officer of
the Company. During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Lam has
received no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to refresh
his skills and knowledge.

ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board
Committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company held
during the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out in the table below:

REWE
MEREEE-Z-—ZFAA=TRRHEAR
A2 ARIME - MEBEERARRZEEN®
B BE_T_=F+-_A=t—HLEFE &
FEEEITOMISNEZ BREEEE - AR
FTELRBE R AR o

EERZEERBZHFELE
BE_T_=F+_A=1+-ALEE SEF

REFGREFZEGURARRARRRG 2 H
RRUEHEIIN T

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HEERERRH
Investment
and Risk
Management Annual
Nomination Remuneration Audit  Committee General
Board  Committee = Committee =~ Committee REKER Meeting

EFE REZEEE

HHMZEEE BHZREE EEZEE RREFAS

Name of Directors EEpsg

Mr. Zhu Shi Xing MALEEE 3/4 ”n
Mr. Liu Xue Heng BEEE 4/4 -
Mr. Gu Shan Chao BEBEE 3/4 -
Mr. Siu Kin Wai HRELE 3/4 -
Mr. Hu Shiang Chi ikl 2/4 -
Mr. Wang Zheng Chun FTEFERAE 2/4 -
Mr. Robert Winslow Koepp RIS 3/4 -
Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith Eip s 3/4 11
Mr. Wu Yong Xin RKE 4/4 n
Mr. Zhang Yun Zhou RERE L E 4/4 -
Mr. Gary Zhao R A 3/4 ”n

Name of Committee Member ZEERER K
Mr. Lam Ka Tak WEELE - -

- - 11 -

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held meetings
with the Independent Non-executive Directors without the presence of
Executive Directors during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, price-sensitive
information announcements and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements. The
Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Company with a view to ensuring that such financial
statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and that relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and applicable
accounting standards are complied with.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are
put to the Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 61 to 67.
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AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditors of the
Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year
ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

BB AT &
BE-T-=F+-A=+—BIFERZER
B RIFRBRG EN AR RIMERBE 2 25
HanT

Fees Paid/Payable

Service Category R 2% e ERER
HK$
BT
Audit Services ZERRTES

— Statutory audit services —AEEZRE 1,250,000

Non-audit Services FEE RS
— Agreed-upon procedures on interim results — R HRENIHERT 400,000
1,650,000

The Board agreed with the Audit Committee’s proposal for the
re-appointment of Emnst & Young as the Company'’s external auditor for
the year 2024. The recommendation will put forward for shareholders’
approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board of the Group is responsible for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks that the Group is willing to take in
achieving its strategic objectives, and ensuring that an appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control system is established
and maintained by the Group. The Board of the Group has overseen
the management in the design, implementation and monitoring the risk
management and internal control system. The Board has confirmed that
it is its duty to establish a risk management and internal control system,
and that it will constantly oversee the system and ensure a regular review
of the effectiveness of the system will be conducted at least once a year.

The Board and the Audit Committee of the Company have also
confirmed that during the reporting period, they have reviewed the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group and its subsidiaries, covering all important control aspects
including financial control, operational control and compliance control.
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During the reporting period, the Board and the Audit Committee of the
Company have evaluated the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control system, the procedures of which include:

(1) To determine the extent of the system, identify risks and prepare
risk checklists;

(2)  To assess and prioritize the impacts of the risks based on their
impacts on the operational efficiency, sustainable development
capability and reputation in accordance with the generally
accepted risk management framework, with reference to the
probability of various types of potential risks, the extent of the
management'’s concerns and the possible financial loss arising
from the risks;

(3)  To ensure risk management measures are in place to identify
significant risks, to conduct internal control evaluation on the
design and implementation of such risk management measures
and to take actions to rectify the control gaps;

(4)  To conduct a regular review and summary on the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control system through
evaluation on the significant risks and implementation of
rectification measures carried out by the management, so as to
maximize and continuously enhance the risk management;

(5)  To prepare a risk management manual that determines the duties
and responsibilities of management, board of directors and Audit
Committee in risk management, and to provide guideline for
constantly monitoring the risk management and internal control
system;

(6)  The management has reported to the Audit Committee on the
results of regular review and evaluation on the risk management,
internal control systems, significant risk factors and corresponding
measures during the reporting period.

Nevertheless, the risk management and internal control system is
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risks that arising from
unsuccessful business objectives, and only to make reasonable, but not
absolute assurances for the non-material misrepresentation or losses.
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As to the procedures and internal controls for handling and
disseminating the inside information, the Company:

o is aware of its obligations under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance and the Listing Rules, and the overriding principle of
dealing with the inside information is to make announcement
immediately after such information comes to its attention and/
or a relevant decision has been made, unless such information
falling within the provision of “Safe Harbours” as provided in the
Securities and Futures Ordinance;

o conducts its affairs in strict compliance with the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the Securities and
Futures Commission in June 2012;

o has established and implemented procedures for responding to
external enquiries about the Group's affairs. Senior executives of
the Group are designated and authorised to act as the Company's
spokespersons and respond to specific enquiries;

o has implemented and disclosed its own Code of Conduct for share
transaction by relevant employee and inside information disclosure

policy.

The Company has set up an internal audit function and engaged
professional consultants to assist in the risk identification and evaluation
so as to formulate its risk management measure. The Company has
evaluated the design and implementation of internal control measures
for significant risks. The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control system and considered it is effective
and adequate and will continue to enhance the effectiveness in the
coming future.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

In compliance with code provision D.2.6 of the CG Code, the Board
adopted a Whistleblowing Policy on 30 December 2022. It provides
employees and the relevant third parties who deal with the Group (e.g.
customers, suppliers, creditors and debtors) with guidance and reporting
channels on reporting any suspected improprieties in any matters related
to the Group directly addressed to the designated person.

An email account (enquiry@bjhl.com.hk) has been set up for this
purpose. All reported matters will be investigated independently and,
in the meantime, all information received from a whistleblower and its
identity will be kept confidential.

The Board and the Audit Committee will regularly review the
Whistleblowing Policy and mechanism to improve its effectiveness.
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ANTI-BRIBERY AND ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

In compliance with the new code provision D.2.7 of the CG Code, the
Board adopted an Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy on 30 March
2022. It outlines guidelines and the minimum standards of conducts, all
applicable laws and regulations in relation to the anti-corruption and
anti-bribery, the responsibilities of employees to resist fraud, to help the
Group defend against corrupt practices and to report any reasonably
suspected case of fraud and corruption or any attempts thereof, to
the management or through an appropriate reporting channel. The
Group would not tolerate all forms of bribery and corruption among all
employees and those acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf
of the Group, and in its business dealing with third parties.

The Board and the Audit Committee will review the Anti-Bribery
and Anti-Corruption Policy and mechanism periodically to ensure
its effectiveness and enforce the commitment of the Group to the
prevention, deterrence, detection and investigation of all forms of
Bribery and corruption.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder meetings,
including the election of individual directors. All resolutions put forward
at shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing
Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company
and of the Stock Exchange after each shareholder meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Company’s Articles of Association, an
extraordinary general meeting shall be called by the Board on the
written requisition of any one or more shareholders of the Company,
provided that such shareholders held at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. Such
meeting shall be called for the transaction of any business specified in
the written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company;
and shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholders who wish to move resolutions at general meetings may
request the Company to convene a general meeting following the
procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.

Note: The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the following:
Address: Unit 2704, 27/F

909 Cheung Sha Wan Road

Cheung Sha Wan

Kowloon, Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Company Secretary)
Fax: 2681-2789

Email: enquiry@bijhl.com.hk

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address, apart from the registered
office of the Company, and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information
may be disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company
also recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which will enable shareholders and investors to
make the best investment decisions.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at http://www.bjhl.com.hk, where up-to-date information and updates
on the Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information are
posted.
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The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The Chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and Investment and Risk
Management Committee or, in their absence, other members of the
respective committees and, where applicable, are available to answer
questions at shareholder meetings.

The 2023 Annual General Meeting ("AGM") was held on 5 June 2023.
The notice of AGM was sent to shareholders at least 20 clear business
days before the AGM.

During the year, the Company has amended its Articles of Association in
order to bring it in line with the latest legal and regulatory requirements.
An up to date version of the Company’s Articles of Association is also
available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

The Board regularly reviews our existing channels of communication with
Shareholders and investors to make sure that they remain effective and
provides recommendations for improvements when needed. The Board
considers our current practices were all well-implemented throughout
the year and achieved satisfactory results.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENEREER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Shi Xing

Mr. Zhu Shi Xing, aged 53, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company in September 2014. He is currently the Chairman of the Board
and a member of the Nomination Committee and the Investment and
Risk Management Committee of the Company. Mr. Zhu graduated from
Central University of Finance and Economics with a bachelor’s degree in
finance and obtained his master’s degree in software engineering from
Beihang University. In addition, Mr. Zhu obtained a bachelor’'s degree
in sport management from Beijing Sport University in July 1994. Mr. Zhu
started his career as an assistant in the investment department of China
Xinxing Corporation (Group) Ltd. in 1994. During the period from 2004
to 2015, Mr. Zhu joined Beijing Holdings Limited (“BHL"), an affiliate
of Beijing Properties (Holdings) Limited ("BPHL"”, HKEX Stock Code:
925), and had been nominated as the vice general manager of various
subsidiaries of BHL involving in industries such as tourism, logistics and
property development, and the executive vice president of BPHL. Mr.
Zhu was also an Executive Director of Beijing Sports and Entertainment
Industry Group Limited ("Beijing Sports and Entertainment”, HKEX Stock
Code: 1803), an associate of the Company during the period from 24
December 2015 to 25 February 2021. Mr. Zhu has extensive experience
in investment, financial management and property development.

Mr. Liu Xue Heng

Mr. Liu Xue Heng, aged 51, was appointed as an Executive Director
and Joint Chief Executive Officer of the Company in September 2014
and April 2015 respectively, and re-designated to Chief Executive
Officer on 15 July 2022. He is currently a member of the Investment
and Risk Management Committee of the Company. Before joining the
Company, Mr. Liu served as an Executive Director and the Chairman of
the Investment and Risk Management Committee of BPHL during the
period from 1 January 2011 to 23 December 2015, an Executive Director
and the Chief Executive Officer of Tai United Holdings Limited (HKEX
Stock Code: 718) during the period from 11 July 2014 to 19 January
2016, as well as an Independent Non-executive Director of Guangshen
Railway Co., Limited (HKEX Stock Code: 525) during the period from
2 June 2011 to 29 May 2014 respectively. Mr. Liu is also an Executive
Director of Beijing Sports and Entertainment since January 2016 and
the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of Beijing
Sports and Entertainment since April 2016. Mr. Liu obtained a master's
degree of Business Administration from Cambridge University in the
United Kingdom. Mr. Liu has extensive experience in equity investment,
corporate finance, initial public offer and mergers and acquisitions.
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Mr. Siu Kin Wai

Mr. Siu Kin Wai, aged 55, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company on 22 May 2017. He is an Executive Director of BPHL since
July 2009 and the General manager of BPHL since July 2017. Mr. Siu was
also appointed as the Non-executive Director of CAQ Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the Australian Stock Exchange with a Listing
Corporation Code of CAQ) in April 2015, an Independent Non-executive
Director of Orient Securities International Holdings Limited (HKEX Stock
Code: 8001) in September 2017 and an Executive Director and the Chief
Executive Officer of MillanMin Ventures Inc. ("MVM") (a company listed
on the Toronto Stock Exchange with a Listing Stock Code of MVM) in
January 2017, and resigned as the Chief Executive Officer of MVM in
April 2018. Mr. Siu was an independent non-executive director of Golden
Century International Holdings Group Limited (HKEx Stock Code: 91)
with effect from 22 March 2023 to 18 March 2024. Mr. Siu graduated from
City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in accountancy
and is a fellow members of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Mr.
Siu has extensive experience in financial management and corporate
advisory.

Mr. Gu Shan Chao

Mr. Gu Shan Chao, aged 54, was appointed as an Executive Director
of the Company in September 2014. He is currently the Chairman of
the Investment and Risk Management Committee of the Company and
the President of the Group. Mr. Gu obtained his bachelor’s degree
in electronic engineering from the Beijing Institute of Technology
and master’s degree in property from Tsinghua University. Mr. Gu
participated in the property industry since 1999, and had been the Sales
Director and General Manager of various property developers in Beijing.

Mr. Wang Zheng Chun

Mr. Wang Zheng Chun, aged 59, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company in June 2008. He was the Chairman of the
Company during the period from October 2008 to February 2015. Mr.
Wang has over twenty years of experience in property development
and management. He has substantial experience in developing and
constructing villas, residential units and commercial buildings in the
mainland China.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wu Yong Xin

Mr. Wu Yong Xin, aged 61, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in September 2014. He is currently
the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Wu
was the Executive Vice President, Chief Government Affairs Officer and
General Manager of Regional Organization of Siemens Ltd., China, he
is retired since September 2023. Mr. Wu obtained his bachelor’s degree
in economics from Capital University of Economics and Trade in Beijing
and master’s degree in business administration from China Europe
International Business School.

Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith

Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith, aged 50, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in September 2014. He is
currently the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Tse has been appointed as the Chief Financial Officer and
an Executive Director of China Technology Industry Group Limited (HKEX
Stock Code: 8111) since 1T May 2019 and 12 July 2019 respectively. Mr. Tse
was also appointed as the Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary
of Shunfeng International Clean Energy Limited (HKEX Stock Code:
1165) from September 2010 to November 2018, and was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of Beijing Sports and Entertainment
since January 2016. Mr. Tse has around 20 years of working experience
in accounting and financial management. Mr. Tse is a fellow Certified
Practising Accountant of CPA Australia and a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Tse obtained
a bachelor’s degree in commerce from University of Wollongong, New
South Wales, Australia in July 1997, majoring in accountancy and finance.
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Mr. Zhang Yun Zhou

Mr. Zhang Yun Zhou, aged 57, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in May 2015. Mr. Zhang has engaged
in clinical work of internal medicine and neurology for over 20 years. He
possesses knowledge in relation to neuroanatomy, neuropathology,
electroneurophysiology, neuroimaging and other disciplines. After
finishing his first doctorate degree in Nanfang Hospital of First Military
Medical University in Guangzhou and second doctorate degree in
Xuanwu Hospital of Capital Medical University in Beijing, Mr. Zhang
obtained his qualification of PhD candidate in Neurology from PLA
Military Medical School (PLA General Hospital) ( fi# X & & # & 2 ft
( % MU E 42 % Bt ) ) in Beijing, a master candidate in Neurology from
Zhujiang Hospital of First Military Medical University in Guangzhou and a
bachelor’s degree in Clinical Medicine from The Fourth Military Medical
University in Xian, respectively. Mr. Zhang obtained the professional
qualification of chief physician in Neurology (## & /A %} = £ B &l ) in
2016. He is currently the medical group leader of emergency Neurology
(3% 42 A B EJE /A B ), and an chief physician, associate professor and
postgraduate tutor in Xuanwu Hospital of Capital Medical University in
Beijing.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lam Ka Tak

Mr. Lam Ka Tak, aged 42, is the Chief Financial Officer and Company
Secretary of the Group, he joined the Group in September 2010. Mr.
Lam received his master's degree of Business Administration from The
University of Hong Kong and bachelor’'s degree of Arts (Honours) in
Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is currently
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and Hong Kong Business Accountants Association. He has over 20
years of working experience in financial management and corporate
finance. Before joining the Group, Mr. Lam had worked for KPMG as an
audit manager. He is also an Executive Director of Beijing Sports and
Entertainment and an Independent Non-executive Director of Net-A-Go
Technology Company Limited (HKEX Stock Code: 1483).
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Directors’ Report

ESEHE

The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Further discussion and analysis of the business review as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including future
development in the Group's business, can be found in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” section of this annual report. The above section
forms part of this “Directors’ Report”.

POSSIBLE RISK EXPOSURE

The financial condition, results of operation, business and prospects
of the Group could be affected by certain risks and uncertainties. The
following are the main risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. In
addition, there may be other risks and uncertainties that the Group has
not yet discovered or currently regards as immaterial, and these risks and
uncertainties may have a significant impact on the Group in the future.

Risk of Investment Decisions

Risk analysis: According to the Group’s development strategies,
we will continue to acquire new projects in the future, whether high
quality projects will be selected and investment decisions to be made
scientifically will have far-reaching effects on the Group's development.

Tackling measures: Subject to corporate strategies, the Group will
determine the investment decision indicators and the information
required for analysis, and maintain close communication with the relevant
assessment agencies and collaborative authorities; combine preliminary
investment research with project progress conditions and influencing
factors, such as socio-economic policies, to predict possible external
factors which may arise in later stages; select the right timing of entry for
the project and formulate the corresponding investment strategies, and
make timely adjustments to achieve the best result.
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Market Risk

The Group's medical and geriatric furniture business is mainly conducted
in a business-to-business model. Affected by market environment,
corporate customers may slow down and reduce the amount and
frequency of tenders, especially under the COVID-19 pandemic, the
domestic economic growth has slowed down, which will increase the
possibility of market structural adjustments.

Tackling measures: Proactively communicate with major clients; collect
industry information in a timely manner; conduct proper studies and
prediction of market trends; timely adjust the Company’s planning
and actively optimize the Company’s industrial structure; expand new
business models and take other measures to deal with risks.

Foreign Exchange Risk

As the Group's investment in overseas (especially in Canada) continues
to increase, the Group's performance may be subject to various risks
caused by exchange rate fluctuations.

Tackling measures: The Company will pay close attention to the trend
of exchange rate changes; enhance the risk prevention awareness of
relevant personnel of the Company; and apply financial hedging tools to
deal with exchange rate risks when appropriate.

Risk of Sectoral and Economic Policies

Risk analysis: Changes in sectoral and economic policies in China will
have impact on medical and geriatric business. Currently, policies for the
sector remained stable and favourable.

Tackling measures: the Group will monitor simultaneously the conditions
of the province where the subsidiaries operate, including industry
policies, regional economic policies and macroeconomic changes,
collect and arrange the relevant information regularly to establish a
database for carrying out analysis and research to formulate tackling
measures; strengthen interaction between peer entities and superior
authorities to understand the changing direction of the industry,
exchange management experience and enable good communication.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively known
as the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 68 to 70.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year. The Board believes in balancing returns to shareholders with
investment to support future growth and has decided that it would be
in the Group's best interests to reserve sufficient financial resources for
future business developments.
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Dividend Policy
The Board adopted a dividend policy on 29 March 2019 (the “Dividend
Policy”). According to the Dividend Policy, when determining whether

to declare any dividend in the future and the amount of dividend to be

declared, the Company shall consider a number of factors, including but

not limited to:

the Group's actual and expected financial results;

the general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Company;

the Company's business operation strategy, including expected
working capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements
and future expansion plans;

the Company'’s liquidity position;

retained earnings and distributable profit reserves of the Company;

the contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends imposed
by the Company’s lenders and other institutions; and

any other factors that the Board considers to be applicable from
time to time.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution

proportion or distribution ratio, the declaration, payment and amount of
dividends will be subject to the Board's discretion.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy on a regular basis.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and
investment properties of the Company and the Group during the year
are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The value of investment properties as at 31 December 2023 was
measured with the fair value model, details of which are set out in note
14 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium of the Company is available for paying distributions
or dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions of its Articles of
Association and provided that immediately following the distribution
of dividend, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s
reserves available for distribution amounted to HK$874,747,000 which
consisted of share premium of HK$1,773,257,000 net of accumulated
losses of HK$898,510,000.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options are set out in notes 30 and 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2023.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted on 26 April
2002 (the “2002 Scheme”) and replaced by the share option scheme
adopted on 24 May 2013 (the “2013 Scheme”). Further details are
disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following table discloses the number of outstanding share options
granted to the Directors of the Company at the beginning of the period
and at 31 December 2023:

BE BOxHELETRES
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B o E— PR BRER RS MR M3 -

TREBEARTARBVIEBE_T_=F+_H
ZT—HRTARDEEHARITRBRERE Z

=

Number of

share options at
1/1/2023 and 31/12/2023
R=ZBZ=%—-A—-HBK
—®-=F+-A=+-H

ZBEREHE

Mr. Zhu Shi Xing AT A 30,000,000
Mr. Liu Xue Heng fEBE LA 30,000,000
Mr. Gu Shan Chao BEBLE 30,000,000
Mr. Wang Zheng Chun FIEHESLE 30,000,000
Mr. Siu Kin Wai RiRERE 10,000,000
Mr. Hu Shiang Chi FAMABL SR A 15,000,000
Mr. Robert Winslow Koepp RASEE 7,000,000
Mr. Wu Yong Xin ROKFTRE 4,000,000
Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith FipeiSis 4,000,000
Mr. Zhang Yun Zhou RIBELAE 2,000,000
162,000,000

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 258,000,000 share options
outstanding under the 2013 Scheme. Should they be fully exercised,
the Company will receive HK$149,260,000 (before issue expenses). The
fair value of these unexercised options measured in accordance with
the Group's accounting policy (note 2.4 to the consolidated financial
statements) amounted to HK$82,643,000.
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Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company granted to any of the directors or their respective
spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Shi Xing (Chairman)

Mr. Liu Xue Heng (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Siu Kin Wai

Mr. Gu Shan Chao

Mr. Hu Shiang Chi (Resigned on 29 February 2024)
Mr. Wang Zheng Chun

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Gary Zhao (Resigned on 29 February 2024)

Mr. Robert Winslow Koepp (Resigned on 29 February 2024)
Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith

Mr. Wu Yong Xin

Mr. Zhang Yun Zhou

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Zhu
Shi Xing, Mr. Wang Zheng Chun and Mr. Zhang Yun Zhou shall retire
by rotation at the Annual General Meeting. All of the above retiring
Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
Annual General Meeting.

The Company and each Director have entered into a letter of
appointment for a term of 3 years, subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the directors of the
company is currently in force and was in force throughout this year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance, to which the Company, its holding company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the
Company or any entity connected with a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 December 2023, the interests of the Directors and their associates
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company and its associated
corporations, as recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"),
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange

EENERSH 2R

MAFERFAEARRE - WEEMNARR B
ZI A RS EAEMMB AR RRIAT - BEARE
E=YREZEMENERERIMEES
BEARGZEREKEN -

EERKRHO RABERN 2 ES

RZZEZ=F+ZA=+—0 EEREESFH
ZHEEE A TR B R E AR EE 2 B D R AR
DR EB IR AR BIIRIEEFH M ERE GG ([ #FF
KEREEG]]) 352168 17 B 2 B oM ATt 8k
RIBZESFRIE BITANE ARG KRBT 2 s

pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

(i) Long positions
Ordinary shares of HK$0.20 each of the Company

LU

i #H=

KR FEIRENE 0208 T 2 B

Approx.
percentage
of the
Interest in Total issued share
Interest underlying interest capital of
Name of Director Capacity in shares shares in shares the Company
(RN
izl BB ERTRE
HEME 54 IR s R s BEE HEsk
Mr. Wang Zheng Chun Beneficial owner 5,468,750 30,000,000 35,468,750 0.59%
FEERSE BEmEA A (Note 3)
(PH5E3)
Interest held by spouse 35,074,000 - 35,074,000 0.58%
MEERA 2= (Note 1)
(K&
Interest held by 64,811,000 - 64,811,000 1.07%
controlled corporation (Note 2)
HRERVEERE 2 s (Kt5E2)
105,353,750 30,000,000 135,353,750 2.24%
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Approx.

percentage

of the

Interest in Total issued share

Interest underlying interest capital of

Name of Director Capacity in shares shares in shares the Company

ER N

izl Bz BEITRE

EEHA 54 RPERE RS wEs  BHREok

Mr. Zhu Shi Xing Beneficial owner - 30,000,000 30,000,000 0.50%
AL ER ST EnEBA (Note 3)
(PIZE3)

Mr. Liu Xue Heng Beneficial owner - 30,000,000 30,000,000 0.50%
= EnEBA (Note 3)
(BIZE3)

Mr. Gu Shan Chao Beneficial owner - 30,000,000 30,000,000 0.50%
FEBEE BnlEBA (Note 3)
(PIZE3)

Mr. Hu Shiang Chi Beneficial owner - 15,000,000 15,000,000 0.25%
MBS BnlEBA (Note 3)
(BIZE3)

Mr. Siu Kin Wai Beneficial owner - 10,000,000 10,000,000 0.17%
RlEE LA BmnlEBA (Note 3)
(fF7E3)

Mr. Robert Winslow Koepp Beneficial owner - 7,000,000 7,000,000 0.12%
FREEB%E BB A (Note 3)
(fF7E3)

Mr. Wu Yong Xin Beneficial owner - 4,000,000 4,000,000 0.07%
RIKFF A BnlEBEA (Note 3)
(MF7E3)

Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith Beneficial owner - 4,000,000 4,000,000 0.07%
EiIp e S BnlEBEA (Note 3)
(fF7E3)

Mr. Zhang Yun Zhou Beneficial owner - 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.03%
SRIBRE A BnlEBEA (Note 3)
(FF7E3)
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Notes:

1. Mr. Wang Zheng Chun (“Mr. Wang”) is deemed to be interested in
35,074,000 shares, being the interests beneficially held by his spouse,
Madam Shen Ling Zhao.

2. The 64,811,000 shares are held by Hillfame Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and the entire issued share
capital of which is beneficially owned by Mr. Wang.

3. The interests were derived from share options granted by the Company
on 2 April 2015 and 28 January 2016 which entitled the holders thereof
to subscribe for Shares at an exercise price of HK$0.61 and HK$0.53 per
Share. First 30% of the share options granted were vested in one year
after 2 April 2015 and 28 January 2016 (as the case may be), second 30%
of the share options granted were vested in two years after 2 April 2015
and 28 January 2016 (as the case may be) and remaining 40% of the share
options granted were vested in three years after 2 April 2015 and 28
January 2016 (as the case may be). The share options are exercisable from
the vesting date until 1 April 2025 and 27 January 2026 (as the case may
be).

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors, nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares
or underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

(ii) Share options
The interests of the Directors and chief executive in the share
options of the Company are separately disclosed in the section
“SHARE OPTION SCHEME" above.
Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

During the year, no contract concerning the management and

administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the

Company was entered or existed.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the directors of the
Company had any interest in any business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Other than as disclosed above in the section headed "Directors’
interests in shares and underlying shares”, as at 31 December 2023, the
shareholders (other than Directors or chief executives of the Company)
who had interests of 5% or more or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO or had otherwise
notified to the Company were as follows:

Long positions
Ordinary shares of HK$0.20 each of the Company
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EAEJZEE T-=F+-A=+—HLFER " &
RAIZEEPERERNEECENERBRRT
YA EE N MERARENTWESTEST
IR o

FERR

BRI EXTEER IR MARBAR) 2 e | — 8%

ﬁ%%?l\' R-B-_=ZF+_A=+t—RH RER
ARG REEETREEREE S LY

EﬂﬂﬁU%XV*B%Z&%Ei”* FEBRARRBIKE

RN AR RIRE S M E FHI B33 IEFEDN

FRMAKE BITHEARRFIMS%RIA LK
K2R (ARREENFERHITHAERIN 1A
o
"B

A G R EE0.208 T2 ZiEK

Number of shares Percentage of

Name of shareholder Capacity beneficially held holding
et 54 BEFAROBA BRESL
Cosmic Stand International Limited Beneficial owner 945,000,000 15.60%
EREEA
Beijing Properties (Holdings) Limited Interest held by controlled 945,000,000 15.60%
EFERGER)BRA corporation (Note 1)
R ESEE R A 2 s (RET)
Beijing Enterprises Real Estate (HK) Limited  Interest held by controlled 945,000,000 15.60%
B E(EE)AR AR corporation (Note 1)
R ESEE R A 2 s (PRET)
Beijing Enterprises Group Company Limited Interest held by controlled 945,000,000 15.60%
IR EREEARA corporation (Note 1)
R ESEE R A 2 s (RET)
a
A
=
el d
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Number of shares Percentage of

Name of shareholder Capacity beneficially held holding
BRES BB 54 BERBFERGOEE BRESE
bR E XS B AR AR Interest held by controlled 945,000,000 15.60%
corporation (Note 1)
R EHLEE R 2w ()
Beijing Financial Investment Interest held by controlled 548,409,806 9.05%
Holdings Limited corporation (Note 2)
R eRREERERAT R EHLEE RS 2w (HFE2)
Beijing Financial Holdings Interest held by controlled 548,409,806 9.05%
Group Limited corporation (Note 2)
IR ErZEREEBR AR R EHLEE R 2w (HFE2)
Beijing Investment Co., Limited Beneficial owner (Note 2) 548,409,806 9.05%
IR ERR AR B A AME2)
Ng Kin Nam Beneficial owner 401,300,000 6.62%
Rz EmdEB A
DAglZEERDERAFR Interest held by controlled 324,684,000 5.36%
corporation (Note 3)
R HLEE R 2 s (HFE3)
Lin Chih Lung Beneficial owner 166,212,000 2.74%
MEF EmdEB A
Interest held by controlled 148,324,000 2.45%
corporation (Note 4)
RS EHLEE R 2 s (H5E4)
Notes: PRRE -

These Shares were beneficially owned by Cosmic Stand International Limited.
Cosmic Stand International Limited is wholly owned by Beijing Properties
(Holdings) Limited. Beijing Properties (Holdings) Limited is owned as to 35.72%
by Beijing Enterprises Real Estate (HK) Limited, 22.73% by Brilliant Bright
Holdings Limited, 7.11% by Beijing Holdings Limited and 1.28% by lllumination
Holdings Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary of Beijing Holdings Limited which is
in turn a wholly owned subsidiary of Beijing Enterprises Group Company Limited).
Beijing Enterprises Real Estate (HK) Limited is wholly owned by b mibix & 25
EBBR A F] which is in turn wholly owned by Beijing Enterprises Group Company
Limited. Accordingly, Beijing Properties (Holdings) Limited, Beijing Enterprises
Real Estate (HK) Limited, 1t R 4t 1% & % % [ A R 2 & and Beijing Enterprises
Group Company Limited are deemed to be interested in the 945,000,000 Shares
beneficially owned by Cosmic Stand International Limited under the SFO.
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2. These Shares were beneficially owned by Beijing Investment Co., Limited. Beijing
Investment Co., Limited is wholly owned by Beijing Financial Holdings Group
Limited which is in turn wholly owned by Beijing Financial Investment Holdings
Limited. Accordingly, these companies are deemed to be interested in the
548,409,806 Shares beneficially owned by Beijing Investment Co., Limited under
the SFO.

3. 200,400,000 Shares were beneficially owned by Easy Glory Holding Limited, which
is in turn wholly-owned by Gloryeild Enterprises Limited (“Gloryeild”). Gloryeild
is wholly-owned by Sundart Holdings Limited and is indirectly wholly-owned by
Jangho Curtain Wall Hong Kong Limited (“Jangho”). Jangho is wholly-owned
by L)W gl EE B MDA R QA (“)I)A"). 124,284,000 Shares were beneficially
owned by Advance Finding Investments Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned
by Peacemark Enterprises Limited ("Peacemark”). Peacemark is wholly-owned by
Jangho and is indirectly wholly-owned by JIJf. Accordingly, 7Ll is deemed to
be interested in 324,684,000 Shares under the SFO.

4. The 148,324,000 shares are held by Stable Operation Investment Limited, a
company incorporated in the Samoa and the entire issued share capital of which is
beneficially owned by Mr. Lin Chih Lung.

Other than as disclosed above and in the section headed “Directors’
interests in shares and underlying shares”, as at 31 December 2023, the
Company has not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or
chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are recommended
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the scheme is set out in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company'’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the
year ended 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the public float capitalisation was approximately
HK$342,622,726 (approximately 84.40% of the issued share capital of the
Company).

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
the shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
Shares. Intending holders and investors of the Company’s Shares are
recommended to consult their professional advisers if they are in any
doubt as to the taxation implications (including tax relief) of subscribing
for, purchasing, holding, disposing of or dealing in the Shares. It is
emphasized that none of the Company or its directors or officers will
accept any responsibility for any tax effect on, or liabilities of, holders of
Shares in the Company resulting from their subscription for, purchase,
holding, disposal of or dealing in such Shares.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken during the year
ended 31 December 2023 are disclosed in Note 39 to the financial
statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has entered
into the following connected transactions, details of which have been
disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14 and 14A of the Listing Rules.

(i) On 30 August 2023, Beijing Lugang International Logistic Co., Ltd.*
(LR EEREBE YR B R AR (“Beijing Lugang”, a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group) entered into a loan agreement
with Beijing Zhengshenghe Investment Management Limited* (3t
RIEBEREETIEERAA) (“Beijing Zhengshenghe”), pursuant
to which, Beijing Lugang has agreed to provide a short-term
loan facility in the principal amount of RMB21,000,000 to Beijing
Zhengshenghe at the rate of 4.5% per annum, with a maturity date
of 31 December 2023 as the latest.

As at the date of the transaction, Beijing Lugang was a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and Beijing Zhengshenghe
owned 12.7637% equity interest in Beijing Lugang and was
therefore a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary
level and the transaction constituted a connected transaction of

the Company.

For further details, please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 30 August 2023.
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(i)  On 1 December 2023, Beijing Zhongcheng-Hulian Investment
Consulting Limited* (Jt R R EH R EE R B R 2 F) (“Beijing
Zhongcheng”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered
into an equity transfer agreement with Beijing Zhengshenghe,
pursuant to which, Beijing Zhengshenghe has agreed to sell, and
Beijing Zhongcheng has agreed to acquire the 12.7637% equity
interest in Beijing Lugang at a consideration of RMB48,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$52,320,000). The acquisition was
completed in early 2024.

As at the date of the transaction, Beijing Lugang was a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and Beijing Zhengshenghe
owned 12.7637% equity interest in Beijing Lugang and was
therefore a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary
level and the transaction constituted a connected transaction of
the Company.

For further details, please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 1 December 2023.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The environmental policies and performance of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2023 containing the information required under
Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules are set out in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report which will be published on the Stock Exchange's
website and the Company’s website together with the publication of this
annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS

The Group is not aware of any instances of material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations such as the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Listing Rules, and other
applicable local laws and regulations in various jurisdictions during the
year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2023 are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 5 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, 50.5% of the Group's purchase were attributed by the
Group's five largest suppliers and approximately 13.6% of the Group's
purchase were attributed by the largest supplier; and 41.3% of the
Group's turnover were attributed by the Group's five largest customers
and approximately 12.4% of the Group's turnover were attributed by the
largest customer.
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To the knowledge of the directors, none of the directors, their close
associates or any shareholders who owned more than 5% of the number
of issued shares had interest in any of the five largest customers of the

Group.

DONATION

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not donate

(2022: Nil) to charitable organisations.

On behalf of the Board

Zhu Shi Xing
Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024

*  For identification purposes only
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB AR

P>

Ernst & Young KB TR BT Tel E3E: +852 2846 9888
27 /F, One Taikoo Place BEH AR 2B/ Fax {85 +852 2868 4432
§ i 979 King's Road Rt —BE2718 ey.com
7 Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Beijing Health (Holdings) Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Beijing Health
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 68 to 195, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
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consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter
RRETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEENMAREETEE

Valuation of unlisted investments

B FTREZIGE

The Group accounted for its unlisted investments as financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in
accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial instruments. The fair value
measurement of such unlisted investments was significant to
our audit because their fair value balances of approximately
HK$295 million as of 31 December 2023 was material to the
consolidated financial statements. These financial assets were
categorised as Level 2 or Level 3 in the fair value valuation
hierarchy. The measurement of fair value involved assessment
made by using different valuation techniques and assumptions.
EEBRERFEMBREENFEIRLH TABHEIELTRE
A BEMEENRGEARNFEINRZ CREESBEBERIN
NHEIRZ SRERE - X5 LTRENDFEFEHES
ZEABER  RERRR-Z-_=F+-A=+—0H Z5#
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& o NFEZEFEY RERTRGERM RERRAIENTE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 41 to the
consolidated financial statements.

R RN R A S RERMITE2.4 - 3%41 -
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We assessed the methods in the valuation models in
accordance with valuation guidelines and industry practice.
We compared the assumptions made with relevant
benchmarks and price sources and examined any significant
deviations. We obtained independent confirmation to
confirm the existence of the investment in underlying funds
and shares. We also reviewed the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
BERAER

BEETEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EE &M EEETER

Impairment assessment of other receivables

L 1th JEN R BB A

The Group recognised an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for other receivables at amortised cost and subject
to impairment under the general approach in accordance
with HKFRS 9. The carrying amount of other receivables of
approximately HK$263 million as of 31 December 2023 was
material to the consolidated financial statements. Significant
management’s judgements and estimates on the amount of
ECLs at the reporting date were involved in determining the
recoverability of other receivables for impairment assessment.
B EE IR AR R B B W IR ER A EEER
(MTEMEERIE DB - ARBEEVBRELLESRIETH
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Relevant disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RN E RN RS M wARME24 - 3K23

We obtained an understanding of the Group's credit risk
management and practices, and assessed the Group's
policy on determining ECLs. We obtained and reviewed the
valuation established by management which is based on the
relevant credit risk of the debtors with reference to global
default rates. We also checked, on a sampling basis, the
settlement status subsequent to the reporting period.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
BERAER

BEETEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EE &M EEETER

Goodwill impairment

In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard ("HKAS")
36 Impairment of Assets, the Group is required to annually
test the amount of goodwill for impairment. This annual
impairment test was significant to our audit because the net
carrying amount of goodwill of approximately HK$80 million
as of 31 December 2023 was material to the consolidated
financial statements. The recoverable amount has been
determined by reference to the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use of each relevant cash-generating
unit (“CGU"). When assessing the recoverable amount,
significant judgement and estimation were involved, such as
identifying comparable market transactions in determining the
fair value less costs of disposal of the CGU and estimating the
future cash flow and discount rate in determining the value in
use of the CGU. These estimates and assumptions are subject
to risk and uncertainty.
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Relevant disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

HREREHN RS M mARMEE24 - 3Kk16

We obtained an understanding of the Group's reference
of market transaction and assessed the comparability. We
obtained an understanding of the Group's impairment
testing methodology and involved our internal valuation
specialists in evaluating the methodology, assumptions
and parameters such as discount rate, and terminal growth
rate of the relevant cash-generating unit used by the valuer
and the Group. We assessed key assumptions including
budgeted gross margin and growth rate by companies to
the historical performance of the related cash-generating
unit. We performed sensitivity analysis, which included
assessing the effect of reasonably possible reductions
in growth rate and increase of discount rate. We also
reviewed the disclosures in relation to the Group’s goodwill
impairment.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report ® &3/ 1% 1Al &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Tsang Chiu Hang.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GelEskHEMEE KSR

Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-=fF TEC
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
st FHET FHT
REVENUE PN 5 140,346 166,484
Cost of sales SHERA (101,872) (119,972)
Gross profit EA 38,474 46,512
Other income and gains/(losses), net E AU A R Wz, (8518 ) F 58 5 36,084 36,864
Selling and distribution expenses HERDERAS (13,904) (14,555)
Administrative expenses TR (89,476) (97,402)
Impairment losses on financial assets, net SREERAEBETE (15,163) (10,109)
Other expenses and losses HipxE REsE (1,397) (19,066)
Finance costs BhE A 7 (376) (1,442)
Share of losses of: DIRLAT 2 518 -
Joint ventures RN (5,728) (18,828)
Associates /N (17,292) (24,670)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BREiAEE 6 (68,778) (102,696)
Income tax credit SR % 10 7,057 3,891
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEEE (61,721) (98,805)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income ¢ #r&

Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—Z-=F —To—F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
liEss FTHER FET
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEBR (61,721) (98,805)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Hfth2EUkzE (&8)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that HizHif Al 8 E%ﬁ voy E¥i-Fa
may be reclassified to profit or loss in ME b2 E W (E518)
subsequent periods:
Debt investment at fair value through other iﬁi@ﬁm%@%ﬁ%@i@
comprehensive income: 75'@521&%&% :
Changes in fair value NEEEE 120 891
Reclassification adjustments for gains FAEREBmRzEm 2
included in the consolidated statement ERibayECE:S
of profit or loss N
— gain on redemption —fEm 2 fas = (905)
Exchange differences: BES ZEHE
Exchange differences on translation of MEFINERHER =5
foreign operations (21,057) (141,525)
Reclassification adjustment for a FRNFINERTBERS
foreign operation deconsolidated AR 2B D BT
during the year 34 = (48)
Reclassification adjustment for a foreign FR Hj%/iﬂ\%fRZE%ﬁ
operation disposed of during the year DERAE = 582
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) A —E&E AR ZHAb
of a joint venture 2EWEE () (892) 1,412
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) 2GR E A7 2 Eth 2 H
of associates Wk, (EE) 1,618 (3,834)
Net other comprehensive loss that may HRHIFRI e EF D AR ER
be reclassified to profit or loss 2 Efh 2 EEE R
in subsequent periods (20,211) (143,427)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that Hig 8/ H—rTAE%ﬁ DEEE
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in EZ/\WJEEW 5/
subsequent periods: (B18)
Changes in fair value of equity investments T RB B E A 2 E R b
designated at fair value through other NEVIRZ RIRER
comprehensive income NEEES) (70,935) (35,741)
Revaluation gain on transfer from property, ~ B¥% - BEREZBEHE
plant and equipment to investment REWMEZ il
property \ . - 2,446
Less: income tax effect B PSR = (612)
Net other comprehensive loss that will not REMR/BTgEN S ESE
be reclassified to profit or loss in B Zﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁiﬂ@@%ﬁ
subsequent periods (70,935) (33,907)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FEHMEZHEHEE -
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX HKRHIE (91,146) (177,334)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FERHBRAE
FOR THE YEAR (152,867) (276,139)
-
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income ¢ 47 & #a X B 2 A& &

Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EB=F T F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
k=g FTER FHT
Loss attributable to: THIA T REIGEE
Owners of the parent [SYNSIEZEPN (61,882) (97,696)
Non-controlling interests FEVER RS 161 (1,109
(61,721) (98,805)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: TAATEAEZEEEARE
Owners of the parent [SYNCIETZSUN (151,752) (254,408)
Non-controlling interests FEIER (1,115) (21,731)
(152,867) (276,139)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO BRAREERERIFEA
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF LB RER
THE PARENT
Basic and diluted HA K #E 12 HK(1.01) cents HK(1.61) cents
(1.01)784 (1.61)78 1L
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e TR R

31 December 2023 —Z2-=F+_-F=+—H

2023 2022
—EC=F —TooF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Pt s FER FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE R 13 57,446 62,766
Investment properties wEME 14 136,716 150,720
Right-of-use assets PREEE 15(a) 391,249 412,460
Properties under development BRPYE 21 421,593 427,681
Gooduwill [k 16 79,979 79,979
Investments in joint ventures RE&ERAZKE 17 70,018 73,666
Investments in associates REE R R 2 E 18 128,746 144,844
Equity investments designated at fair value ~ #EE AFBEMEEWEIA
through other comprehensive income NPEINERZ ERRE 19 169,412 246,737
Debt investment at fair value through other  FEiBE b 2 E Wz AR FET
comprehensive income R BRRE 19 15,614 -
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIA K EAth e W kI8 23 12,160 175,275
Deferred tax assets FEERLTBE E 29 1,713 1,481
Total non-current assets ERBEELRE 1,484,646 1,775,609
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories PR 20 45,403 45,363
Trade receivables JEE SR 22 16,826 18,655
Prepayments, other receivables and TARTRRIE « Eofth e ERIE K
other assets HEib&EE 23 295,539 135,040
Financial assets at fair value through FHRBRARNTHEIRZ SR
profit or loss BE 24 182,633 247,038
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEY 25 153,324 193,726
Total current assets mEEERE 693,725 639,822
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEAE
Trade payables JERTE SRR 26 29,050 21,745
Other payables and accruals E b fE AN FE K ERHE 27 116,017 129,043
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STERITIER 28 - 25,747
Lease liabilities HEBE 15(b) 3,143 4,744
Tax payable JERI TR 523 1,062
Total current liabilities nE B EEE 148,733 182,341
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFEE 544,992 457,481
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERRBAE
LIABILITIES 2,029,638 2,233,090
L)d
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position ®
31 December 2023 —Z2-=F+—-A=+—H

fra MR

2023 2022
—E-=fF TEC
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
st FHET FHT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Other payables H e 5E 27 9,239 12,992
Lease liabilities HESE 15(b) 1,750 2,255
Deferred tax liabilities REFIBEE 29 64,101 74,183
Total non-current liabilities JEmE A ERE 75,090 89,430
Net assets BEFE 1,954,548 2,143,660
EQUITY &=
Equity attributable to the owners of [SYNCIE 2PNy Ea
the parent
Share capital &N 30 1,211,754 1,211,754
Reserves 1] 32 673,731 825,484
1,885,485 2,037,238
Non-controlling interests FEFERR RS 33 69,063 106,422
Total equity AR 1,954,548 2,143,660

Zhu Shi Xing
L HE

Director

BZ

BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1t Z{2E (38R) 5R A R

Gu Shan Chao
BEER
Director

BZ



Consolidated Statement of Changes in

mEERBER

Year ended 31 December 2023 HZE —& —

=FT A=t HLFE

Atrbutable to owners of the parent
SRAER

Equity

Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets at
fair value
through
Treasury Share Statutory Share Exchange offer Non-
Share share premium surplus option Other fluctuation  comprefiensie ~ Accumulated controlling Total
capital resene account Tesenve Tesene reseres resene income [osses Total interests equity
il
2R4E
- ATEIE,
B By ‘/iE ﬁ’f PW& it ENRg  emdEy . N
o 1] BE G G ATERE ZifEE g FARES 2k
WSID MO0 SO HK$000 HK$ 000 HGOO SO0 HGOO A0 RGO HOD RGO
T T AT Thn Thn TR T T T T T T
}noge ) (note 3)
(H&230) (Ki&30)
At 1 January 2022 RoB- _ﬁ’ﬂ -8 1215789 - 11142 16,405 88,865 31183 18,044 (5,69 842,075) 2093604 20299 249,619
Lossfor the year - - - - - - - - (97,6%) (97,6%) (1,109 (98,805)
Other comprehenswe incomeloss W\]%%@%/
forthe year (FiR):
Changes nfinlueofacebt  BEE2EARID
investment at fair value TSI (R
through other comprehensive  BHIATERE
income - - - - - - - 891 - 891 - 891
Reclassfication adjustments of a ?ﬁ?\?ﬁﬂﬂm%ﬁﬁﬂ
debt investment at fai value Afp2EdE)
through other comprehensive ] EEE‘]F%&
income for gain included n B &R
profitorloss - . - - - - - - - (905) - (%05) - (905)
Exchan?e diferences on BEENERNELE
ranslation of foreign g
operations - - - - - - (127933 - - (127933 (1359) (141,529)
Changesin farvalue of equity ¥ iﬁu‘iﬁﬁﬁéﬁ
investments designated Bas AT BT
atfair value through other JEEREALT
comprehensive income 28 - - - - - - - (28711) - (28711) 7,030 (35,741)
Share ofother comprehensive ?/EAM“TZHMQ
income of joint ventures - - - - - - 1412 - - 1412 - 1412
Share of other comprehensive "r\/ﬁﬂﬁﬁL/\TZﬁm%
loss of associates | - - - - - (3834 - - - (3834 - (3834
Revaluation gain on transfer from
property, plant and equipment
toinvestment property, net of
tax - - - - - 1834 - - - 18% - 183
Reclassflcation adjustments for
gain on deconsolidation of a
subsidary included in profit or
loss (note 34) - - - - - - (] - - (] - (]
Reclassifcation adjustments for
gain on disposal of subsicries
included in profit or oss - - - - - - 52 - - 582 - 582
Totdl comprehensive income for ~ FAZENEEE
the year - - - - - 2,000) (1259%7) (28729) (97,6%) (254.408) 21731 (276,139)
Deemed disposal ofpartlinterest (e EREATHTA
insubsidiaries 3] - - - - - - - - - - (3497) (3497)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-EHBAA - - - (58) - - - - - (58) - (58)
Dividend to a non-controlling A-ZHRRRERE
shareholder ke . - - - - - - - - - - (189) (189)
Transfer of share option resene. ~ RERERZNAERE
uon the foreiture or expiryof SRR EEE
share options ) - - - - (6,221) - - - 621 - - -
Share repurchased (note 30 REIRIA(HE30) - (1920 - - - - - - (1920 - (1920
Share cancellation HERR 4039 1920 2115 - - - - - - - - -
Decorsolication of asubsiclay ~ —EIBARTESAA
[note 34) &() . - - - - - - - - - - (71,158) [71,158)
Transfer offir vlue reserie hERBAB AL
upon the disposal of equity ATETIE RakE
investments atfarvalue through ~ 4ERLTESR
other comprehensive income - - - - - - - 7813 7813 - - -
At 31 December 2022 \:;ZZ"H'
=t-A 121175 - 1713257 16347 82,644 29,153 (107943) (26611) (941,363) 2037,238 106422 2143660
a
o
—
=
L L 4
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity ® #R&

Year ended 31 December 2023 BEZ—T-_=F+=-A=+—HItFE
Attributable to owners of the parent
EAEEIN
Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets at
fair value
through
Share Statutory Share Exchange other Non-
Share premium surplus option Other fluctuation ~ comprehensive  Accumulated controlling Total
capital account reserve reserve reserves reserve income losses Total interests equity
iseet
BEREN
DPESIRE
Riti EERH BhE it EXR®  cHEEZ
Bx % Eid Eid Eid i AVERR ZitER g FERES E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS$000 HKS000 HKS'000
THn THn T T THR ThR ThR Thn TR Thn Tin
(note 30) (note 30)
(KiE30) (KizE30)
At 1 January 203 R-E-=5-f-A 1,211,754 1,713,251 16,347 82,644 29,153 (107,943) (26,611) (941,363) 2,037,238 106,422 2,143,660
Profit/{loss} for the year ERgH/ (58 - = = - - - - (61,882) (61,882) 161 (61,721)
Other comprehensive income/[loss) forthe A 2EME/
year: (K8):
Changesin fairvalue of a debtinvestment  EiBE 2 AMEM A TET
atfairvalue through other comprehensive &2 BERENATESD
income - - - - - - 120 - 120 - 120
Exchange diferences on ranslation of BERSBNELEE
foreign operations - - - - = (19,782) = = (19,782) (1.279) (21,07)
Changes i far value of equity investments ~ f6E ABERH2E
designated at fair value through other %MA%W&Z%E
comprehensive income HATEEY - - - - - - (70,935) - (70,935) - (70,935)
Share of other comprehensive loss ofoint { é‘émzﬁ‘rﬁﬁiﬂﬁ
ventures = = = = o (892) - - (892) - (892)
Share of other comprehensive income of  AEEBERF M2 ENE
associates - - - - 1,618 - - - 1,618 - 1,618
Total comprehensive income/[oss) for ER2ENE/ (FR)EE
the year - - - - 1,618 (20,674) (70,815) (61,882) (151,753) (1,114) (152,867)
Dividendtoanon-controlingshareholder ~ E—&3EEHRFRE
e - - - - - - - - - (903) (903)
Reduction of capital by anoncontrolling ~ —E3EERRRAIHRE
sharefholder - - - - - - - - - (35,342) (35,:342)
Transfer to resenves BRERE = = 576 = o o o (576) o o o
Transfer of far value reserve upon the disposal 1 EEAEM2ANENATE
of equity investments at fairvlue through ~~ JI% 2 BRAARERATE
other comprehensive income [ - - - - - - 15,507 (15,507) - - -
At 31 December 203 WZEZ=ZE+ZA=1-8 1,211,754 1713251 16,923¢ 82,644* 30,771* (128,617)* (81,919 (1,019328* 1,885,485 69,063 1,954,548
*

* REREBERERAVBERARZGEH R
673731000 (-2 -+ -_F=+—H8 :
825,484,000/87T) ©

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$673,731,000
(31 December 2022: HK$825,484,000) in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

+‘ “
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EBZ=F - —F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
b FHERT FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KETHMBESRE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax: BFERIESE - (68,778) (102,696)
Adjustments for: AT SIBEH AR
Finance costs [EE= NP 7 376 1,442
Share of losses of joint ventures AMEEENE R E AT
and associates ZEE 23,020 43,498
Interest income AMEWA 5 (15,607) (14,432)
Investment income BERA 5 (6,444) (11,621)
Dividend income LSRN 5 (1,057) (1,450)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% « E MR HETE 6,13 4,561 5,154
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 6, 15(a) 19,650 20,853
Gain on deconsolidation of a subsidiary —HME AR T EEE A
iR 2 Wz 5,34 = (63)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property, HEWE - BFE REE
plant and equipment BEZEB (W) 5 71 (548)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR Z W 5 - (50)
Gain on disposal of equity investment of fair i R H A 2 E s A
value through other comprehensive income NHEFRZ EmRE
2 W 5 - (1,373)
Gain on redemption of debt investment of fair  fERIFE B E ith 2 EUREE A
value through other comprehensive income NEEYER EERE
2 Wz 5 - (4,375)
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of REERNFI28E
investments in associates CRERR) /RE 6,18 (1,211) 817
Impairment of financial assets, net CREERBFE b 15,163 10,109
Fair value losses on investment wEMEZ N TEEE
properties, net HER 5,14 12,153 4,879
Fair value losses on financial assets FRBEEANTENRZ
at fair value through profit or loss EHMEEC AT EERE 5 565 6,972
Loss/(gain) on disposal of associates HERE AT EE
(ezs) 5 380 (585)
(17,158) (43,469)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL, () (40) 25,368
Decrease in trade receivables Y E SRR 831 12,404
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, other TR FRIE « Hofth & R TE K2
receivables and other assets HiEERD (Em) (11,376) 13,623
Decrease in restricted bank balances SR HIRT T AE R - 3,994
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables FEATE SRRFG I, O ) 7,305 (24,679)
Decrease in other payables and accruals H Al fE AT RIE K fERT B A
NN (12,009) (12,968)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net fE RSB S (7,388) (8,827)
Cash used in operations LEFTAERS (39.835) (34,554)
PRC corporate income tax (paid)/refunded (B, BREFEME
ries (3,889) 1,297
Net cash flows used in operating activities KERBFMARSREFRE (43,724) (33,257)
-
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ¢ 428 & nE K

Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-=HF T F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
P FERT FAExT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZDMERETRE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received U F & 23,178 27,503
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEWE - BB REE (1,372) (1,146)
Purchases of an investment property BEREME = (15,734)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEME - BE RRZEFS
and equipment KIA 1,267 62
Proceeds from disposal of associates & — B A R ATS B 125 1,479
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries HEWE R RS RIE - (1,721)
Purchases of equity investments designated BERETAERAMEE
at fair value through other comprehensive Wezs AR FEFIAR 2 Eam
income "E (25,557) (17,290)
Proceeds from disposal of equity investment HEREREBEMER
designated at fair value through other WA R FEYIIR 2
comprehensive income "B ZFSIE 31,696 -
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BEEBEENUATETER
through profit or loss 2R E (326,151) (641,161)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HEFBREBERNATEYIR
fair value through profit or loss 2 EBEREZFTFHIA 387,129 637,122
Purchase of a debt investment at fair value BESEBEMPEWRAR
through other comprehensive income HESIR BRERE (15,554) (35,154)
Redemption of debt investments at fair value  BEEIEBE M2 EIRZZIAA
through other comprehensive income FEYIR . BRRE = 78,194
Advances of loans to third parties AE=FRNER - (22,877)
Receipts of repayment of loans to WEE=FERZER
third parties - 32,828
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary —fET B R A THsE AR 34 - (19,335)
Net cash flows from investing activities KREEHMEREREFE 74,761 22,770
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ¢ 428 & nE K
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EB=HF T F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
P FHET FAExT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RMEFHFERSRE
ACTIVITIES
Principal portion of lease payments HENFAEE S 15 (6,228) (6,193)
New bank loans FRITER 35(b) - 26,807
Repayment of bank loans EERITER 35(b) (25,551) (34,966)
Interest paid BEAFLE (376) (1,442)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders B IEIZAR IR 2 A% 8. (903) -
Reduction of capital by a non-controlling — B IR AR AR R B AR AR
shareholder (35,342) -
Cancellation of shares EREL e = (1,920)
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEEBMARENEFE (68,400) (17,714)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERBEEEMRDFE
EQUIVALENTS (37,363) (28,201)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FYReRRESEFEED
of year 193,726 239,136
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net i RSB 2 (3,039) (17,209)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND S#&BEERELZEY
OF YEAR 153,324 193,726
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND B2 RESZEMEH I
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances R MIRTTH S 25 153,324 193,726
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the FERERERMATZES
consolidated statement of cash flows ke EED 153,324 193,726
o
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Notes to Financial Statements

B IS ¥R R MY &

Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. QAFRRKEEEHR
Beijing Health (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is a limited IEREREGER)BRATI(TART D) AR
liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares SRBHMRZIZARAR  HRHBE-F
have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of ZoFPOAZ+RBRETEHRERIME
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 26 April 2002. BRAR([HEAPT ) R ET - RARZ
The registered address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins it 3t 1E /4% Cricket Square, Hutchins Drives,
Drives, P.O. Box 2681, KY1-1111, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands. P.O. Box 2681, KY1-1111, Grand Cayman,
Cayman Islands °
During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively FA - AREREWBAT (FiE AEE )
referred to as the “Group”) were involved in the provision of FRFREE A RFAE ([P E DRt ERE - BE
medical care, health care and geriatric care related services and REZBERBRES -
products in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").
In the opinion of the directors, the major shareholder of the BZRE  ARREERFAILRERGE
Company is Beijing Properties (Holdings) Limited (“BPHL"), BOERAB([IERER]) - IERERRE
which was incorporated in Bermuda, ultimately held by Beijing FETMAY - AIEREREEERA G
Enterprises Group Company Limited and the shares of which are R - HRRORE AT T -
listed on the Stock Exchange.
Information about subsidiaries ERAMBE AR ZER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: ARl EEMBARZERAT ¢
Issued
Place of ordinary/ Percentage of
incorporation/ registered equity attributable
Name registration and business share capital to the Company Principal activities
B0 BRITZER/ ENFER
£ ERREELE TR BRAM TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# BF:
United Win International Corporation British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary 100% - Investment holding
Hong Kong US$100 RAER
HBRANE/BE LERI00ET
Rosy River International Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary - 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong US$1,000 REER
HBRANE/BE ERRI,000% T
ERRH AR EHEAERAT PRC/Chinese Mainland Registered capital - 100%  Investment management
(Beijing Zhong Cheng Hu Lian Investment 1 /Iyl RMB30,000,000 consulting
Advisory Co., Ltd.*) FHER REEEE
AR 30,000,000
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAAREBEER(E)
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

FRAMBARZER(E)

Issued
Place of ordinary/ Percentage of
incorporation/ registered equity attributable
Name registration and business share capital to the Company Principal activities
Bl e BRTZER/ KARIER
£ oK EE L ERA BEBDL TEEH
Direct Indirect
B# R
IRERGEEEHNERAT PRC/Chinese Mainland Registered capital - 100%  Investment management
(Beijing Huikang Enterprise HRE/RERM RMB22,300,000 consulting
Management Consulting Co., Ltd*) HHER REER®H
AR%22,300,0007T
FEREIRERERERAR PRC/Chinese Mainland Registered capital - 100%  Investment management
(Beijing Zhendao Health Technology B/ RER RMB42,900,000 consulting
Co., Ltd*) HER REER®H
AR 42,900,000
LEMEREEEERAR PRC/Chinese Mainland Registered capital - 100%  Investment holding
(Shanghai Chongyuan Investment B/ RERY RMB20,000,000 RERR
Management Company Limited*) HRER
AR 20,000,000
PRSECEERERAA PRC/Chinese Mainland Registered capital - 100%  Investment holding
(Shanghai Shenyi Enterprises B/ RER RMB43,200,000 RERR
Management Co., Ltd.*) HftER
AR 43,200,000
EREEEENRERAR PRC/Chinese Mainland Registered capital - 82.24%  Medical and logistics
(Beijing Inland Port International =T RMB199,095,322 related property
Logistics Co., Ltd.*) HRER development
AR#199,095,3227C BERDRERNEER
TREREERABRAT PRC/Chinese Mainland Registered capital - 60%  Trading of geriatric care
(Beijing Vissam Prosperity Furniture RE/FRE R RMB50,000,000 related furniture
Limited*) HMER BERZKA
AR 50,000,000
TRRERRRABRATA PRC/Chinese Mainland Registered capital - 60%  Trading of geriatric care
(Beijing Kangai Geriatric Furniture e/ AR RMB20,000,000 related furniture
Co, Ltd) AR BEERERM
AR 20,000,0007T
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Year ended 31 December 2023 &

1.

SE+ZAS+—BILEE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AARKEEEHNGE)
(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) BRMBARZER(E)
Issued
Place of ordinary/ Percentage of
incorporation/ registered equity attributable
Name registration and business share capital to the Company Principal activities
Bl BRTZER/ KNRER
&8 oK EE L R BREMNL TEEH
Direct Indirect
B# R
EfmRREASREEZRBERAR  PRC/Chinese Mainland Registered capital - 55%  Provision of geriatric care
(Wuhu Fuling Golden Sun Health Care e /B A, RMB2,000,000 services
Service Company Limited*) HRER RUEZRS
AR 2,000,007
REEREXRHEREERAA PRC/Chinese Mainland Registered capital - 60%  Property Development
(Dali Guangchen Real Estate Development — F &,/ B, RMB30,000,000 MERY
Co,, Ltd*) AR
AR %30,000,0007
FERNRERRERAR PRC/Chinese Mainland Registered capital - 100%  Property development
(Shanghai Qiyue Health Technology B/ RER USD20,000,000 MERE
Co., Ltd ) AR
20,000,000% 7T
* For identification purposes only * [ELes: 5

#

These companies are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises

under PRC law.

Other than United Win International Corporation and Rosy

River International Limited, all the above subsidiaries are limited

liabilities companies registered in the PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in

the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the

year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.

To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the

directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1t Z{2E (38R) 5R A R

% United Win International Corporation &
Rosy River International Limited%h * FT& L

ZEARIREBETHEAREMAIERERE -

AHBEATHASRPEEMOEREER

= o

ERINHEEZRAREIZFEAKEAFER
BYEREEFEERRD 2ARANER
Al BEERR - WL EMMB AR ZFFE

T EHERHBRTTE



Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1 RPEE

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income, and debt investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income which have been measured at fair
value. These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$") and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
31 December 2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

General, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has, less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(o)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
() the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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BOMLR)TRLER ©
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive loss is reclassified to
profit or loss or accumulated losses, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year's financial statements.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Definition of
Accounting Estimates
Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction
International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)
The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(@ Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose
their material accounting policy information rather than
their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements,
it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
The Group has disclosed the material accounting policy
information in note 2 to the financial statements. The
amendments did not have any impact on the measurement,
recognition or presentation of any items in the Group's
financial statements.

(b)  Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. Since the Group's approach and
policy align with the amendments, the amendments had no
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

()

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the
scope of the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so
that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such
as leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising from
these transactions. The adoption of amendments to HKAS
12 did not have any material impact on the Group's financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary exception
from the recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes arising
from the implementation of the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development. The amendments also introduce
disclosure requirements for the affected entities to help users
of the financial statements better understand the entities’
exposure to Pillar Two income taxes, including the disclosure
of current tax related to Pillar Two income taxes separately
in the periods when Pillar Two legislation is effective and
the disclosure of known or reasonably estimable information
of their exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in
which the legislation is enacted or substantively enacted but
not yet in effect. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively. Since the Group did not fall within the scope
of the Pillar Two model rules, the amendments did not have
any impact to the Group.
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2.3

—Eo=F+-A=t+—HIEFE

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs, that have
been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.
The Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if applicable,

when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”)"*

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)"*

Supplier Finance Arrangements'

Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
s No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments,

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding wording with

no change in conclusion
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the
right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into
after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January
2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as
an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those
with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities
that are subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period. The amendments
shall be applied retrospectively with early application permitted.
An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments and
whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure
of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the
amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements in
understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an
entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier
application of the amendments is permitted. The amendments
provide certain transition reliefs regarding comparative
information, quantitative information as at the beginning of the
annual reporting period and interim disclosures. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of financial statements
to understand the impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the amendments,
an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or to
the cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in a
separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of
initial application. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1t Z{2E (38R) SR A 7

2.3 EEMEERERZERMBRE

=R ()
BB ERE2R BT AEREN
AL —EERERA RS —EEY
VAR &R Z AT AR RS FE AN el i 5T 5t & B Y
BIHAFER - ZFER]ERKEBEER - E/T
BREMEEATHREE TR LBNTE
RFHRRER - BRAZEER N - BRAA
BIILLEER - BRERERINEFAIRAE
BREARERE BERRLHIMVREEFN
R s S B BAR R ARy (WE ) R R
AHBREZEN RS ENAE - ZFERT
BT EHARBENPEHRREKEMEXN

=7
FE o



Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 2 —E-=F+-_A=1+—HILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXRETTHEE

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it has significant influence. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the
net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line
any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or
joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to
the extent of the Group's investments in the associates or joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates or joint venture is included as part of the
Group's investments in associates or joint ventures.
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)
If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified as
held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EREFBER(E)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities
of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, equity investments designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income and debt
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment properties, the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing
a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest
group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss
in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy
for that revalued asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that person'’s
family and that person

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment
is classified as held for sale or when it is part of disposal groups
classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting
policy for “Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale”.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

4% to 5%

Over the shorter of the lease terms
and 20%

10% to 33%

19% to 32%

6% to 19%

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or
loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and are is depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market
conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in profit or loss in the year in which they
arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in profit or loss in the year of the
retirement or disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed
at least at each financial year end.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use
the underlying assets.

(a)  Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as

follows:
Leasehold land 47 to 51 years
Buildings 2 to 3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

b))  Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b))  Lease liabilities (continued)
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of buildings (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases
of low-value assets to leases of office equipment and laptop
computers that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EREFBER(E)
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Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor (continued))

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms and is included in revenue in profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessees are accounted
for as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its
fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EREFBER(E)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest ("SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised
cost are held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative
fair value change recognised in other comprehensive income is
recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income when they meet
the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is
determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, except when
the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the
cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded
in other comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify
at fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on
the equity investments are also recognised as other income in
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established.
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 24 ERETTHR(E)
Investments and other financial assets (continued) BRERHEMSHERE ()
Subsequent measurement (continued)) #iEsE (&)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability
or non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for
as a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks
are not closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the
same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition
of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair
value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms
of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would
otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out
of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to
be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

BB AL FIESRZ T EE ()

ERMARGAN(EESRAEIFERE
BMTETAAGBEIEBTIETAENL
R EER - AEERANITETARR
BROEBTANATETANES AR
BAERNMIHREREBE U DT EIRAS
AZOTET AR RPN EREBITAET
BSfR - RARITAE T AR AV EE - B
NFEEHERER - EESORFER
e KEXEEMBERTHATREAE
B ERNBEEBBREARFIRZE
BEEESH OB - JETENNME

BARARAHN(EESREETR)NITET
ATGERIR - SRMEETBERRAL
TETEARBABERBBERUARTET
RZEREE -

RIBATHMEE
TREECNER) REMEEN I
DER—HBUEREEN—#D)ETIIBE
ST AR LR AR (D B NSRBI AR & A 55K
ARFBER) -

o  WEHZHRBEEMBSREAENEND
fEim ;=X

o  ARECERHWIZREEMSH
TREMERN - RERE—AEN]
L EAEBRELENERLT &
AERME=DE2HEIXNAEBRER
B UR@AKEDEBRZREEN
BREBORREER (o) AEE
WEEENREZAEEBAI DR
B O - D BRI EA RS
E -

£} ANNUAL REPORT 2023



104

Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that
the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EREFBER(E)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

TREERE(E
—RIE(E)
AEERSHREATFIHERIAEERR
BVAHERIZ B B ANRIBIN - #EITRHAR
AEESHBRERTANRE AHBHLERY
BV E R B 5 R T BN V)aa TR A BSR4
mﬂ C WEBHBNETLERELE N
BSHAEABEBRIFNER - BRE
E%ﬁ&m%&éﬂ REERR  EAH
NGB H30RA L - EERR Ejiﬁlai‘bw

AEBERR  MAEHNTEHOX - BlR
BETREEEQEMN - A EETER
N 1%W%B§29I\%B;§*ﬂr?&ii$iI%E‘EJr&E
A AR B R A 85 EIE AR AT AT s B BULER
AMEBELEHE E'W%lﬁ—h%;%%éfii
BEERNEM

I IS B IE R & 1R IR E R
TREE °

PR IEUCE 5 BRSO TR LIRS - &
Hit2E S AR FHESIRRZ EERE MR
BIERAGTEN S REER —RIDEETR
B LR REEHETERRIE -

£} ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EREFBER(E)
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Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EREFBER(E)
Financial liabilities TRBaE
Initial recognition and measurement PR R =

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and
borrowings, payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings, and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables
and interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables and
Interest-bearing bank borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables and interest-
bearing bank borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EREFBER(E)
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Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly
in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Group's own equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value and comprise construction costs, borrowing
costs, professional fees and other costs directly attributable to
such properties incurred during the development period.

Properties under development which have been pre-sold or
intended for sale and are expected to be completed within one
year from the end of the reporting period are classified under
current assets. On completion, the properties are transferred to
properties held for sale.
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EREFBER(E)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's
cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value
amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the sale of furniture
for general repairs of defects occurring during the warranty period.
Provisions for these assurance-type warranties granted by the
Group are initially recognised based on sales volume and past
experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted to their
present values as appropriate. The warranty-related cost is revised
annually.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EREFBER(E)
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Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in

equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EREFBER(E)

Income tax (continued)

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 2 —E-=F+-_A=1+—HILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue
is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised
under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B #5532 M9 5T

Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a)

®)

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in
time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally upon completion of the installation services.

Warranty obligations

The Group provides warranties that are either solely
assurance-type warranties or extended warranties, which
are service-type warranties, to a customer. The service- type
warranties can be obtained from other providers and do not
significantly customise or modify the products.

Contracts for bundled sales of goods and service-type
warranties are comprised of two performance obligations
because the promise to transfer goods and provide service-
type warranties are capable of being distinct and separately
identifiable. Accordingly, the transaction price is allocated
based on the relative stand-alone selling prices of goods and
service-type warranties.

Revenue from service-type warranties is recognised over
time, using a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group.

Rendlering of services

The Group provides medical care, health care and geriatric
care related services. These services are rendered on their
own contracts with customers. Revenue from the rendering
of services is recognised over the time because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period
in which they are incurred.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EREFBER(E)

Share-based payments

The Company operates several share option schemes. Employees
(including directors) and consultants of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees and consultants render services in exchange for equity
instruments ("equity-settled transactions”). The cost of equity-
settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is
determined by an external valuer using a binomial model, further
details of which are given in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in equity-
settled share-based payment expenses, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of
each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group's best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of
the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EREFBER(E)

116

Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial
to the employee as measured at the date of modification. Where
an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested
on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the
Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award
is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those eligible
Hong Kong employees. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentages of its
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EREFBER(E)
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Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Interim
dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when
they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in
the Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the consolidated financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rate at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or
loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss
on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EREFBER(E)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currency of certain subsidiaries and associates
operating in Chinese Mainland is a currency other than the Hong
Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates
of the transaction.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences are
attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of subsidiaries operating in Chinese Mainland are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
subsidiaries operating in Chinese Mainland which arise throughout
the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rate for the year.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group has applied the following judgements that significantly
affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from
contracts with customers:

(a)  Ildentitying performance obligations in a bundled sale of

goods and installation services

The Group provides installation services with the sale of
goods to customers. The Group assessed that the installation
services bundled together with the sale of goods are not
distinct and are not separate obligations under HKFRS 15,
because the customers only accept goods at the point when
goods are delivered and installation is completed. Therefore,
the adoption of HKFRS 15 did not have an impact on the
timing of revenue recognition.

b)  ldentitying warranty obligations in sale of furniture products
The Group generally provides for warranties for general
repairs of 3 to 5 years based on statutory requirements and
product features, and does not provide extended warranties
in its contracts of sale of furniture products with customers.
However, in certain non-standard contracts, the Group
provides extended warranties. the Group assessed that
such warranties are service-type warranties and therefore,
are accounted for as separate performance obligations to
which the Group allocates a portion of the transaction price.
Revenue is subsequently recognised over time based on the
time elapsed.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into leases on its investment property
portfolio. The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of
the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease
term not constituting a major part of the economic life of the
building and the present value of the minimum lease payments
not amounting to substantially all the fair value of the building,
that it retains substantially all the significant risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of these properties which are leased out
and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers
whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a
portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and
another portion that is held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these
portions could be sold separately or leased out separately under
a finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately.
If the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis
to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at 31 December 2023 was HK$79,979,000 (2022: HK$79,979,000).
Further details are given in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables

The policy for provision for expected credit losses on trade
and other receivables of the Group is based on an ECL model.
A considerable amount of estimation is required in assessing
the available information which includes information about
past events, current conditions and forecasts future economic
conditions to estimate the ECL. The carrying amounts of trade
receivables and other receivables in the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2023 were HK$16,826,000
(2022: HK$18,655,000) and HK$307,699,000 (2022: HK$310,315,000),
respectively, further details of which are set out in notes 22 and 23
to the consolidated financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimation of fair value of investment properties

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar

properties, the Group considers information from a variety of

sources, including:

(a)

current prices in an active market for properties of a different
nature, condition or location, adjusted to reflect those
differences; and

recent prices of similar properties on less active markets,
with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred
at those prices; and discounted cash flow projections based
on reliable estimates of future cash flows, supported by the
terms of any existing lease and other contracts and (when
possible) by external evidence such as current market rents
for similar properties in the same location and condition, and
using discount rates that reflect current market assessments
of the uncertainty in the amount and timing of the cash flows.

The carrying amount of investment properties at 31 December
2023 was HK$136,716,000 (2022: HK$150,720,000). Further details,
including the key assumptions used for fair value measurement,

are given in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December
2023 was approximately HK$236,684,000 (2022: HK$287,583,000).
Further details are contained in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Fair values of unlisted equity investments

The unlisted equity investments have been valued based on the
quoted price from the relevant institutions, its net asset value
or a market-based valuation technique as detailed in note 41 to
the consolidated financial statements. The valuation requires the
Group to determine the comparable public companies (peers) and
select the price multiple. In addition, the Group makes estimates
about the discount for illiquidity and size differences. The Group
classifies the fair values of these investments as Level 2 or Level
3. The derivative instrument has been valued using Black-Scholes
model with the underlying equity value determined under market
approach. This valuation requires the Group to make estimates
about the underlying equity value, risk-free interest rate, volatilities
and dividends yield.

The fair values of the unlisted investments at 31 December 2023
were HK$295,087,000 (2022: HK$440,814,000). Further details
are included in notes 19, 24 and 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwil))

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets) at
the end of each reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets
are tested for impairment annually and at other times when
such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of
disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions
in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset.
When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-
generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group has one single operating
and reportable segment, which is the provision of medical care,
health care and geriatric care related services and products. All
of the Group's operating results are generated from this single
segment. During the year, 100% (2022: 100%) of the Group's
revenue was generated from customers in Chinese Mainland,
and over 87% (2021: over 78%) the Group’s non-current assets,
excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets, were
located in Chinese Mainland.

Revenue of approximately HK$17,431,000 (2022: HK$37,197,000)
was derived from sales of goods to a single customer, including
sales to a group of entities which are known to be under common
control with that customer.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS/ 5. KA - Efblt AR (BIE)F
(LOSSES), NET H
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WAZ AT
2023 2022
—EB-=fF —ECCF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHZWA 140,346 166,484
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEFEHZIBA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information () A B
For the year ended 31 December BE+-A=1+—HLEE
2023 2022
—ZE=-= —E-F
Total Total
st HET
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET BT
Type of goods or services RERBRBERE S
Sale of goods HEEmM 128,620 157,854
Rendering of services RULARTS 11,726 8,630
Total wmEt 140,346 166,484
Geographical market &S
Chinese Mainland R B A i, 140,346 166,484
Total #ast 140,346 166,484

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period and recognised from performance

obligations satisfied in previous periods:

TRIFAARE PR BN RS
MO AGHABLICBENHCE
TRABEEERNRASHE

2023 2022
—E-= —TCF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Revenue recognised that was included in WEBTFASNAESN
contract liabilities at the beginning of the [mETECLON
reporting period 41,676 36,325
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5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS/ 5. WA - Atk ARKE (BB F
(LOSSES), NET (continued) BH(#8)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REFZFEHNZWA(E)
(i) Performance obligations (i)  EHIEML
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is FEREERENETNERBER
summarised below: K
Sale of goods HEEn
The performance obligation is satisfied upon the completion BHEATIRNE LR TEXEEN R
of installation of goods and payment is generally due within —MRZ 308 E0HE AR EE T -
30 to 90 days from delivery, except for new customers, where T P — M ZBERN A H FRIE o
a partial payment in advance is normally required.
Rendering of services TEHIRTS
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services [BAE EPE IR IR T B REERK - K
are rendered and payment is generally due upon completion TH— MR AR S BT A5 12 B H -
of the service period.
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining R+ZA=+—0 SEEHRTEL
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) EECREXRIHMBA REX)NR 5B
as at 31 December are as follows: BEREMT
2023 2022
—EC=F - —
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT T
Amounts expected to be recognised as TEHRRAWMAZ &5 -
revenue:
Within one year —FR 155,165 164,696
After one year —F1& 4,364 3,568
Total @t 159,529 168,264

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations which are expected to be
recognised as revenue after one year relate to sales of goods
and warranty services included in sale contracts, of which the
performance obligations are to be satisfied within 2 to 15
years. All the other amount of transaction prices allocated
to the remaining performance obligations are expected to
be recognised as revenue within one year. The amounts
disclosed above do not include variable consideration which
is constrained.

TREHRTROEENRZERER
BEEK R —FRERSUA - HE5
AHEANZEMHE MRERBEHR
B HBABEER2E15SFAER °
MENEEZEHRTROEENEMLRZ S
BEREHEADRER —FARR /WK
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BRI EEAE o
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represented subsidies of HK$1,671,000 (2022: HK$222,000) received from
certain governmental authorities in Chinese Mainland for the Group's
businesses operation, where there are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies relating to these grants.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS/ 5. WA - Htblg A RWE (F5E)F
(LOSSES), NET (continued) BH(#8)
2023 2022
—E=-= - —
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=g FTER FET
Other income H A
Bank interest income HRITHBHA 3,744 1,674
Other interest income HA A SHA 11,863 12,758
Investment income of debt investment at KB SR E M 2 E
fair value through other comprehensive ARFESER B
income FERILEWA 106 1,561
Investment income of equity investments at K BB BEAM 2 E R
fair value through other comprehensive LARFETIRR 2
income ®E E’J&ﬁ%)\ 3,077 5,397
Investment income of financial asset at fair 2R B #EiA1Bzm A A FET
value through profit or loss BEZiwﬂﬁFﬁ']&ﬁ
WA 3,261 4,663
Gross rental income from investment REMELLEHEZEE
property operating leases Nt 8,282 7,260
Other rental income Hipi e A 5,218 5,179
Dividend income A& B A 1,057 1,450
Government subsidies (Note) BT B (BI5E) 1,671 222
Others Hits 526 1,557
Total other income Rl Nt 38,805 41,721
Gains/(losses), net W (EE)FE
Fair value losses on investment properties, & &Y 2 R FEEE
net JRER 14 (12,153) (4,879)
Fair value losses on financial assets at fair Bl AT AT R
value through profit or loss Zi\mﬁﬁﬁz N FE
}Eﬁ% (565) (6,972)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of associates Hjﬁ FENAZ
B W5 (380) 585
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries Hj’%W%ATZHﬁZ = 50
Gain on deconsolidation of a subsidiary —RHB AR T BRE
ABR 2 Wz 34 - 63
(Loss)/gain on disposal of items of HEME - BB L& 1%
property, plant and equipment BE 2 (B8) W (71) 548
Gain on disposal of equity investment at ﬁﬁf_iﬂﬁﬁﬁiﬁqimb{
fair value through other comprehensive DFEFIRZ S E
income 2z - 1,373
Gain on redemption of debt investment at  f& Bl @ E th 2 E Rz A
fair value through other comprehensive DHEIIR EERE
income 2 Was = 4,375
Reversal of impairment on investments in E’\H’u‘fi%i\\ RIZ IRERIER
associates, net [Bl5758 1,211 -
Foreign exchange differences, net ME 3, R 9,237 -
Total gains/(losses), net @ ss/(ER)F58 (2,721) (4,857)
Total other income and gains/(losses), net  HAUW A KUz (E518)
{BER AR 36,084 36,864
Note: The government subsidies during the year ended 31 December 2023 Mz BE—_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—BHI-FEEKF

e P BN E T BUT E B R B
1,671,000/ 7 (=& = =4 © 222,000/ 70) 1E
AEEEBEE  TEAZSHULEHENR
BATIE MR AEE -
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6. LOSS BEFORE TAX 6. KBRBIAIEE
The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): RNEBE 2 RBATE B (GTA) T HIE
IBIEIGH
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
b FHET FAET
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERAR 94,929 115,404
Cost of services provided R 6,943 4,568
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BB RRETE
equipment 13 4,561 5,154
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 15(a) 19,650 20,853
Foreign exchange differences, net ME 3, FEF A (9,237) 18,021*
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of REFE R A 2R E CRE
investments in associates, net* B[, EFEE* (1,211)* 817%*
Lease payments not included in the KRt AHEAGETHEZ
measurement of lease liabilities FERH 15(c) 1,510 1,724
Auditor’s remuneration ZEREM B & 1,240 1,650
Employee benefit expense (excluding RERARAZ(TEIE
directors’ and chief executive's BEERTETHRAER
remuneration (note 8)): B (FIRE8))
Wages and salaries I&ERFH® 32,574 34,847
Pension scheme contributions (defined BIRSETEHER (TR
contribution schemes)** HRETE])** 7,420 8,535
Total et 39,994 43,382
Impairment loss on financial assets, net: S REEREREFE
Impairment of trade receivables, net*** JEWE ZERFORE
D= hakakd 22 998 3,740
Impairment of prepayments, other TERTRIE - AfhfE
receivables and other assets, net*** WorIE kBB E
B ER 23 14,165 6,369
Total st 15,163 10,109

*

These items are included in "Other income and gains/(losses), net” in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

ad At 31 December 2023, the Group had no forfeited contributions available
to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future years (2022:

nil).

These items are included in “"other expenses and losses” in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

*k

FZEHAAGaRE R EMEERERA
B E A R e (B518)F5 ] -

R-TBE-_=F+-_A=+—8  AEEYE
BRI A R D R R FERRKREET

BER( =T —F - ) -

ZERAAGARERAMEEKERA
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Notes to Financial Statements ® 81 73 2% M 5
Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. RERK

2023 2022
—ZE—-= —E-F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M5 FHET BT
Interest on bank borrowings RITBIZFIE 98 864
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEMNE 15(b) 278 578
Total 4BEt 376 1,442

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERIETHAEME

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and the chief executive's remuneration for the year,

disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”),
section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information

about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

RFEEESEERETETHABZMERES
BEAZZRARARNES TR £H
AN - BB R RUEHIZE383(1) @) * (b) * (o)
g ARAR(EBEEEFZZER) R
FE2IWRET ¢

2023 2022

—E-=fF TEC

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT T

Fees e 660 693

Other emoluments: Emile -

Salaries, other allowances and benefits #Fre  HitWEB R EWEF)

in kind 4,899 4,839

Performance related bonuses FRIRMEREIEA 763 -

Pension scheme contributions RIRESET B 169 175

Subtotal /NNt 5,831 5,014

Total @5t 6,491 5,707

BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1t Z{2E (38R) 5R A R



Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

8. DIRECTOR’S AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERFIEMTHAEME(HE)
REMUNERATION (continued)
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIAFFTEE
Total
Fees remuneration
e & 48t
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT
2023 —EB-=F
Independent non-executive directors: BIYEHITES
Mr. Zhang Yun Zhou SRIAEE S 60 60
Mr. Wu Yong Xin ROoKFR & 60 60
Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith I E 60 60
Mr. Gary Zhao FEMI ST A 60 60
Mr. Robert Winslow Koepp FRfLESE 60 60
300 300
2022 —E-—F
Independent non-executive directors: BIYKHITES :
Mr. Zhang Yun Zhou SRIBE S 60 60
Mr. Wu Yong Xin ROKFRSAE 60 60
Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith Eiip S 60 60
Mr. Gary Zhao i1 pyetass 60 60
Mr. Robert Winslow Koepp RABEE 60 60
300 300
There were no other emoluments payable to the REAREENBIFNITESHE
independent non-executive directors during the year (2022: NS (ZE——F : E) o
nil).
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 753k < fI5T

Year ended 31 December 2023 &

-

SE+ZAS+—BILEE

8. DIRECTOR'S AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERIETHAEME(E)
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors and chief executive (b) BITEERFEITHAE
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
E2 e A= 11 Bife
ne RENER REEBTAL FTEIfR Medst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEn TET TEr TEr
2023 —BC-=F
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Wang Zheng FTIEERAE
Chun 60 - - - 60
Mr. Zhu Shi Xing RAEEE 60 2,227 382 133 2,802
Mr. Gu Shan Chao BEBLE 60 1,820 381 18 2,279
Mr. Liu Xue Heng* EE by 60 852 - 18 930
Mr. Hu Shiang Chi EEABL T A 60 - - - 60
Mr. Siu Kin Wai FERELE 60 - - - 60
Total e 360 4,899 763 169 6,191
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Year ended 31 December 2023 &

8.

BT =FF+A=+—HLFE

DIRECTOR’S AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors and chief executive (continued)

8. EERFIEMTHAEME(HE)
(b) BITEEREFERITHAS(E)

Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions  remuneration
Eo = Rk
ik REWEF  REEBIEL BEEA et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TET TET THET TR
2022 —E-CF
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Wang Zheng FTIEERAE
Chun 60 - - - 60
Mr. Zhang Jing Ming RRATE 33 - - - 33
Mr. Zhu Shi Xing RAEEE 60 2,205 - 139 2,404
Mr. Gu Shan Chao BEBRLE 60 1,782 - 18 1,860
Mr. Liu Xue Heng* e by 60 852 - 18 930
Mr. Hu Shiang Chi EEAB T A 60 - - - 60
Mr. Siu Kin Wai BREEELE 60 - - - 60
Total Feby 393 4,839 - 175 5,407

*

Mr. Liu Xue Heng).

There was no arrangement under which a director or chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration

during the year.

Mr. Liu Xue Heng is the chief executive officer of the Group (2022:

* BlBEEERAEBRTHREK(ZZ
T BIBEERE) -

FAMBEEHATBTRABRNER

R BRI E 2 28 (RN
FEO)Z TP ©
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. IERSHFEER
The five highest paid employees during the year included three FRNIEERTREERE=428E%F (=%
directors (2022: three directors), details of whose remuneration TR ZREE) BFEMEZHBER
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the EXHFS - RFABTMERSFHES
year of the remaining two (2022: two) highest paid employees who TECCF mB)(WFERRAREERE
are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as ETBAB) ZH&FENT
follows:
2023 2022
—ZE-= T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBxT BT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EUREVEH 1,848 2,000
Performance related bonuses FIRABRTEAL 55 159
Pension scheme contributions RIREBFT B 148 141
Total 45T 2,051 2,300
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid BT T 5 EE B IEEE R IEE BT
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as BABHZRSHMES ABWT
follows:

Number of employees

BEAH

2023 2022

—ECo=F T F

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £% 1,000,000/ 7T 1 1

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 2 1,500,000 7T 1 1

Total “ast 2 2
During the year, no remunerations were paid by the Group to the FN - EEZXRERET EEMERAREE
directors or the five highest paid employees as an inducement WEERINE - 1EREEEIAREE AN
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of AR B & 00 BB Sk 1 ik RIR AL A FE(E o
office. None of the directors or the five highest paid employees FN - EEZX R LR T EEMENELR

has waived or agreed to waive any remunerations during the year. BEHREEAME -
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Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

10. INCOME TAX

10. Fi8#H

2023 2022
—EgE-= —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FET

Current — PRC corporate income tax BIHR — AR B e PTG
Charge for the year REEZH 3,348 6,726
Overprovision in prior years BT F R - (2,594)
Deferred (note 29) EFE (P 7E29) (10,407) (8,023)
Total 45T (7,059) (3,891)

Hong Kong profits tax

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no Hong Kong profits
tax had been provided as there were no assessable profits arising

in Hong Kong during the year (2022: nil).

PRC corporate income tax

PRC corporate income tax provision in respect of operations in
Chinese Mainland is calculated at the applicable tax rates on
the estimated assessable profits for the year based on prevailing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

BEEFNBH
REE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—HItFE "
AR FERATERESEETMERE ST -
W EREBNERELREE(ZZ =
Fom) o

RS

s B R E M B PRSI RR
THRIBERBIRTED - 2B REOIER
At BRI RS MIRBER TR H -
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

10.

11.

12.

INCOME TAX (continued) 10. FrfE% (&)
A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before tax at FEARNANTIRERSSMEA G M EE
the statutory tax rates for jurisdictions in which the Company and BV EERMRAE RS IEEH Y A
the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax credit at the Hp BIR BT R = > I G > YR
effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates to the AR R R AEERIR Y W
effective tax rate, are as follows:
2023 2022
—EC-=F T F
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
FTHERT FET
Loss before tax PR 18 (68,003) (102,696)
Tax at the statutory tax rates RAEMEFTHE 2 BIA (17,910) 26.3 (25,019) 24.4
Lower tax rate enacted by local — FRZHIEEE H BIEVE
authority T (311) 0.5 (289) 0.3
Adjustments in respect of current 7 B8i@ 1% HAfH BV ERRL 18
tax of previous periods RS - - (2,594) 2.5
Profits and losses attributable to & & Q&) KH & A 7
joint ventures and associates (L 2 5m T R 1B 3,449 (5.1) 10,303 (10.0)
Expenses not deductible for tax ~ NaEJFFE 2 F X 7,933 (11.7) 2,356 (2.3)
Income not subject to tax AR Z WA (6,073) 8.9 (2,012) 2.0
Tax losses utilised from previous @I ERfE 2 EBETIE
periods 518 (302) 0.4 (182) 0.2
Tax losses not recognised RIER T IEEIE 6,157 (9.1) 13,546 (13.2)
Tax credit at the Group's RASEERBEAE
effective rate MR (7,057) 10.4 (3,891) 3.8
The share of tax expense to joint ventures and associates SERNAIRBE QA h 2 MIBER X &
amounting to HK$1,225,000 (2022 tax credit: HK$2,932,000) is 12250008 L (ZE - FHIEHR R -
included in “Share of profits and losses of joint ventures and 2,932,000/ 70) Bt A bR e i8am R EMEE
associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and Wk [ niha e R r RiEE R 2 mF
other comprehensive income. K8 JIEA -
DIVIDEND 1. BRE
The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for EFUWARERFARNEMBRE(ZF
the year (2022: nil). T ).
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 12.

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on
the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent of approximately HK$61,882,000 (2022: HK$97,696,000), and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 6,058,772,027
(2022: 6,069,935,709) in issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1t Z{2E (38R) SR A 7
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B f&3 = M5
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. V¥ - MERRE

Leasehold Furnitire ~ Computer Motor  Construction
Buildings improvements  and fixtures  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
BF HENEEE  BARXE ERRfG hat:3 ERIR it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TR TR TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn
31 December 2023 ZE-EETZA=t-8
At 1 January 2023 R=E-=%-A-A
Cost KA 41,148 31,396 4,013 6,284 6,341 18,369 107,551
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTERAE
and impairment (11,752) (20,276) (2,997) (5,404) (4,356) - (44,785)
Net carrying amount REFE 29,396 11,120 1,016 880 1,985 18,369 62,766
At 1 January 2023, net of RIZZZ5-A-A"
accumulated depreciation TR EHAERAE
and impairment 29,396 11,120 1,016 880 1,985 18,369 62,766
Additions RNE - 750 226 396 - - 1,372
Disposals e (1,205) = (34) (28) = = (1,267)
Depreciation provided during AT &R (Mfzt6)
the year (note 6) (2,052) (1,275) (254) (325) (655) - (4,561)
Transfer % 1,195 = = = = (1,195) =
Exchange realignment 3 (404) (154) (14) (12) (25) (255) (864)
At31December 2023, netof ~ MZEZ=%
accumulated depreciation TZR=+-8"
and impairment NGB RATERRE 26,930 10,441 940 911 1,305 16,919 57,446
At 31 December 2023: A ——
tZR=t-R:
Cost A 40,364 31,695 3,734 6,065 6,250 16,919 105,027
Accumulated depreciation ZitERNE
and impairment (13,434) (21,254) (2,794) (5,154) (4,945) - (47,581)
Net carrying amount FRE 26,930 10,441 940 911 1,305 16,919 57,446

o
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Notes to Financial Statements ® 81 #E XM 5T
Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 13. Y% - MERZREE)

Leasehold Fumiture Computer Motor  Construction
Buildings  improvements andfixtures  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
By HENEEE  GAREE BB E RIR ft

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
ThL TERL AL AL TEx ThL TR

31 December 2022 ZEICEFCASTA
At 1 January 2022 AZTZZE-A-H
Cost A 57,858 33,901 5489 6,345 6928 20,069 130,590
Accumulated depreciation ZiMERAE
and impairment (11,904) (20,547) (3,864) (5,909) (3772) - (4599)
Net carrying amount REFE 45,954 13,354 1,625 436 3,15 20,069 84,594

At 1 January 2022, net of RZZZZ5-A-A"
accumulated depreciation M ZErERAE

and impairment 45954 13,354 1,625 436 315 20,069 84,594
Additions AE - 391 - 755 - - 1,146
Transfer to investment property ERTRENE

(note 14) (MiEE14) (11,190 - - - - - (1,190)
Disposals e - - 53 9 - - 62)
Depreciation provided during AT &R (Mzt6)

the year (note 6) (1.999) (1,538) (441) (239 (941) - (5,154)
Exchange realignment BiHAE (3373 (1,087) (115) (63) (230 (1,700 (6,568)

At 31 December 2022, netof ~ MZEZZ
accumulated depreciation TZA=+-8"

and impairment NREHERAE 29,3% 1120 1,016 880 1,985 18,369 62,766
At 31 December 2022: s
TZA=t-R:
Cost A 41,148 31,3% 4013 6,284 6,341 18,369 107,551
Accumulated depreciation ZHTERAE
and impairment (11,752 (20,276) (2,997) (5,404 (4,356) - (44.785)
Net carrying amount FRE 2939 11,120 1016 880 1985 18,369 62766
At 31 December 2022, HK$14,176,000 was pledged to secure RZZE-=_F+=A=+—H - 14,176,000
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 28). BILEERERE TAEEN —RRITRE

ZER(FIRE28) -
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. REY=

2023 2022

—EZ=F - F

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

k=g FTER T

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZREE 150,720 138,317

Additions NE = 15,734

Transfer from owner-occupied property ERAmE NMEAME 13 = 11,190
Revaluation gain on transfer from property, BYE - BE LR EE
plant and equipment to investment BEREME %

property Wz = 2,446

Net loss from a fair value adjustment NEERAEFEE 5 (12,153) (4,879)

Exchange realignment PE W R (1,851) (12,088)

Carrying amount at 31 December W+=ZA=+—8z2
FREE 136,716 150,720

The Group's investment properties consist of commercial
properties in Hong Kong, Shanghai and Beijing, the PRC. The
directors of the Company have determined that all of the Group's
investment properties are commercial properties, based on the
nature, characteristics and risks of the properties. The Group's
investment properties were revalued on 31 December 2023 based
on valuations performed by Greater China Appraisal Limited, an
independent professionally qualified appraiser, at HK$136,716,000.
Each year, the Group’s management decides to appoint which
external appraiser to be responsible for the external valuations
of the Group's properties. Selection criterias include market
knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional
standards are maintained.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are included in
note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December 2022, investment properties with carrying amount
of HK$21,269,000 was pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 28).

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties are
included on page 196.

Fair value hierarchy

As at 31 December 2023, all of the Group's investment properties
(2022: all) were categorised within Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
(2022: nil).

AEBEZIREMEBBUNTEEE - L8
KAtz EREE - REBEMEZNHE - B
R - ARREFEEARBEMAREY
EREAYE -  REBEBUEX 2 AERMGE
EEEFERRARETZMEE  FAEEZ
BREWMER _T_=—F+_A=+—HEfH
73136,716,000/8 7T - AEBEEREFFR
EIMNEMERZAE  WEREEBEAEH
WEZ NG - BUBIRITBIET ISR -
BE  BUMNEDERFERKE -

REMEDRBEEHELETE=07"F
MRE—THBABENRA VB RRME
15°

R_E-_—_F+-A=+—8 LKEEA
21,269,000/8 7L 2 18 B W B EIRIE AR

SEREZ —RIRITAVE 2 AR (FF7RE28) -
AEBNREMEZE— FFIBHNE196
H o

DFEER

R-_FE_=F+_A=1—8 XKEMHE
?”é%%(fjffi ) I R RF
BEERE=MR

FRN - B-RRE_GEBEERFAET

E0E AMENRE-fFEAREL (=2
TTF ) e
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14.

SR it

=FT A=t HLFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Below is the valuation techniques used and the key inputs to the
valuation of investment properties:

14.

BEY=(H)

DFEBRE)
TRARENEMBEESEREEEES
N

Valuation Significant unobservable
technique input Range or weighted average
hEs % BATABEBAE EE D MEFS
2023 2022
—EC-=fF “To—F
Commercial properties Income approach Estimated rental value RMB66.9 RMB74.5
[GLEE/ES W% (per sq.m. per month) AR#66.97T AR#7457
e BEEAGTIK)
Capitalisation rate 7.25% 7.00%
B &
Comparison approach  Estimated unit price (per sg.m.) RMB23,500 RMB22,100
HBOA that BRI ER(BFK) AR¥23,5007T AR#22,1007T

Income approach measures the fair value of the investment
properties by capitalising rental receivables during the term of
the tenancies at appropriate yield (capitalisation rate) with due
allowances for the reversionary value upon expiry of tenancies.

A significant increase (decrease) in the rental value in isolation
would result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of
the investment properties. A significant increase (decrease) in the
adjustment to the capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a
significant decrease (increase) in the fair value of the investment
properties.

Comparison approach measures the fair value of the investment
properties by making comparison based on prices realised or
market prices of comparable properties. Comparable properties
of similar size, character and location are analysed and carefully
weighted against all the respective advantages and disadvantages
of the properties. Adjustments in prices of the comparable
properties are then made to account for the identified differences
between such properties and the properties in the relevant factors.

A significant increase (decrease) in an estimated unit price in
isolation would result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair
value of the investment properties.

BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1t Z{2E (38R) SR A 7
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 2 —E-=F+-_A=1+—HILFE

15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various land use rights and
buildings used in its operations. Lump sum payments were made
upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners with lease
periods of 47 to 51 years, and no ongoing payments will be made
under the terms of these land leases. Leases of buildings generally
have lease terms between 3 month and 3 years.

(a)  Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and
the movements during the year are as follows:

15.

HE

AEBERAEA
$%E%%%%E%%Eiﬂﬁ%%&%$
FIEMHEASY - BIEEEL — MM FIAR
%zﬁ%ﬁgimvﬂ%n¥uim¢
BIRBZE T HHRENER BT #ES
MMERZIE - EFMHEE—BNT=EAZ
=

() RAREE
R B A PR A R R (8
BT

Leasehold

land Buildings Total

HELH BF @gt

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHL FHT FAT

As at 1 January 2022 RZZE-—F—A—H 460,757 9316 470,073

Additions NE - 2,216 2,216

Depreciation charge HERX (15,325) (5,528) (20,853)

Exchange realignment (ERTIEREES (38,440) (536) (38,976)
As at 31 December 2022 and RZZTZZF+=A

1 January 2023 =t+—HRZZEZ=F

—HA—H 406,992 5,468 412,460

Additions NE - 4,186 4,186

Depreciation charge ERY (14,587) (5,063) (19,650)

Exchange realignment BRI (5,697) (50) (5,747)
As at 31 December 2023 ZE-=F+A

_‘|‘ H 386,708 4,541 391,249

[
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

15. LEASES (continued) 15. HE (@)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBERAHEA (HE)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements AEEFANEESENREENIE
during the year are as follows: N
2023 2022
—E=-= T F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FET
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEREE 6,999 11,675
New leases e 4,186 2,216
Accretion of interest recognised during the  FRE MERF S 1518
year (note 7) (BHH5%7) 278 578
Payments (DE: (6,506) (6,771)
Exchange realignment PE 3% (64) (699)
Carrying amount at 31 December RTZA=+—HZKHEE 4,893 6,999
Analysed into: IR -
Current portion mBNER S 3,143 4,744
Non-current portion MBS 1,750 2,255
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note HEBBNIMS N NEE P HBRE
42 to the consolidated financial statements. PisEA24 55 -
The Group applied the practical expedient to all eligible REEGAITEEREZERARBE
COVID-19-related rent concessions granted by the lessors T _F+-A=t+—HULEFELH
during the year ended 31 December 2022. AR LB PIE & E 1% ECOVID-1948
AR FEEE o

142 BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1t =B (ZR) BR AT



Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

15. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c)

(d)

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases
are as follows:

15. HE (&)

REBEREBEA (HF)
() REZTERNEEMREFRLT

2023 2022
—E|== T F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k3 FTET FHT
Interest on lease liabilities HEEAEMS 7 278 578
Depreciation charge of right-of-use CRAEEENERX
assets 6 19,650 20,853
Expense relating to short-term leases ~ ER%2HATHE K f#h T FAHA
and other leases with remaining lease A+ A=+—Hs=k
terms ended on or before ZRlfEme A E
31 December (included in selling BREMRAY (GTAES
and administrative expenses) RITEFAY) 6 1,510 1,724
Expense relating to leases of HEEEEERE
low-valued assets (included in BREMNAY
administrative expenses) (FrAFTHAI) 65 223
Total amount recognised in PRIEm R4
profit or loss 21,503 23,378
The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 35(c) to (d) FEBRSRHBENGREMIEREMN

the consolidated financial statements.

FE35(C)#EE o
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15. LEASES (continued) 15. HAE(&E)
The Group as a lessor AEBEREEA
The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) consisting of AEBEREGCEHETHEHAE S TEEE
commercial properties under operating lease arrangements. The MERNREME (M 14) - ZFHEENIK
terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay security R—MRELMEP L AERES - WREEH
deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments. Rental income EHES T - FAREERROESIA
recognised by the Group during the year was HK$13,500,000 (2022: #313,500,0007% 7T (T = —4F : 12,439,000
HK$12,439,000), details of which are included in note 5 to the BIL) - BREFIEENRE S ERERMFES ©
consolidated financial statements.
At the end of the reporting period, the undiscounted lease REEHR - BB HEEEEHE A%
payments receivable by the Group in future periods under non- Bz W HTE PR ARRIRESTIANT
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:
2023 2022
—E=-= - —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Within one year —FR 4,103 6,036
After one year but within two years —FREMFA 4,155 3,210
After two years but within three years MERE=FR 4,267 -
After three years but within four years =FRANFR 4,395 -
After two years but within five years WEBBRFA 4,536 -
After five years hFIE 8,892 -
Total mEt 30,348 9,246
16. GOODWILL 16. BHE
2023 2022
—EBI=F —TofF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FBT
At 1 January: R—A—H8:
Cost DN 89,246 89,246
Accumulated impairment ZiHRE (9,267) (9,267)
Net carrying amount at 31 December RTZA=T—H8REFE 79,979 79,979

BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1t Z{2E (38R) 5R A R



Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

16. GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwiill
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated
to the following cash-generating units (“CGU") for impairment
testing:

o Zhi Jian CGU;
o Beijing Spirit CGU;

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each of the CGUs
are as follows:

16. BHE(E)
BB RERE
BREBAHDENEEESRENTHS
BB ([ EAB ) ERERS -
o EBSEABA
o UAFBEHSELBM:

BEREESEERRNSELEMMT

2023 2022
—EgE-= —E-F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FoaE FET FHET
Zhi Jian CGU BREREELEN 0} 62,585 62,585
Beijing Spirit CGU IR EBEBRSELEN (i) 17,394 17,394
79,979 79,979
Notes: iz -

(i) The recoverable amount of the Zhi Jian CGU has been determined by
reference to the fair value less costs of disposal of each relevant business
unit comprising the segment. In assessing the fair value less costs of
disposal of each individual business unit, references were made to the
valuation of the right-of-use assets which approximated to their fair value,
excluding any deferred tax liabilities initially recognised on acquisition
of the relevant business unit. Fair values of the right-of-use assets were
determined based on valuations performed by independent valuer at
year end using direct comparison method, which has used significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as defined in
HKFRS 13).

(ii) The recoverable amount of the Beijing Spirit CGU was determined based
on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior management.
The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 18.50% (2022:
18.50%). The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the Beijing
Spirit CGU beyond the five-year period is 3.00% (2022: 3.00%), which is the
same as expected long-term inflation rate.

BRREELBUNAKESEIIZEMERK
0 ERH) BRI E B E LM A FER B &K
AEE - HESFEREBELNDFERL
ERAR  E2ZRAEXNTFENERES
ENHE  TefERBEEERELRD
IR EEERIARE - RREEED
RFETREBLIHEMNFREAERL
BORETHNBEMET  HefBEARTH
B A BB (ERRBBHMTRELRF3
SRR TEBREIMR) °

(if) IR BERSELEEMNMAIIRE S5 IR
HEAEEAEEY  FREGETERE
BREEEMEZ AFHVBIEEELZ
RERmEBAEE - BemE T8 ATH ML
R AE1850%( =T = —4F : 18.50%) ° /B
REFAFHAUIIMIERBERSELEN
CHEERERRRA30% (T - —F
3.00%) - HETEHR AR KGR o
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16. GOODWILL (continued) 16.

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation for 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022. The following describes
each key assumption on which management has based its cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Growth rates — The growth rates used to extrapolate the cash flows
beyond the five-year period are based on the long-term inflation
rate of the countries where the respective CGUs are located.

e (E)

EENRERE(E)
RZEZ=F+ZRA=+—Ak=ZZT==F
+ZA=+—H  EERAEEREERE
FR% - TSR B S TR SR ER
HAEELRSREBAMBENSBEEER

.
%

BB F — PRI R ARIRHIA - AR
AR ERL

BREF-AIMBEAFHARRSRE 2L
RE - DASRSELBUMERRK 2 &S

17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 17. REEDTMNRE
2023 2022
—EC-=4F -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Share of net assets BIEEEFE 75,458 79,106
Impairment RIE (5,440) (5,440)
Total 4t 70,018 73,666

Particulars of the material joint venture is as follows:

TE2RERRMFBNT

Percentage of

Bt
Particulars Place of
of issued incorporation Ownership Voting Profit  Principal
Name shares held and business interest power sharing  activities
AN RT Rz Ave
A% BT REXBH BERRER REE EBEEN TEXH
1121695 B.C. Ltd. ("BC Ltd") 8,334,928 common Canada 47 47 47 47 4747 Investment holding
shares JIIEYN REER
8,334,928 & @Mk

The above investment is directly held by the Company.

BC Ltd, which is considered a material joint venture of the Group,
is a strategic partner of the Group and its operating subsidiary is
engaged in the property-related operation in British Columbia,
Canada, and is accounted for using the equity method.

BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1t Z{2E (38R) 5R A R
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17.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 17. REEQTNKRE(E)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information
in respect of BC Ltd and its subsidiary adjusted for any differences

TREMBC Lid R EMB QA M 15 E R
B(ERSHABRRZTMEEELARE I

in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the BURA MR ANREERR)

consolidated financial statements:

2023 2022
—E=-= - —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRSFED 157 14
Other current assets Hith e & E 399,933 394,529
Current assets mEBEE 400,090 394,543
Non-current assets IEMENEE 103 119
Total assets BERE 400,193 394,662
Financial liabilities, excluding trade and other & @B E @+ TEIEENE SRR
payables and provisions e B A< R TE LA R A (5,924) (5,789)
Other current liabilities Httnsha s’ (23,503) (14,418)
Current liabilities mBBIE (29,427) (20,207)
Non-current financial liabilities, excluding ERBSRAE  TREENES
trade and other payables and provisions AR EL At FE S TR TE DA R B4 (223,266) (219,269)
Total liabilities BEERE (252,693) (239,476)
Net assets BEFE 147,500 155,186
Reconciliation to the Group's interest in the ~ EIAREBRA LA M H IR
joint venture:
Proportion of the Group's ownership REFHEERELLF 47.47% 47 47%
Carrying amount of the investment REREE 70,018 73,666
2
=
2|
o’
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17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 17. REERARWIRE ()

2023 2022

—ZE—-= —E-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Revenue WA 7,917 8,247

Interest expenses F B (14,766) (35,411)

Tax I8 (1,954) (1,5795)
Losses and total comprehensive losses for FABBREEEBESRE

the year (12,067) (38,568)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information

TERHFFERNNBERNAEEE SRR

of the Group's joint ventures that are not individually material: MEARBT TS E R
2023 2022
—E-=HF T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHER FAT
Share of the joint ventures' loss for the year  E{EFRNA & A AIKEE - (520)

BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED it =B (ZR)ER AT
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

18. REZE QAT Z2RE

2023 2022

—Eo=H —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FBT FHT

Share of net assets (note) Db EEFEE) 64,916 82,225
Goodwill on acquisition W EA 28 314,015 314,015
Subtotal ai5iy 378,931 396,240
Impairment B (250,185) (251,396)
Total Bzt 128,746 144,844

Note: The balance represented the aggregated amount of share of net
identified assets acquired in the transactions without a change in the

status of the investee.

Particulars of the material associates are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/

et - BREEREAYRATARALEZSH T O
W2 Z P B AT A F B AR -

TEMERRFBET

Percentage of
ownership
interest

Particulars of registration and attributable Principal
Name capital business to the Group activities
REE
AR FEiLES
£ A RN E—E Sk EERESL FEER
Beijing Sports and Ordinary shares Cayman Islands/ 25.07  Investment and operation
Entertainment Industry ~ Z % Hong Kong of the sports and
Group Limited HERE &8 entertainment related

("Beijing Sports and

Entertainment”)*
IEREE X LEXEEBR

RANMHEREEE U D

Shanghai Junbo
Textile Co., Ltd.*
(LERSHBmABRAR
or “Shanghai Junbo")
LERROBmAERAR
(TEE%=s])

PRC/Chinese
Mainland
FE B

Registered capital
FEAR A

business
BEMIREREIRE R
ES

20  Property development
and management

MEERNER

#

*

Shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

For identification purposes only

Except for the shareholding in Beijing Sports and Entertainment
which is held by the Company, the shareholdings in other associates
are held through wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

# B An RB 32 P EAR L
* (EXE N

BRI A LR A R RR B
REMB SRR 2 BETEBARRRZEN
BRRIFEE -

£} ANNUAL REPORT 2023 149



150

Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Beijing Sports and Entertainment is a strategic partner of the
Group in the sports and entertainment related business in Chinese
Mainland and Shanghai Junbo is a strategic partner of the Group
in the property-related operation in Shanghai, the PRC.

Beijing Sports and Entertainment and Shanghai Junbo, which are
considered material associates of the Group, are accounted for
using the equity method.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held 353,000,000 ordinary
shares in Beijing Sports and Entertainment which are listed on the
Stock Exchange. As Beijing Sports and Entertainment’s average
share price increased during the year, the Group performed
an impairment assessment and made a reversal of impairment
of approximately HK$4,509,000, being the difference of the
recoverable amount of the investment in Beijing Sports and
Entertainment in exceed of the carrying amount.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information
in respect of Beijing Sports and Entertainment and its subsidiaries
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and reconciled
to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:

18. REFZENTZ2IRE(E)
It REE L AREERPENHEEE X
LB RIS R RS M A ER Y - M1 8BS
RAEER R E G0 R RR
A EBLE -

IERBEX R EBRSE (RERAERZ
FEBENRR]) HERESAAR

R-ZE-_=F+-_A=+—H K&£H
HELREBEXL(ERB R LET)
353,000,000 & @A% - \mRdEREEE b
ZFHREBRERNLF - AEBETRE
g - BEHRE R [21494,509,00078 7T (A
P REE MR E ik B & R H R E
BZEH) °

TREBRIEREES XC K H B R 75
ERBZ (O e BER 2 EAERELH
B WEGEAMBHRRAREEYR)

2023 2022
—E-=HF T F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET
Current assets MENEE 219,947 237,268
Non-current assets, excluding goodwill ERBEE  TRERE 115,258 149,256
Current liabilities mENRIE (141,525) (122,201)
Non-current liabilities FEnRBAE (4,366) (8,716)
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR RS (54,339) (57,229)
Net assets BEFE 134,975 198,378
Net assets, excluding goodwill AEFE  TERERE 134,975 198,378
Reconciliation to the Group's interest in the ~ ZNSEERAEEE QA R MR 2
associate: R
Proportion of the Group's ownership RNEEE 2 BERRELL A 25.07% 25.07%
Group's share of net assets of the associate, AEED(hEE AR EEFE
excluding goodwill TaiEEE - 4,752
Gooduwill on acquisition (less cumulative g 2 BB ORI R FTRIE)
impairment) 46,638 49,556
Carrying amount of the investment REZBREE 46,638 55,124
Fair value of the Group's investment* REENRE 2 A HE 38,124 54,307

BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1t Z{2E (38R) SR A 7
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REtENT2RE(ME)

2023 2022

—ZE=-= T —F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Revenue WA 62,388 68,571
Loss for the year FEEE (55,031) (66,424)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hip 2wzt (EHE) 6,455 (16,501)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FELHEEIBEE (48,577) (82,925)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information
in respect of Shanghai Junbo adjusted for any differences in

TERMAAR LERBNMBEMME (D
IEABOR 2 EMERIENFE - YRS

accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the WsmERNREER)
consolidated financial statements:

2023 2022

—Zg=-= —TF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER T

Current assets MENEE 6,236 10,200

Non-current assets FEMBEE 403,450 454,868

Current liabilities mEAE (57,021) (52,372)

Non-current liabilities FRBEE (135,825) (201,077)

Net assets BAEFE 216,840 211,619
Reconciliation to the Group's interest in the ~ ANEEREEE R AR 2 HER

associate:

Proportion of the Group’s ownership NELE 2 BEARELL B 20% 20%

Carrying amount of the investment W& 7 AREE 43,368 42,324

2023 2022

—E-=F ke Sk =

HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT FET

Revenue WA 20,837 12,527

Loss for the year FEEE (10,125) (31,735)

Total comprehensive loss for the year FELHEELE (10,125) (31,735)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information

TREGEASEERIFFERZBE R R 28

of the Group's associates that are not individually material: BER M
2023 2022
—EZ=F T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FAT
Share of the associates’ loss for the year PMEBE R F) 2 FEEIE (1,471) (1,671)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REBREERATNIREZ
investments in the associates HEREE 30,829 36,476
/-
-
=2 |
el d
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

19. EREME2EWREUAAFESIERZ

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ETREE
2023 2022
—EZ=F T F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Equity investments designated at fair value 8 AFEBEM 2 E AR TE
through other comprehensive income: PRz BRI E
Listed equity investment, at fair value BRATEEH FhERIRE
Sundart Holdings Ltd. FoEEEABR AR 6,459 4,880
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value: RAHEEMIEETRERRE
Laboratory for Advance Medicine Inc. R BRE RN AR QA 5,862 -
Beijing Financial Holdings Group Limited* IRErRREEEERAT 25,354 103,831
Guangzhou Jinfu City Fund (Limited BENeEmEREREESER
Partnership) TE(BRER) = 13,411
Subtotal et 31,216 117,242
Listed fund investments, at fair value BAFEFEN EMESRE
AB FCP | — Global High Yield Portfolio AB FCP | —IRIkm e &

AT RMB H Shares (AREHBO)AT - 15,651
PIMCO GIS Income Fund PIMCO GISzEHEE 2,963 3,063
HSBC Global Investment Funds — Asia ELIRIGEES — M

High Yield Bond AM2 AT USD Shares BABEHAM2 AT USD 3,953 4,496
AB FCP | - Global High Yield Portfolio ABFCP - IR EamE S

AT US Shares (ZERR)AT 19,214 2,137
Barings Global Senior Secured Bond Fund FERSMIBHEEES - 2,798
Radiance Capital Investments Ltd. CEERRERRAA

8.8% 20/23 8.8% 20/23 - 4,477
Allianz Global Investors Fund IR EE 5,307 4,928
Barings GL Senior Secured Bond G USD BEGLERABMESGET 7,621 -

Subtotal /NEF 39,058 37,550
Unlisted fund investments, at fair value BAFEFENFELMEDKE
BE Fortune Diversified Income Fund SP1 S EZ TS E S SP

—Class A —%a5IA 19,396 18,530
BE Fortune Diversified Income Fund SP2 EEES TGS ESSP2

—Class A —H8RIA 73,283 68,535

Subtotal AN 92,679 87,065
Total 1zt 169,412 246,737
Debt investment at fair value through other  FEBH 2 W A A FEFIR

comprehensive income 2 EERE
Listed bond investment, at fair value BRFEFEN EMESRE

US Government Treasury Bonds EEBNEEES 15,614 -

*

For identification purposes only

BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1t Z{2E (38R) 5R A R
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)
The above investments were irrevocably designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income as the Group considers
these investments to be strategic in nature.

During the year, the Group received HK$1,057,000 (2022:
HK$1,450,000) from the listed equity investments held by the
Group at the end of the reporting period.

19. EFBEMEZEKWRUAFEIRZ
SHEE(E)
B E AR MBI IS T AB B E 2
WS AR TEFIER - ERRAEERAZE
WEBMEMMNY -

RER > REBEAREARETERIZTED
R E U E,057,0008 T( —E - =
£ 11,450,000/ 7T) °

20. INVENTORIES 20. 7E
2023 2022
—ECo=F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT
Finished goods SURK i 45,403 45,363
21. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 21. BRERDPYE
2023 2022
—E=H —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET BT
Carrying amount at 1 January W—A—BZEHEE 427,681 467,279
Exchange realignment PE 5 (6,088) (39,598)
Carrying amount at 31 December RTZA=+—RAZKEE 421,593 427,681

Further particulars of the Group's properties under development
are included on page 196.

BEAEEERPMENE—SFHIBTEHIN
F1968 °
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES 22. EWE SR

2023 2022

—ZE-= T —F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET BT

Trade receivables FEUWE SERR 23,678 24,601
Impairment A (6,852) (5,946)
Net carrying amount FREDFE 16,826 18,655

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit period is generally 30 to 90 days. For
major customers, the terms may change in accordance with the
terms of the respective contracts. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the
fact that the Group's trade receivables relate to a large number
of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration
of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

B R P —RATANFIRIN - REEEEIA
EENRBEEFIIEE SN - AEEX
FTEPZEEH KRB E0H - x
BEEPME - HIRATSERIBER A 4 2 IR
MEMES) - BREFPHRERDEER -
ANER B B EL R B IR PR UG IR M R BB E )
BHFIRRSRERETHETERN - RE
BRIEREAEE 2 W E BIRFAKXED
BEPRE  BUESEENEEMNERR -
REE W ESHENE SRFEHRFTA TN
EMmsEMEMZRER - BEE SRR
WAFHE °

RBERR - BREZEFRIEEZAHR
kBB E R DT

2023 2022

B8 —E-F

HK$000 HK$'000

FET BT

Within 3 months =EAR 7,419 5,462
4 to 6 months mEREA 5,183 2,796
7 to 12 months +&=+-@A 3,222 1,800
Over 1 year —FHE 1,002 8,597
Total “ast 16,826 18,655

BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1t Z{2E (38R) 5R A R
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 22. EWWE ZRF (&)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

FEWE 5 R R EE R B EE T

2023 2022

—EB=HF - —F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

At beginning of year RFA] 5,946 2,572
Impairment (note 6) B (FEEs) 998 3,740
Amount written off as uncollectible b6y =R NN e - (36)
Exchange realignment bE 5 AR (92) (330)
At end of year RER 6,852 5,946

The increase in the impairment loss allowance for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was mainly due to the increase in
the impairment loss allowance of HK$998,000 as a result of the
deterioration of ageing profile of trade receivables beyond 12
months with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$7,079,000 as at
31 December 2023.

The increase in the impairment loss allowance for the year ended
31 December 2022 was mainly due to the increase in the aggregate
gross carrying amount of trade receivables aged within 12 months
of HK$14,079,000.

The Company applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss for all trade receivables. To
measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days
past due. The expected credit losses have also incorporated
forward looking information. Generally, trade receivables are
written off if ageing over two years and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

e =F+_A=+—HIFERE
EEBEENEERAR =T _=F+ =4
=+ —HEEm#EE7,079,0005 THHEIE12
B A EWE ZEFERK S - BERE
B 18 B £ 188 01998,000/8 7T °

HE -2 - —F+_A=1+—HILFEHH
EEEEEEINEERRERA128A A
| JE LR 5 Bk TR BR T 4R (B 1S 014,079,000
HBIT

RRABRBEBYEREERFESR (LR
ARY TR RN E ZIRFTE R 2 A EEE)
Fif E e B e B E S B E1a R
- RETERHEEER  BRESEIRD
Ri#HEERRBBEBHRBCETD
B o HHEEBBRITCSARMBILEER - —
BME - AREEEBM N EWE ZIRRT A
WS R TSI TR BRI TR EES) -
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 22, EWE SRR (E)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on TXES R B R RAEE R ERE S
the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix: EREERBRER
As at 31 December 2023 R-BZ=H+=A=+-—H
Ageing
AR
1to3 4to6 7 to 12 Over
months months months 1 year Total
—= mzE +tZ
=@A ANEA +=@EA —FHE HBEr

Impairment of credit ~ EEEARAEEFTH
losses assessed by ZEEBERE
credit risk portfolio
Expected credit loss ~ TEHAEEEIEXR

rate 0.40% 3.73% 14.44% 85.85% 28.94%
Gross carrying amount  428RTAI{E
(HK$'000) (F%&m) 7,449 5,384 3,766 7,079 23,678
Expected credit losses TEHA(EE 518
(HK$'000) (F#&7T) 30 201 544 6,077 6,852
Impairment of credit ~ BEREFHEZEE
losses assessed EERE
individually
Gross carrying amount  AB8REE
(HK$'000) (F#&7T) = = = = =
Expected credit losses TEHA(EE 518
(HK$'000) (F#T) = = = = =
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—_F#+-_A=+—H
Ageing
1t03 4106 7t0 12 Over
months months months 1 year Total
= Lt =
=1&A 7<1& A +=fEA —FUE 5

Impairment of credit  {EEEKRAS T
losses assessed by ZIEEEBERE
credit risk portfolio
Expected creditloss ~ TEEfEEASIER

rate 2.81% 3.19% 10.71% 38.93% 24.17%
Gross carrying amount 428K HE/{&

(HK$'000) (F#&7T) 5,620 2,888 2,016 14,077 24,601
Expected credit losses TEEA(EEE518

(HK$'000) (F%&m) 158 92 216 5,480 5,946

Impairment of credit ~ BEFIEZEE

losses assessed ERRE
individually
Gross carrying amount 2R EIE

(HK$'000) (F#&7T) - - - - -
Expected credit losses TEHAEE/EIE

(HK$'000) (F#&7T) - - - - -
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

23. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 23. ENFE  HEWREREME

OTHER ASSETS 3
2023 2022
—E-=5F T —F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
b FET FAxT
Current: BNES -
Prepayments TRt RIA 35,524 11,849
Loans to third parties MEZHER (a) 178,905 95,897
Deposits and other receivables e M EAMERFRIE (b) 119,521 52,740
333,950 160,486
Impairment allowance TRE B (38,411) (25,446)
Subtotal /NEF 295,539 135,040
Non-current: ERBNE S -
Prepayments TEfTFRIE 9,456 7,897
Loans to third parties ME=ZHER (a) - 102,703
Deposits and other receivables 1B M EAM R GRIE (b) 24,774 87,064
34,230 197,664
Impairment allowance B (22,070) (22,389)
Subtotal aN; 12,160 175,275
Total FEE 307,699 310,315
Notes: BisE
(a) As at 31 December 2023, the Group had three (2022: four) loans to (a) RZZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H &% @
third parties of approximately HK$178,905,000 (2022: approximately BE=(ZEZZF:-M)ERNFE=HE
HK$198,600,000) and allowances for expected credit losses of K #49178,905,000 %8 T (=T = = F :

HK$15,000,000 (2022: HK$15,000,000) was made to the loan provided to
Borrower B. The major terms of the relevant loans to third parties are set

out as follows:

(i) Borrower A is a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability and is wholly-owned by Beijing Financial Investment
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability, and which is owned by the Company
and several individual shareholders in the PRC and Hong Kong, of
which none of the shareholders hold more than 15% shareholding.

Borrower A is principally engaged in (i) licensed investment fund
management in the PRC; (i) private equity investment in Pre-
IPO venture and listed stocks in Hong Kong and the PRC; and (iii)
provision of service in relation to the sports industry through a joint
venture with the China Athletics Association.

As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding loan balance is
HK$23,174,000 (2022: HK$23,508,000) and bearing 4% interest
rate per annum. The loan is unsecured and will be matured on 8

November 2024.

—ZE= )
198,600,000 % 7T ) R TEHE E BB B E
15,000,000/ (ZE ==

© 15,000,000;%

TO) I EERA LR B E KGR - 186 R
E=FERNIBEREIINT

0]

BRARAS—HREBTMKILNSE
RAFE - WH—FEREBRELZEST
i B 32 &) A R 22 & Beijing Financial
Investment Holdings Limited & &
B EBHARRRETHEREES
AANRRLRER - Eh R ERRRS
R B15% -

ERAR EBH R ET BN FFE
BEELEEXY (W HEBRTE
MERARBEENEER EHRERD
LA « R(i)RBRS B BT
WA ERME R EFEIERRY o

R-_ZE-_=F+=-A=+—H  k#
BERE 5231740008 (=%
— % :23,508,000/87T) ¢ FEFIERAE
4% o BERAEIE - R T ZF
+—ANBEH -
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

23. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(a) (continued)

(if) Borrower B is a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability. Borrower B is wholly owned by Mr.
Chan Siu Yeung and is the holding company of AMC Wanhai
Securities Limited which is principally engaged in Types 1, 4, 6
and 9 Regulated Activities governed by the Securities and Futures
Commission in Hong Kong.

As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding loan balance is
HK$50,000,000 (2022: HK$50,000,000) and bearing 5% interest rate
per annum. Personal guarantee is provided by Mr. Chan Siu Yeung
for Borrower B’s performance of its obligations under the relevant
loan agreement. The repayment was overdue since 8 April 2021.

Upon maturity of the loan, Borrower B has settled all the
outstanding interest to the Group except for the repayment of the
principal amount. In June 2021, the Group's legal representatives
issued a demand letter to Borrower B and its guarantor
demanding the settlement of all outstanding loan amount and
default interest. In order to secure the recovery of the loan and
reduce the risk of impairment loss, on 13 December 2021, the
Group filed an application for arbitration proceedings via the
Hong Kong International Arbitration Centre against Borrower B
and its guarantor for breaching the loan agreement. The hearing is
scheduled to be held in July 2024.

(iii) Borrower C is a company established in the PRC with limited
liability and is principally engaged in property development in the
PRC. Borrower C is ultimately owned as to approximately 46.36%
by Mr. Chen Hang, 44.55% by Mr. Guo Zheng Bao and 9.09% by
Radiance Holdings (Group) Company Limited, the shares of which
are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 9993). As at 31
December 2022, the outstanding loan balance was HK$22,389,000
and bearing 4% interest rate per annum. The loan was secured
by corporate guarantee provided by Beijing Zhengshenghe
Investment Management Co., Ltd. The loan was fully settled during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

(iv) Borrower D is a partnership formed in Canada and is principally
engaged in property development in Canada. Borrower D is
ultimately owned by Mr. Yu Lu Ning.

As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding loan balance is
HK$105,731,000 (2022: HK$102,703,000) and bearing 10% interest
rate per annum. Personal guarantee is provided by Mr. Yu Lu Ning
for Borrower D's performance of its obligations under the relevant
loan agreements. The loan is repayable on demand.

The development of the relevant property development project
in Canada was completed in early 2024 and the handover to
customers will be conducted during the first quarter of 2024. It is
expected that the outstanding amount under the loan (including
the corresponding interest) will be repaid by the end of 2024.

(b) Included in the Group's deposits and other receivables as at 31 December
2023 were mainly (i) interest receivables on the aforesaid loans of
HK$74,566,000 (2022: HK$62,156,000); and (ii) consideration receivables
from disposal of a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss held
by the Group of HK$29,718,000 (2022: HK$34,624,000).

BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1t Z{2E (38R) SR A 7

23. ANRKIR - AtBRRERHEtE
E (%)
GERICH)

(a)

(#)

(ii) BRAZ B HEEBEZHS M
AR RE - fERAZBERDE
LEREHER  WABSEFERA
BIMIERAR BREXBUBEBE
FRHEEBERZEQEENE -
4 6ROFBEHFEIES -

NR-ZE_=F+_-A=+—H8 k&
8 B B4 #4 550,000,000 T (= F
Z 4 :50,000,000/87T) © FFRA
5% o OB ERERAZEBITHM
FAERIHEE THRBIREEAER -
EFREZTE-—FNAN\BRESHE -

EREIERE - ERAZERAEEF
EREERDIMIMARERTIE
R-ZB-——F1F  AREAERK
RAERAN L R EER A B ER
B BRBEMAREERRSER
EBHFE - AERKEE
BEEERR  AEER_T_—%F
TZAT=AREBERMEF LR
HETEERAZREERAERER
BhEE PR - REER T =1
FLAET -

iy  ERARAE—FERBEKZIHERA
B EREFENEEHERE - &
HAA R BB E - PAETAE
R&BER(EE)ARA R (KRG
22 £ (RIDASRE © 9993)) 5 BilHE
BH#146.36% ~ 44.55% . 9.09%E =5 -
R-ZE-_—&F+-_A=+—H  KH
BE K4 522,389,00008 7T FF
RAEA% - ERBIEREBEREE
BERARRENEEEREER -
HE-_Z-_=F+-A=+—HLLF
& BERCEYEE -

vy ERAT R—RENEREMAILE
ARLE  TBREMEANEEME
- BERAT REABRELLE
5.

N-TB_=F+-A=+—H8 k&
BE AR A105,731,0008 (==
— =4 :102,703,000/87T) * FF| &
R10% - BEESRERBHRATET
HAMERREE TEBREBAZ
R ERBIREREE -

NANEANHEBEEHESZREED
RZTZNFYTRER R =T
ZNFEE-FREPRNM - HHER
HETIREESE(RIEAEEN L) R
ZETFRER -

RZZZ=F+=ZA=+—8 xEEZS
Ko ELh i MR I 3 BB 4E () bl B ke FE MR
874,566,000 70 (= F = Z4F : 62,156,000
BIT) - RNV EREERFGEBEBZEURAT
B58R 2 & Bh & E R E U (B 29,718,00078 7T
(=== —f : 34,624,000/7T) °
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

23.

24.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 23. ANNIE HttEWRERHME
OTHER ASSETS (continued) E(&)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of other Hih B RE R EEENE BN T -
receivables are as follows:
2023 2022
—EZ=HF T —F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
b FHER FAxT
At beginning of year REA]) 47,835 44,192
Impairment losses VERIEY g 6 14,165 6,369
Exchange realignment PE 5 (1,519) (2,726)
At end of year FR 60,481 47,835
The increase (2022: increase) was due to the increase in credit risk BINZE==F 0 hERE TRER
of certain aged overdue receivables. Ko ien B e FE WO TE /5 & BB g A0 o
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by REREARERE BERABERAGEA
considering the expected credit losses which are estimated by SHTEEEEEBETRED T - BEXT)
applying a loss rate approach. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect IR AR B AT & B R AR B0 TR
the current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, BI(an@EA) -
as appropriate.
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 24. ERBBUQATEIRZEHEE

PROFIT OR LOSS

2023 2022

—EC-=H —E-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

Listed equity investment, at fair vale FERRE  BATE 11,441 10,531
Other unlisted investments, at fair value HIE EMiRE - IRAFE 171,192 235,940
Unlisted fund investment, at fair value FLEMESKRE  BATE - 567
Total =t 182,633 247,038

The other unlisted investments were made with creditworthy
banks in the Chinese Mainland. They were mandatorily classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as their
contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and
interest.

The unlisted fund investments were classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss as they were held for trading.

HipFE EIRE TN B A EE RIFRR
TTHET - WRFIDBRBEBREARNFE
IRz eREE  RA/SESNRESREY
FEEINAERHME -

FELMESRENERBBERARTET
BRZeREE  IHRERFEEREER -
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 25. BERBESEYMUARZRFRT
RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES RERR
2023 2022
—EC=F - —
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Cash and bank balances B e KiRI TR 111,360 168,749
Time deposits EBTER 41,964 24,977
Cash and cash equivalents ReLBSEED 153,324 193,726
At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances RIREIR - NEBUARE(TARKEDE
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB") amounted BB e MIBTT485143,557,0008 (=
to HK$143,557,000 (2022: HK$166,512,000). The RMB is not T F 166,512,000 7T) © AREART]
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under BHERAEMEE - EREHEAHINE
Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and EIRMEO] - AR AERE - EERNIEETIER
Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign E - AREREEERERIEETINERSE
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB TSEHVIRITIG A R R R H A THE
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank RITFRIRRBE ARITERN EEERT
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying BFEGTE o REE R TR E A
periods of between seven days and three months depending on KR &HKENTFLAZE=EANTEEHE
the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest B + Wik B %8 HAE B 7 5KOF) 3 SR AR A
at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances B o RITAMR R X R GIRITASRE A S
and restricted bank balances are deposited with creditworthy B Rk B IEERIFROIRTT
banks with no recent history of default.
TRADE PAYABLES 26. BESERK

26.

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

RERR - BNEZEFRBEER AN
FRECDATINT -

2023 2022

—EC=H B

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

Within 3 months ={EAR 14,914 11,904
Over 3 months ={EAE 14,136 9,841
29,050 21,745

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled on terms of 3 to 6 months.
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27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

27. BEftEENIERETEH

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FosE FHET FAET
Current: BNER -
Contract liabilities aHaE (a) 43,426 56,747
Consideration deposits REZS 36,416 36,942
Other payables o 1~ R IE (b) 32,848 31,817
Accruals g4 3,327 3,537
Subtotal /NE 116,017 129,043
Non-current: FERDER :
Contract liabilities aHaE (a) 4,364 3,568
Other payables H b FE IR 4,875 9,424
Subtotal /NEt 9,239 12,992
Total #Et 125,256 142,035
Notes: MisE -
(a) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (a) AHBEFBNT -
31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
—EB=-= —EoF —Eo—F
+=A=+-—H +=A=+—H —HA—8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FAT
Advances received from customers & FREEAIEG
Sale of goods HEE® 43,426 56,747 68,337
Rendering of services AR 4,364 3,568 3,625
Total 5T 47,790 60,315 71,962
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver EREERREINEmMTKERRE BB TR
goods and long-term advance received to render warranty services. The RE|ERERBAKENRPER - AHAE
decrease in contract liabilities in 2023 and 2022 was mainly due to the RZBZ=FRZTZ_FFEL HEEH
decrease in short-term advances received from customers in relation to REZFPEEEHEEEERNEHBATNE
the sale of goods at the end of each of the years. FEREFTRD
(b) Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of (b) HipfefaaRE - FHEHAE=EA -

three months.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 28. ;HEBITHER
2023 2022
—EC-CE —E-CF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity ~ HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
ERFIZE(%) F8A FET BEAE%) FIE A FEL
Bank loans - secured FOEH-HEE N/ATER N/ATER - 325-330 2023 25,747
N/ATER —E-=fF
Total Bt - 25,747
Notes: fI5E -

(a) The Group's bank loans at 31 December 2022 are secured by mortgages

over a building and investment properties of Group situated in the PRC
with a carrying amount at 31 December 2022 of HK$14,176,000 and

HK$21,269,000 respectively.

(b) As at 31 December 2023, no bank facility was pledged by land use right

included in right-of-use assets (2022: nil).

(o) All of the Group's borrowings were denominated in RMB.

BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1t Z{2E (38R) 5R A R

(a) R-TB-—F+-fF=+—8  KEEET
BRI AP BEO AR EBIET RITE YR
HWR—ZE-_—F+-A=+—HBEEED 7
£14,176,0007 7T % 21,269,000/ 70 ) VEHER °

(b) RZZE-=ZF+-A=+—8  #HERTR
BUGtAEAEEESR 2 T BREEER
(Z2==F )~

(@  AEERAEFAARBE -



29. DEFERRED TAX

Notes to Financial Statements ® B f&3 = M5
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the

year are as follows:

29.

IESER R

BB EREERFRZESHMT

Deferred tax liabilities EEHBEAE
Depreciation
Depreciation  allowance in Fair value
allowance in excess of  adjustments
Fair value excess of relasted  of financial
adjustments related depreciation - assets  Temporary
arising from  Revaluation of depreciation-  property, ~ atfairvalue differences
acquisition of  investment  investment plant and through  arising from
subsidiaries ~ properties  properties  equipment profit or loss  restructuring Total
fEfGEL  EBERN
EEEUE FERERL  HBNE- AVENRZ
WEAFRZ Bfy  HEfFE- NX BE  SREEC  RAEAN
AYEER RENE  RENE kR AVEER ERMER Eh)
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
G4 TEL TEL TEL TEL TAL TEL TEL
AT anuary 22 R 66,465 9215 2047 2% 259 580 859
Deferred tax credited to profit  F T ABRRELHE
or loss during the year 10 (2242 (787) (46d) (112) (1261) (1,615) (6,481)
Exchange differences EREE (5,51) (190) 109 (16) (170 (365) (5273
At31 December 02and  HZFZZF
1 January 203 TZA=T-RR
“Z-=5--A 58,862 8,238 2,112 108 1,163 3,100 74,183
Deferred tax credited to profit - F ;T ABRMELHE
or loss during the year 10 (2,137) (4,242) (1,001) (107) (1,126) (1,539) (10,152)
Exchange differences EXZE (824) (206) 1144 (1) (9) (34) 0
Gross deferred taxliabiliies at  H=F==%
31 December 2023 +tZR=1-A#
EitieaEeE 55,901 3,790 2,855 - 28 1,52 64,101
a
-
L)d
el d
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29. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets

29. EERIE ()
EERIEEE

Impairment of

financial
assets Total
SRIEE
WA HEr
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
b FAT FAT
At 1 January 2022 RZZEZ—F—H—H ~ ~
Deferred tax credited to profit or FRETABRRIELERIE
loss during the year 10 1,542 1,542
Exchange differences ME 3 FE " 61
At 31 December 2022 and R-EBE-_—_F+-_A=+—HRK
1 January 2023 —ZE=F—H—H 1,481 1,481
Deferred tax credited to profit or FAFTABERARLERIE
loss during the year 10 255 255
Exchange differences ME 3 Z5R (23) (23)
Gross deferred tax assets at RZEZ=F+=-A=+—H
31 December 2023 BIRIEI IR B E 4R RE 1,713 1,713

The Group has tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland of ARG (B 7 AR B 3 EE A2 236,684,00078 7T (=
HK$236,684,000 (2022: HK$287,583,000) that will expire in one to T~ — 4 : 287,583,000/ L) 2 FiTEEE
five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. AIE—ZE R FREIHAR R ERT = A o

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the WARFATIEB BRIELERIBEE ¢

following items:

2023 2022

—E=F —T-F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FET

Tax losses HigEs1E 236,684 287,583
Deductible temporary differences AIHRE R 1 ZE 2 34,168 20,987
270,852 308,570

B PA £ T8 B AR & 1 A I 8 FE AR B 4
H - IRFLIA LR B BRI AEE -

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
above items as it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the above items can be utilised.
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29. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 29. EIERIE (1)

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable rate is 5%
or 10% for the Group.

At 31 December 2023, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates established in Chinese
Mainland. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, it is not
probable that these subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates will
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. There were no
temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
in Chinese Mainland for which deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised at 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

REBABLZERN T B AR E B L R
R-TTNF-HA—BRELZ BN
ZEEHREBIH - AEENERLER
5%5%10% ©

MN-ZE-=ZF+-"A=+—H AEFTE
PAEEEFRBEANK LA B AR &
A A) R B N BB TE AN A oK [ B R
HRELEHTE - AAREERE - ENE
NE - BEAE REE QTN BRI
ZEBFNESETK - RZE-_=F+=A1
=+—H - WEAEPE R E R T
BEMEANRFERAECHHABNY
BrESE(ZE-—F 1 ) -

AR B A A BCRR A B S BT S
R o

£} ANNUAL REPORT 2023



166

Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 2 —E-=F+-_A=1+—HILFE

30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. ®A&
Shares g
2023 2022
—E-=HF T F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT TET
Authorised: JERE
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 10,000,000,000/% =i &
HK$0.2 each (2022: 10,000,000,000 028z EBR(ZE 4 :
of HK$0.2 each) 10,000,000,0000% &A% E (&
0.2%7T) 2,000,000 2,000,000
2023 2022
—EC-=HF T F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER T
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRAR
6,058,772,027 ordinary shares of 6,058,772,027 % & HEHE
HK$0.2 each (2022: 6,058,772,027 028z BB (=T ZF
of HK$0.2 each) 6,058,772,027 I B i E (&
0.287T) 1,211,754 1,211,754
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as RABRAZE MM -
follows:
Share
Number of premium
shares in issue  Share capital account Total
BITROEA LN R AT E R st
‘000 shares HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fig FET FHET FET
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—F—H—H 6,078,944 1,215,789 1,771,142 2,986,931
Share repurchased EAER) (20,172) (4,035) 2,115 (1,920)
At 31 December 2022, RZZE-__F+-A=+—-8"
1 January 2023 and —E-=F5-A—-Ak
31 December 2023 —E-=Ff+-A=t—H 6,058,772 1,211,754 1,773,257 2,985,011
As at 31 December 2022, the Company purchased 20,172,000 of its RZZEZZF+ZA=1+—0 KRFRE
shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange at a total consideration VBB 22 FTEE B HL 20,172,000/ i 17 - B (B
of HK$1,920,000 which was paid wholly out of accumulated losses 731,920,000 7T + IREBEE N EEHIE 257
in accordance with section 257 of the Hong Kong Companies BEEUUZFEEXA - ABERMREA
Ordinance. The purchased shares were cancelled during the FHiH - BB IR P T H9 4258 1,920,0007%8
year and the total amount paid for the purchase of the shares TLERARREMRE & AP0

of HK$1,920,000 had been charged to retained profits of the

Company.
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31.

SR it

=FT A=t HLFE

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION SCHEMES

Share option schemes

Effective from 24 May 2013, the Company operated a share
option scheme (the “2013 Scheme”) for the purposes of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group's operations. Eligible participants
of the 2013 Scheme included (i) any employee or proposed
employee (whether full time or part time, including any executive
director but not any non-executive director) of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which
any member of the Group holds any equity interest; (i) any non-
executive director or proposed non-executive director (including
independent non-executive director) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier or potential
supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (iv) any customer or potential customer of the
Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any person or entity that provides
or will provide research, development or other technological
support to the Group or any Invested Entity; (vi) any shareholder
of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder
of any securities issued or proposed to be issued by any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (vii) any adviser (professional
or otherwise) or consultant to any area of business or business
development of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
and (viii) any joint venture partner or business alliance that co-
operates with any member of the Group or any Invested Entity in
any area of business operation or development.

The maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise of the
options which may be granted under the 2013 Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Company to each participant
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit was subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

31.

U3 B E R AR EEE
B E
ARARR-E—=FRA - TEOBAMIRETT
—RERE ([ T —=F5t8l]) - B#
AHAEEEBIFLER A ERZEER

HEEE RO - T - =FHESER2H
EBRE() A A B R EA M E R B S A
SEIMKERRFAEE AR D E
B(REER ] EAEEIRTEER (TH
ERIGE - RREMNTES  BETER
FERITER) (AR A HEEFMB AR

SHAEMFREEBEMIFNTEFTHIREIFHN
TESR(BEBILIIERITES) : (i) I"J$'§
E{ERIK B AR EAIRE B RS IR AT
RS e RIS 2 A ER |v)$§%l
HEMBEEERZERAFFIET, « (E
AEESUE AR E BRI H SR M 6ﬂ?€
PSS H A B SR 2 AR AL EEE

AEBEAIKB AR IEAIREER Zﬂxi
FAREEERKE QR REIRERRDE

TRBEITESZIFBA ¢ (ViR EE ]
BB R BISEIRE BB 2 (I T H Rk
XBEREZEHA(FEREREM) SRR &
(i) EE AR R E(E ] Pk B A RIS EIIRE TS
MRS L ERENBEEAIEZEE AR
o ETGHE R -

RER2EARE - RIE—F—=F515
RARBEAEMERET S RER20E
AR 2 BRENTTERN THIT 2R
MR THEEAERARREHITRA
1% ° (B — F R M B PR &8 2 FE A2
AR R ARG HLE
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31.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION SCHEMES
(continued)

Share option schemes (continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their respective
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent
non-executive directors. In addition, any share options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director,
or to any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the Company'’s shares as at the
date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month
period, were subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
21 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 by the grantee. The exercise period of
the share options granted is determinable by the directors, and
commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date
which is not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the share
options.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company's shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotation sheet on the date of the offer of grant, which
must be a trading day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of
the Company's shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of the offer of the grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company'’s shares.
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31. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION SCHEMES

(continued)
Share option schemes (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements ® B f&3 = M5
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

31. RO HERAHEE(E)

The following share options were outstanding under the 2013

BR8]

FR - ZFE-=FAHEETHARITEZBR

Scheme during the year: W
2023 2022
—E-=F - —

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price  of options price of options

hn#EF hnEFE
TEE BREHE IEE ERERE

HK$ HK$
per share ‘000 per share ‘000
BRET T BEBTT T
At 1 January R—H—H 0.58 258,000 0.58 278,000
Forfeited during the year RER - - 0.57 (20,000)
At 31 December W+=ZA=+—H 0.58 258,000 0.58 258,000

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options

outstanding as the end of the reporting periods are as follows:

2023

Number of options

Exercise price*

RIRE IR RITE B 2 TEE RIT

fFHAGNT -
—E-=F

Exercise period

BRERE TEE* TS

‘000 HKS$ per share

T4 BRET

156,500 0.61 note (a)
FizE(a)

101,500 0.53 note (b)
FizE(b)

258,000
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31. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION SCHEMES
(continued)
Share option schemes (continued)

2022

Number of options

31. RO HERAHEE(E)

BRESTE ()

—E-—F

Exercise price* Exercise period

BEEHRE (B> 17EH
‘000 HK$ per share
9 SRET
156,500 0.61  note (a)
Kt (a)
101,500 note (b)
K5 (o)
258,000
Notes: Pz -
(a) First 30% of the options granted were vested from 2 April 2016, second (a) HI0%E M ERENR-_ZE—RFENAZH

30% of the options granted were vested from 2 April 2017 and remaining
40% of the options granted were vested from 2 April 2018. Upon the lapse
of the vesting period, the share options are exercisable until 1 April 2025.

(b) First 30% of the options granted were vested from 28 January 2017,
second 30% of the options granted were vested from 28 January 2018 and
remaining 40% of the options granted were vested from 28 January 2019.
Upon the lapse of the vesting period, the share options are exercisable
until 27 January 2026.

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the
case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s
share capital.

In respect of the share options granted in prior years, the Group
did not recognise any share option expense during the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 258,000,000
share options outstanding. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure of
the Company, result in the issue of 258,000,000 additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of
HK$51,600,000 and share premium of HK$97,660,000 (before issue
expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 258,000,000 share options outstanding under the Scheme,
which represented approximately 4.6% of the Company's shares in
issue as at that date.
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32. RESERVES

32. f#%E

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 73 to 74 of the
consolidated financial statements.

Share option reserve

Share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options
granted which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in
the accounting policy for share-based payments in note 2.4 to
the consolidated financial statements. The amount will either
be transferred to the share premium account when the related
options are exercised, or transferred to accumulated losses should
the related options expire.

PRC statutory surplus reserve

Subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC are required
to make appropriations to a certain statutory surplus reserve,
namely the reserve funds, from their statutory profit for the year
after offsetting accumulated losses as determined under the
PRC accounting regulations from prior years and before profit
distribution to equity holders. The percentage to be appropriated
to such statutory reserve funds is determined according to the
relevant regulations in the PRC at 10% or at the discretion of the
boards of directors of the respective companies.

Other reserves

Other reserves consist of assets revaluation reserve and capital
reserve. The asset revaluation reserve arose from the change in use
from owner-occupied properties to investment properties carried
at fair value. The capital reserve comprises the Group's share of the
equity-settled share-based payment reserve in an associate and
the reserve arose from the partial disposal of subsidiaries without
loss of control.

AEEZFREBERERAFEBEFE

EaREPHRET -

BRERE

BREFREEREHRTED RELABEREZ
NFHE - R R A M RAR M 2.4 0A B
MREMNRZGFTRER - EITHEABNE
Bt ZEBERERERMEER - K8
PRI - AR EREER -

EE BB
ARARRFEKIH N B R RABHFRE
EMEGRERETEEHEARTENBE
FE R ERE XA A AL
DIRED AETAERSERE(DHED) B
K o BRAKFAE FEES LB IR
ERBARRERIA10%H) L R S R F R AR A
MEFEMBEEE -

Hitb k&
HitFREREEERRBIELNEHE - B
EEGHREREBERYERRER/ER
HEIIRRCIEYE - EARREEASHE
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Nz FERREE D HEMB AR K
EIEHIEZ R
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33. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL 33.
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of Beijing Inland Port International Logistics Development

BREAFERERNID ERH
BAFE
I REERRYRARAR([HES ) RS

Co., Ltd. (“Inland Port"”) are set out below: W
2023 2022
—EB-=F —ToCfF
Percentage of equity interest held by PR FEHE AR 2 P 5 A D ISR
non-controlling interests (%) AOL (%) 17.76% 17.76%
Loss for the year allocated to non-controlling 2Bt 2 IE4E I 2 ) FF S /5 18
interests (HK$'000) (F#&T) (2,258) (3,559)
Accumulated balances of non-controlling Rid A SRR E R A RET 48
interests at the reporting date (HK$'000) (F%&1) 57,915 96,641
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information TRERESNBMAEER - IREENS

of Inland Port. The amounts disclosed are before any inter-
company eliminations:

BANERRRFEIRE A

2023 2022

—ZE=-= —E-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Total other income H g A 42%8 9,377 11,972

Total expenses gt (24,228) (34,256)

Tax credit HIAHE % 2,137 2,242
Loss and total comprehensive loss EBERFANZHEEELRE

for the year (12,714) (20,042)

Current assets MENEE 102,830 257,338

Non-current assets JEREEE 299,618 364,177

Current liabilities mEaE (20,453) (18,639)

Non-current liabilities JEREAaE (55,900) (58,861)

Net cash flows used in operating activities CEEEFTAIR SR FRE (9,575) (22,812)

Net cash flows from investing activities RERBEREMFRE 59,649 21,397

Net cash flow used in financing activities BMEFBMARS TR (123,077) -

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents e MReEEMR T8 (73,003) (1,415)
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—REEBATTBEE AR

RZZEZZFRA  AEERAIEHERE
Z B MBI R X EEMN € = BB e
BEEGERDE(BRER)RIIEHIRE -
HE B ERETE AR BEMEEEEIAA

34. DECONSOLIDATION OF A SUBSIDIARY 34.
In June 2022, the Group lost control over Guangzhou Jinfu City
Fund (limited partnership)* due to the loss of control over its
investment committee and hence it has been accounted for as
an equity investments designated at fair value through other

comprehensive income since then.

FEIRZERREANK

2022
T F
HK$'000
FET
Net assets deconsolidated of: EABiRA ANRNEETE -
Equity investments designated at fair value BERSBEMEARGEARTE
through other comprehensive income iRz I E 75,166
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets TERTFRIE « Hofth R IE R Bt B B 7
Cash and cash equivalents RekRESFED 19,335
Other payables and accruals Ho{th Jle (< FRTE K et B P (25)
Non-controlling interests R = (71,156)
23,327
Exchange fluctuation reserve N (48)
23,279
Gain on deconsolidation of a subsidiary —E B AR T HBERE AR 63
Subtotal /NEt 23,342
Satisfied by: IATFIEER -
Fair value of interests retained by the Group REBRBERZ N FHE 23,342

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in

—HRBARTBREAARNESRREE

respect of the deconsolidation of a subsidiary is as follows: EWFREomaT
2022
S
HK$'000
FHET
Cash and cash equivalents deconsolidated of and net BT E4rE ARNF S MRS EEY

outflow of cash and cash equivalents in k—fHMB AR TEERE ARNRE R

respect of the deconsolidation of a subsidiary ReZEWFR (19,335)
*  For identification purposes only * EHER
-
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 35. KERERERMT

CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) FEIBEEXRSH
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right- RERN - AEBERETOHREZHD
of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$4,186,000 and MEEEREEERBERENIER
HK$4,186,000, respectively, in respect of lease arrangements ® 18 104,186,0007% 7T K2.4,186,0007% 7T
for buildings (2022: HK$2,216,000). (ZZ == :2,216,0007T) °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) RETBELEMEEES
activities
Other payables in relation
Bank borrowings Lease liabilities to financing activities
RITER HEAE ERREEBNAMENTE
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—g-zf C-E--F ZZ-=f CZE-C ZE-=&  CZE-_-fF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fhr TiEn FhR TATL FhEL Fi5n
At 1 January »—A—H 25,747 36,693 6,999 11,675 9,045 9,601
Changes from financing cash flows ~ BIEF&REE (25,551) (8,159) (6,506) 6,771) (4,245) -
New leases nHE - - 4,186 2216 - -
Covid-19-related rent concessions  HCovid-1943#4)
from lessors ERER - - - - - -
Termination of leases RIS = - = - = -
Interest expense MER% 98 - 278 578 - -
Reclassification Epipy: - - - - - -
Effect of foreign exchange rate ExZHTEEH
changes, net (98) (2,787) (64) (699) (100) (556)
At 31 December Wt=R=1+-H - 25,747 4,893 6,999 4,700 9,045
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35.

36.

37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 35. ZEREREKRME(HE)
CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEABSARH
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of FFARESRERMNEEER ML
cash flows is as follows: e
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FAxT
Within operating activities REEHA 2,258 2,662
Within financing activities BEEBA 6,506 6,771
8,764 9,433
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36. HAREE
The Group has contingent liabilities up to RMB28,000,000 REEGE T AL —HBE QR 2R
(equivalent to approximately HK$30,898,000) as a guarantor for BEEAERA BEXABEREZA
the bank facility granted to an associate of the Company (31 R # 28,000,000 7T (48 & 7 #930,898,0007%
December 2022: RMB28,000,000 (equivalent to approximately T ZZE-_—F+_A=+—"H: AR¥
HK$31,344,000)). 28,000,0007T (FHE 7 4731,344,00077T) ) ©
As at 31 December 2023, the associate has utilised bank loans RZBE-_=F+-"A=+—H8 " ZBEQ
of approximately RMB25,003,000 (equivalent to approximately AEBAAAEBRHERNBRITERLY
HK$27,591,000) which is guaranteed by the Group (31 December AR H25,003,0007T (A8E 7 #127,591,0007%8
2022: approximately RMB26,422,000 (equivalent to approximately TN ZZE-_—F+-A=1+—H: HARE
HK$29,578,000)). 26,422,0007T (17 4929,578,000/8 7))
Save as disclosed above, the Group has no significant contingent BEXEBEEN RZE_=ZF+=A4
liabilities as at 31 December 2023 (2022: nil). =t+—H AEETESEAFAEBGE(ZZ
—ZE )
PLEDGE OF ASSETS 37. EEER

Details of the Group's bank loans, which are secured by the assets
of the Group, are included in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

AREZRTESFB(HAREZEER
R BRERE P TS MR M 128 o
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38. COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following contractual commitments at the end

of the reporting period:

SE+ZAS+—BILEE

38. &I

REBENRERREIAT A LA

2023 2022

—E=-= T F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT FET

Land and buildings 48,814 67,984

Properties under development 21,284 22,492

Total 70,098 90,476

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39. BBAXS
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: TEEFEFEEAESMS

2023 2022

—EBC=F - S—

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT FET

Short term employee benefits % HifE B2 A 55 159

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMREWER 1,228 1,228
Total compensation paid to key management [ ZEEIE A B X R4

personnel 1,283 1,387

EREZERIBTBRAEME 2E—FFF
N A P IRRMTRES

Further details of directors’ and chief executive's emoluments are
included in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 40. ZERIE T 2EMTA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RARER - SRR TAEZREEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: N
Financial assets SREE
2023 —EBC-=F
Financial assets
at fair value Financial
through assets at
profit or loss fair value Financial
mandatorily  through other assets at
designated comprehensive amortised
as such income cost Total
@t
EThEBEE ZEBHM2E
NATLESE  WEUATE REHERA
ZEREE JIRCERER EMEREE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THER TR TR
Equity investments at fair value through ~ EBE M Z2ANEAATE
other comprehensive income IR R A - 169,412 - 169,412
Trade receivables JEW B 553 = = 16,826 16,826
Financial assets included in prepayments, &T ATBFUE « EftEUIE
other receivables and other assets REMEE, @RARE - - 262,719 262,719
Debt investment at fair value through ~ EBEM 2 EYWEANTE
other comprehensive income 58k 2 EiERE - 15,614 = 15,614
Financial assets at fair value through BRERARTEIER . 28
profit or loss BE 182,633 - - 182,633
Cash and cash equivalents Re AL ZEY - - 153,324 153,324
Total Bt 182,633 185,026 432,869 800,528
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
RS
FENEREE #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Trade payables FERTE SRR 29,050 29,050
Financial liabilities included in other payables T AHABE FRIE R ETER 2
and accruals EaA =N 37,723 37,723
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEARITIER - -
Lease liabilities HEERE 4,893 4,893
Total st 71,666 71,666
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 40. RER B zEmTA(E)
(continued)
Financial assets EREE
2022 T F

Financial assets

at fair value Financial
through assets at
profit or loss fair value Financial
mandatorily  through other assets at
designated  comprehensive amortised
as such income cost Total
gl

ETREBEE  BBEMEE
UAFESR  WENATE REHNA

ZEREE JRCEREE HENSREE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET FAT THET
Equity investments at fair value through ~ EBREMZAKEALTEE
other comprehensive income SR 2 iR - 246,737 - 246,737
Trade receivables EWE GERT - - 18,655 18,655
Financial assets included in prepayments, &t ATERZIE - EfbEWKFHIE
other receivables and other assets REMEBE SRHEE - - 290,569 290,569
Financial assets at fair value through FBRBRENUATER 28
profit or loss BE 247,038 - - 247,038
Cash and cash equivalents BeRReSEY - - 193,726 193,726
Total Bt 247,038 246,737 502,950 996,725
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
Eize: 511D W
ATENERAE wEt
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAxT
Trade payables FERTE 5 8RR 21,745 21,745
Financial liabilities included in other payables FtAEMEMFIBEREFERZ
and accruals SRAaE 41,241 41,241
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTRIRITIER 25,747 25,747
Lease liabilities HEalE 6,999 6,999
Total mEt 95,732 95,732
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41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

41.

ERMTAZAFERAFERER

AEENERIA(TEEZSEIERD
HEABREE) ZREERDTAESIRN
T~

Carrying amounts Fair values
REE AYE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—ECZF s —EC=F ZTICF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET TERT FAET
Financial assets EREE
Equity investments designated at fair EERBBEMZEE N
value through other comprehensive AVHEIR ERRE
income 169,412 246,737 169,412 246,737
Debt investment at fair value through BREMEEKENATE
other comprehensive income SiR e EHERE 15,614 - 15,614 -
Financial assets at fair value through BRBRAATENE 28
profit or loss BiE 182,633 247,038 182,633 247,038
Total &5t 367,659 493,775 367,659 493,775

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, restricted bank balances, trade receivables, an amount
due from a related party, trade payables, financial assets included
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, financial
liabilities included other payables and accruals and interest-
bearing bank borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the chief financial
officer is responsible for determining the policies and procedures
for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. At each
reporting date, the finance department analyses the movements in
the values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved
by the chief financial officer.

EEECHEREMRSFEY  XRHIR
1Tk - RREZIRK  BIR—BRETT R
- BNE SRR FEATENTOR - HAbRE
WHRIBEREMEENSREE « fTARAME
BN EFERND R B EA KB RTT
fERNAFEREREERS  T2RER
ZET AN HEHRE -

AEEHHHBAERMBEERE  HARR
EERTANRHEAENBERIER - R
smE R WEHAMERTANERE
B WREMREBERANIERAE - BFEH
BEERLMGE -
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 41. ERMIAZAFERAFEER

180

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of listed equity and debt investments are based
on quoted market prices. The fair values of the fund investments
are based on quotations provided by the relevant institutions. The
fair values of derivative instruments are estimated using Black-
Scholes model with the underlying equity value determined under
the market approach. The Black-Scholes model incorporates
various inputs including risk-free interest rate, volatilities and
dividends yield. The fair value of an unlisted equity investment
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
is based on the carrying amounts of monetary assets/liabilities
held by that unlisted equity investment. The fair values of other
unlisted equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income or through profit or loss have been
estimated using a market approach based on assumptions that are
not supported by observable market prices or rates. The valuation
requires the directors of the Company to determine comparable
public companies (peers) based on industry, size and strategy,
and to calculate an appropriate price multiple, such as the price
to book value (“P/B") multiple or price to earning (“P/E"), for
each comparable company identified. The multiple is calculated
by dividing the enterprise value of the comparable company by
an asset measure or by an earning measure, respectively. The
valuation is then discounted for considerations such as lack of
marketability of the target companies based on company-specific
facts and circumstances. The directors of the Company believe that
the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation technique,
which are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position, and the related changes in fair values, which are recorded
in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, are reasonable,
and that they were the most appropriate values at the end of the
reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 753k < fI5T

Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE
41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 41.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative

sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

ERMITECAFERAFEER
(&)
WTARZE-_=FR-_ZE-__F+=-A
—t+—HONE B TEGHUAREERZED

MHEATABRBAEHRE

Significant
Valuation unobservable Sensitivity of fair
technique input Range value to the input
BEARFT
EER BEaAE & AFEHBAEZHEE
Unlisted equity Valuation Average P/S 2023: 6.41556 5% (31 December 2022: 5%) increase/
investments multiples (2022: Average (2022: 7.6433) decrease in multiple would result in
FLEmERRE ERE P/S) multiple of =T =% : 641556 increase/decrease in fair value by
peers (ZE==F: HK$528,000 (2022: HK$588,000)
BES:IRSE 7.6433) BT, THR5%(—“2-—4+=A
THE( 2= =+—B : 5%) 8L FEEM, R
F I TFYmEER) 528,000 (B - Z4 -
fEEK 588,000 7T)
Discount for lack ~ 2023: 26% 1% (2022: 1%) increase/decrease in
of marketability (2022: 34%) discount would result in decrease/
Rz st ZRT=F 1 26% increase in fair value by HK$143,000
g (ZZZZF 0 34%) (2022: HK$178,000)

WELF THRI%(ZBEZZF 1%
EHATER D /1 1143,000/ 7T
(ZZ =% :178,000/7T)
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B f&3 = M5
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 41. SRTRAZAFERLAFEER
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (%)
Fair value hierarchy AR ERER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy TRHAPRERZEMTAZ AT EAEE
of the Group's financial instruments: -
Assets measured at fair value MR FEFEZ BE
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZB-=%+=ZAHA=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ERATBABEZATFEE

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EDN EX
EREMS TRE FAEE
HE BAE BAE
(-9 (B=R) (B=4) @t
HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
TER TER TR TER
Equity investments designated at fair EERBBEMZEEE N
value through other comprehensive AVHEIR ERRE
income 45,517 118,033 5,862 169,412
Debt investment designated at fair value  157E A& BEM 2 E R
through other comprehensive income NFEFIG 2 BRERE 15,614 - - 15,614
Financial assets at fair value through BRBRENUATER, 28
profit or loss BE 11,441 160,047 11,145 182,633
Total st 72,572 278,080 17,007 367,659

E——

—

——
+
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 753k < fI5T

Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Assets measured at fair value (continued)

As at 31 December 2022

41.

SRMIREZAFERAFEER
(%&)

AEEEHR(E)

U FEFES EEE)
RZEZ—F+=-A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ERANTEAEZ A TEFE

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EWN EWN
RS EE G
HE BAE BAE
(B-8) (B=#) (B=8) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TERL TAT TAT
Equity investments designated at fair EERBBEMZEEE N
value through other comprehensive AVHEIR ERRE
income 42,430 190,896 13,411 246,737
Financial assets at fair value through BRBRENUATER, 28
profit or loss BE 10,531 220,739 15,768 247,038
Total &5t 52,961 411,635 29179 493,775
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B f&3 = M5
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 41.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Assets measured at fair value (continued)

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 during

the year are as follows:

(%)
DFEER ()
AR FEFEZEEH)

TRMTAZAVFERAFERER

RER  F=RAFEFENESHNT

2023 2022
—BC=F —To=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Equity investments at fair value through FREMEEEEANFEIRZ
other comprehensive income ERRE
At 1 January n—H—H 13,411 88,073
Total gains recognised in other REMEE R 2 Bl
comprehensive income 5,858 -
Deemed disposal upon deconsolidation of a  —HMiE A BT EERE ABRRR/E
subsidiary HE (13,220) (75,166)
Exchange realignment PE 0 SR (187) 504
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 5,862 13,411
2023 2022
—EB-=HF —EICF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Equity investments at fair value through FRERUATAEYR ERIRE
profit or loss
At 1 January m—H—H 15,768 22,607
Total gains recognised in profit or loss B iR Bl (4,528) (3,927)
Disposal HE - (1,094)
Exchange realignment PE 1 =L (95) (1,818)
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—8 11,145 15,768
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B f&3 = M5
Year ended 31 December 2023 8 & — & —

41.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

SE+ZAS+—BILEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (%)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) N EER(E)

Liabilities for which fair values are
As at 31 December 2023

disclosed FENFEZEE
R-ZB-=%+=ZHA=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ERUATBABEZATFEE

41. SRMIBEZAFERAFEER

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EDN EX
EREHS TRE FAEE
ZHBE BAE BAE
(B-9) (B=&) (=) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TR TER
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FERITER - - - -
As at 31 December 2022 RZZE_—_F+_-_HA=+—81
Fair value measurement using
ERNTRAE A TEHSE
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BX EX
RS HE NABE
8B BAE BAE
(B-4) (B=H) (=) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT AR TAT FET
Interest-bearing bank borrowings RRITER - 25,747 - 25,747
a
-
L)d
el d
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. BIBEREERE 2 BERBX

186

AND POLICIES

The financial assets of the Group mainly include cash and cash
equivalents, restricted bank balances, trade receivables, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income, a
debt investment at fair value through other comprehensive income
and deposits and other receivables, which arise directly from its
operations. Financial liabilities of the Group mainly include trade
payables, other payables and accruals, lease liabilities and interest-
bearing bank borrowings.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk
The Group's businesses are located in the PRC and most of the
transactions are conducted in RMB.

The Group's exposure to foreign exchange risks was primarily
related to bank balances, other receivables, investments in joint
ventures and financial assets denominated in CAD and USD. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
It manages its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the
movements in the foreign currency rates.

BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1t Z{2E (38R) SR A 7
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. BEREECHERBEK(E)

AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in CAD and USD
exchange rates (against HK$), with all other variables held constant,
the Group's loss before tax (due to changes in the fair value of
monetary assets).

SN LR (1)

TR AR SR AR E 2 BB A
RN BT R G870 ) A R RER
R 2 AT ER BT AR 2 8
POBLRYE - AT EAb A R RS T -

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in CAD/USD in loss
rate before tax
i,/ ErxER KRB AT 1R
FHE(B2fE) 2,/ (8d)
% HK$'000
FET
2023 —EZ=H
If the HK$ weakens against the CAD B 7T ATz B 5 (9,003)
If the HK$ strengthens against the CAD fisd 7 7 5 oo FHE (5) 9,003
If the HK$ weakens against the USD BT R E 5 (7,569)
If the HK$ strengthens against the USD W& HETTHHE (5) 7,569
2022 —ToofF
If the HK$ weakens against the CAD i T3 oz E 5 (13,147)
If the HK$ strengthens against the CAD 87T N HHE (5) 13,147
If the HK$ weakens against the USD BT R ETTEE 5 (5,851)
If the HK$ strengthens against the USD /BT H T HE (5) 5,851

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group's policy that receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad
debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets.

ERmR
FERERENGE LRI ER B
TR5 - EARBZRET  EIRHEES
TR EREEE - HARENATER
AR TEA -

EE Rk ERER
TREIRBEAEEEEBRL ERENE
HIER (FRIFE BRI BAMN B S R AL
ZHAAES BEENEEERRTRSAR
BN+ ZA=+—HHFEREEDE - AT
ERNERATRHEENRREE -
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B f&3 = M5
Year ended 31 December 2023 8 & — & —

SE+ZAS+—BILEE

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

42. BEREE B ERBEKGE)

B 1o L B B 5 R P R (4R

R-ZB-_=F+=-HA=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 AR
FEER 2HRBEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E—PER FoRR E= L% st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET TR THER THET
Trade receivables* RN E Z R = = = 23,678 23,678
Financial assets included in SHATERFIE - Efty
prepayments, other receivables  FEWGIE R H &
and other assets EZeREE
- Normal** —EF** 262,719 - - - 262,719
- Doubtful** —TrRE - - 60,481 - 60,481
Cash and cash equivalents RekReSHEY
- Not yet past due — AR 153,324 = = = 153,324
Total et 416,043 - 60,481 23,678 500,202
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Year ended 31 December 2023 8 & — & —

SE+ZAS+—BILEE

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 December 2022

42. BERERERE 2 BERBEK(E)

BeEEEERKER(E)
RNZZE-——F+=-RA=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
121 A T8 5
EEBE T HEHEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
EIER gl 2N E=MR A% st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Trade receivables* e E 2 B0 - - - 24,601 24,601
Financial assets included in SHATERIFUE - Efth
prepayments, other receivables ~ JEWGFIBREME
and other assets EvemEE
- Normal** —IEE* 290,569 - - - 290,569
- Doubtful** — TR - - 47,835 - 47,835
Cash and cash equivalents RBeRkReSEND
— Not yet past due — AR 193,726 - - - 193,726
Total st 484,295 - 47,835 24,601 556,731

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach

for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in
note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

*k

The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other

receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal” when they are

not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets

had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful .

Further qualitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to

credit risk arising from trade receivables and financial assets

included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets

are disclosed in notes 22 and 23 to the consolidated financial

statements.

* LA ER BB A ERENEKE S
R s - EREEEENENNGEE T
HKMTTE22HFE -

= fEETATENRIR - B ERGIR R At E E
ENEERR B VIRERRNE L - BE
BEZBHRAIER] - B8 2WMEEMN
EEARBRRAIFE] -

BRAASBERF ATANFIR - it EKFIE
REMEENRKE SRR R EREEM @
MRH(EE R 2 & — P E(CBUBER GRS
REMFT22 R 23HEFR ©
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Notes to Financial Statements ® Bf F3R&K MI5E
Year ended 31 December 2023 BEZ—T-_=F+=-A=+—HItFE
42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. BBEREERZBERBEKE)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk RENE SRR
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring AEERBAFREEERSESREI TALE
liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its TERRBRHNER  EEIAZEHERT
financial instruments and financial assets and projected cash flows AREmMEEMNIER - REBMSHTEA
from operations. REME °
The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between REEH B RS BIRITETARRRER
continuity of funding and flexibility through bank borrowings and B FHEIE R E RN T o
shareholder.
The maturity profile of the Group's as at the end of the reporting REERARREHRBIZEE AT AR AR
period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as AHEOIHERAT
follows:
2023
—EZ=HF
On demand
or within
1 year 1 to 5 years Total
—£R —EHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FTHExT T FHET
Trade payables FERTE SRR 29,050 = 29,050
Financial liabilities included in other & A ERFIER
payables TRAE 37,723 - 37,723
Lease liabilities HERE 3,253 1,782 5,035
Total #Et 70,026 1,782 71,808
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. BIBEREERE BERBXK(E)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) RENE SR (E)
2022
T —F
On demand
or within
1 year 1to 5years Total
BEK
—F R —ERF wEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET FAT
Trade payables JEE SR 21,745 - 21,745
Financial liabilities included in other &t AE b fE FIEAY
payables EaA =N 41,241 - 41,241
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SHERITER 26,307 - 26,307
Lease liabilities HEaRE 5,451 1,815 7,266
Total 45T 94,744 1,815 96,559
Capital management EXREE

REBETEREENEERBARERE
BIRESTRHERL S IR IR B AL R IAS
HEBERRSBREERAL -

REBRBSCEMRRNES KA EERR
BEYEREEEARBETHEELRAE - A
HEAE Sk AR A AN - REE T B MR
RIRMNHRE - MR ERIREE AN BITHAR
7 o AEEBAEZERINEBERERIRPR o
REBEZTZ=F+=A=+—HRZZE
ToE+ A=+ HILEE  BAEEN
BiZ - BURSUIR P E(E T sk -
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 2 —E-=F+-_A=1+—HILFE

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management (continued)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is interest-
bearing bank borrowings and other divided by total equity. The
Group's policy is to maintain the gearing ratio as low as possible.
The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as

B EREE 2 BERBER ()

EXREE(HE)
AEEFEAEERBLEAIGERRITRE
M ERER AR BERER - AEER
RREEAFRENEERGILE - 8HE
HIRBER B REHIINT ¢

follows:

2023 2022

—E-=5F B

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FET

Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note 28) BRI TRER(MIFE28) - 25,747

Total equity R 1,954,548 2,143,660

Gearing ratio AERMBILE - 1.2%

43. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 43. MEPREH

In January 2024, the Group purchased 2 promissory notes issued RZZE_ME—H  XEBEEES-13

by 813 Carnarvon Street Developments Limited Partnership, a
limited partnership incorporated in Canada, in the amount of
CAD4,280,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$22,972,000); and
CAD3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$16,102,000),
respectively. The promissory notes are repayable on demand with
interest rate of 10% per annum.

Save as disclosed above, there are no significant events
subsequent to 31 December 2023 which may materially affect the
Group's operating and financial performance as of the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements.

BEIJING HEALTH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 1t Z{2E (38R) 5R A R

Carnarvon Street Developments Limited
Partnership (R M2 XM I ERE
BEE)BITH2EANLRE  ESHR
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B 7 FR M5t
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 44. RN TF 2 BEAARRE

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

RAREMREAAR BB HIRRR 2 ER

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: U
2023 2022
—EB-=F - —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Right-of-use assets EREEE 1,067 1,819
Investments in subsidiaries REBREIZIRE 5,143 5,143
Investment in an associate R—REBERNT 2K E 47,907 55,576
Investments in joint ventures REERFZRE 77,379 81,027
Equity investments designated at fair value 1§ AFEBEM 2 E AR TE
through other comprehensive income IRz EmIRE 51,209 127,241
Total non-current assets FERBEELRE 182,705 270,806
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Due from subsidiaries i NI R 1,654,081 1,916,362
Financial assets at fair value through FREBERARNTEIRC SHERE
profit or loss 3,979 7,234
Prepayments, other receivables and other TERTRIE « Efth EYRIE K
assets Hib&E 184,250 1,091
Cash and cash equivalents BeMBEEED 70,139 2,232
Total current assets MEEEMEE 1,912,449 1,926,919
CURRENT LIABILITIES B =R
Other payables and accruals E T ROE K fEET B A 7,647 5,878
Lease liabilities HEBRE 825 722
Total current liabilities PEIR=REE G 8,472 6,600
NET CURRENT ASSETS FEBREFE 1,903,977 1,920,319
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBAE
LIABILITIES 2,086,682 2,191,125
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAE
Lease liabilities HEAE 358 1,226
Total non-current liabilities JEMBENE B 358 1,226
Net assets BEFE 2,086,324 2,189,899
EQUITY ER
Share capital A& 1,211,754 1,211,754
Reserves (note) GG ) 874,570 978,145
Total equity s 2,086,324 2,189,899
o
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Notes to Financial Statements ® B f&3 = M5
Year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE —E-_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

44. RDQTF) 2 HBARIREK(E)

COMPANY (continued)
Note: MHaT -
A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows: RARZ EEHEET
Fair value
reserve
of financial
assets at
fair value
Share Exchange through other
premium  Share option Merger  fluctuation Capital  comprehensive Accumulated
account reserve reserve reserve reserve income losses Total
2EUE
WA FESER
ZEREEN
RiYEER  BRERE ARG EXRDRG ERGE DTERE ZitEiE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TEL TAT TER TET TER TAT TER
Balance 1 January 2022 RIZZZF-R-HzE8 1,771,142 98,514 (200) (10,628) 9,136 (345) (759,817) 1,107,802
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - (116,693) (116,693)
Other comprehensive income/ FRERZERE/(B8)
(loss) for the year:
Share of other comprehensive loss ~ AME—FBE R 2 Ef
of an associate 2EEE - - - (3,395) - - - (3,395)
Share of other comprehensive PE—HEEREZE
income of a joint venture e - - - 1412 - - - 1412
Shares cancelled B #ERG 2115 - - - - - - 2,115
Changes in fair value of equity BEARBAM 2 EEN
investments designated DTESIR BFRE
at fair value through other AFEED
comprehensive income - - - - - (12,330) - (12,330)
Transfer of share option reserve RERER LNAERES
upon the forfeiture or expiry of BERERE
share option - (6,221) - - - - 6,221 -
Total comprehensive loss for the year FE2EEEEE 2,115 (6,221) - (1,983) - (12,330) (110,472 (128,891)
Share of reserves of associates A ERAEE - - - - (766) - - (766)
Balance at 31 December 2022and ~ WZZEZZF+ZA=1-H
1 January 2023 R-BZZE-A-HZ
en 1,773,257 92,293 (200) (12,611) 8,370 (12,675) (870,289) 978,145
Loss for the year FEER = = = = = = (28,221) (28,221)
Other comprehensive loss for FNEMZERE -
the year:
Share of other comprehensive loss A — & AT 2 Eft
of an associate 2HER = o = 112 - - - 12
Share of other comprehensive loss ~ AE—AERTZ &l
of a joint venture 2EFE - - - (892) - - - (892)
Changes in fair value of equity BEARBAM 2 EEN
investments designated DTEFIR BRIRE
at fair value through other ATHERY
comprehensive income - - - - - (76,079) - (76,079)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FE2HEEEEE - - - (780) - (76,079) (28,221) (105,080)
Share of reserves of associates AEBEDFRE - - - - 1,505 = = 1,505
At 31 December 2023 W-Z-=F+-A=1+-H 1,773,257 92,293 (200) (13,391) 9,875 (88,754) (898,510) 874,570
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

MR 2 #E A&
BAPBRRER-_ZE-_NFE=A=-1+N\H
EEEohE NIRRT -

45. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45.

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2024.
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Particulars of Properties

=R

Year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z—ZE - =F+—-_A=+—HILFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REW=
Percentage of interest
Location Use Tenure attributable to the Group
2 B 1 AEEEENREEE L
No. 2518 and No. 2538, Dongchuan Road, Minhang District, Retail and car parking Medium-term lease 100%
Shanghai, China spaces
B A RTTE R 1 3525185% 7125385% TEREEf PEE
No. 2-16, Lane 480 Ruili Road, Minhang District, Shanghai, Retail Medium-term lease 100%
China
P B LBRITTR R85 2-16%E 75 PEEE
No. 1401-1405, 14/F and No. 1701-1702, 17/F, Office Medium-term lease 100%
Building No. 1, No. 3 Boda Road,
Chaoyang District, Beijing, China
PR R B ARA 3N 1 52 1478 140158 E14055% A PEEE
RITE170152 217025%
Unit No. 1902, No. 22 Alley 698 Xin Zhu Road, Residential Medium-term lease 100%
Minhang District, Shanghai, China
P E LBRITTRERMKE98F 23 1902F e PEEE
Unit BT on 11th Floor, NCB Innovation Centre, Office Property for rent 100%
No. 888 Lai Chi Kok Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong
BRENEAN AL REHLBAF T O1ERE WA MESLE
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT EEME
Expected Attributable
Gross  Stage of completion interest of
Location Use Site area floor area  completion date the Group
2 B WEER BEEEE RIRR FHRIAH rEBELES
(sq.m.) (sgq.m.)
(FHxK) (F7%K)
Center District, Haidong, Commercial 275,000 N/A  Property under N/A 60%
Dali, China development
hEABERDOE ki TER  ERDE Gl
No. 1699, Hongmei South Road, ~ Commercial 39,448 N/A  Property under N/A 100%
Minhang District, Shanghai development
ERTRITEEEK1699% i TER  ERDE TEm
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